Court File No. CV-13-10279-00CL

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, ¢.C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PROPOSED PLAN
OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT WITH RESPECT TO
GROWTHWORKS CANADIAN FUND LTD.
(the “APPLICANT”)

BRIEF OF AUTHORITIES OF ALLEN-VANGUARD CORPORATION
(Cross-Motion Re: Allen-Vanguard Mini-Trial, returnable February 11, 2014)

February 5, 2014 LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP
Barristers
Suite 2600
130 Adelaide Street West
Toronto ON MSH 3P5

Ronald G. Slaght, Q.C. (12741A)
Tel: (416) 865-2929

Fax: (416) 865-2862

Email:  rslaght@litigate.com

Eli S. Lederman (47189L)

Tel: (416) 865-3555

Fax: (416) 865-2872

Email: elederman@litigate.com

Ian MacLeod (60511F)

Tel: (416) 865-2895

Fax: (416) 865-3701-

Email:  imacleod@litigate.com

Lawyers for Allen-Vanguard Corporation



TO: THE SERVICE LIST



INDEX
TAB DOCUMENT
1. Kentucky Fried Chicken Canada, a Division of Pepsi-Cola Canada Ltd. v. Scott’s
Food Services Inc., [1998] O.J. No. 4368 (C.A.); Kentucky Fried Chicken Canada, a
Division of Pepsi-Cola Canada Ltd. v. Scott’s Food Services Inc., [1997] O.J. No.
3773 (Gen. Div.)
2. Allen-Vanguard Corp. v. L’Abbé, [2013] O.J. No. 1074 (S.C.J. Mast.)
3. Allen-Vanguard v. L’Abbé, [2013] O.J. No. 2324 (S.C.J.)
Garry D. Watson, Q.C. and Michael McGowan, Ontario Civil Practice 2014,
Thomson Canada Limited (2013)
5. Kovach (Litigation guardian of) v. Kovach, [2010] O.J. No. 643 (C.A.)
6. Mazza v. Smith, [2009] O.J. No. 283 (S.C.J.)
T Elcano Acceptance Ltd. et al. v. Richmond, Richmond, Stambler & Mills, [1986]
0.J. No. 578 (C.A.)
Garland v. Consumers’ Gas Co., [2004] 1 S.C.R. 629
9. Digregorio v. Brick and Allied Craft Union of Canada, Local 29, [2012] O.J. No.
5066 (C.A.)
10. The Plan Group v. Bell Canada, [2009] O.J. No. 2829 (C.A.)
11. Consolidated-Bathurst Export Ltd. v. Mutual Boiler and Machinery Insurance,
[1980] 1 S.C.R. 888
12. Hryniak v. Mauldin, 2014 SCC 7
13. George Weston Ltd v. Domtar Inc., 2012 ONSC 5001 (S.C.J.)




Tab 1



Page 1

Indexed as:
Kentucky Fried Chicken Canada, a Division of Pepsi-Cola
Canada Ltd. v. Scott's Food Services Inc.

Between
Kentucky Fried Chicken Canada, a Division of Pepsi-Cola Canada
Ltd., plaintiff (respondent), and
Scott's Food Services Inc. and Scott's Hospitality Inc.,
defendants (appellants)
[1998] O.J. No. 4368
114 O.A.C. 357
41 B.L.R. (2d) 42
83 A.C.W.S. (3d) 382
Docket No. C28208
Ontario Court of Appeal
Toronto, Ontario

Moldaver, Goudge JJ.A. and Ferrier J. (ad hoc)

Heard: May 4 and 5, 1998.
Judgment: November 2, 1998.

(29 pp.)

Franchises -- Franchise agreement -- Interpretation -- Breach of agreement -- What constitutes --
Transfer of franchises -- Consent of franchisor.

Appeal by Scott's Food Services from a trial judgment allowing Kentucky Fried Chicken's (KFC)
action for termination of a licensing agreement. Scott's was the largest KFC franchisee in the world.
Scott's Food was owned by Scott's Hospitality. Scott's Hospitality owned a school bus business as
well as the KFC franchise. In 1996, as part of a transaction with Laidlaw Inc., the shareholders of
Scott's Hospitality transferred its ownership of the franchise to Scott's Restaurants. The Sharehold-
ers then owned Scott's Restaurants which owned Scott's Food. Laidlaw purchased the shares of
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Scott's Hospitality and acquired the school bus business. The change in ownership of the franchise
was made without KFC's consent. In issue was whether the license agreement required Scott's to
obtain KFC's consent to the change in ownership of the franchisee failing which KFC could termi-
nate the contract. Also in issue was whether Scott's had failed to meet its obligations to enhance its
KFC outlets. The trial judge found that consent to a change in ownership was required and that KFC
had the right to terminate the agreement. The trial judge also found that Scott's failed to meet its ob-
ligation to enhance which was a material and substantive failure also entitling KFC to terminate the
license agreement unless the outlets were enhanced within three months. Scott's appealed.

HELD: Appeal allowed. The contract, being a negotiated commercial document, was interpreted
objectively and in accordance with sound commercial principles and good business sense. The con-
tract did not give KFC a right to approve a change in the controlling shareholder of the franchisee,
Scott's. Such a right would have meant a significant change in the agreement which had governed
the franchise relationship since 1969. Prior to executing the agreement, KFC was told that Scott's
would not agree to any restriction on changes of ownership in the franchisee. Furthermore, the
standard "deemed transfer" language present in every other KFC franchise agreement, which pro-
vided for KFC's right to approve a change in shareholders of the franchisee, was conspicuously ab-
sent from the Scott's license agreement. The interpretation suggested by KFC resulted in a commer-
cial absurdity. Scott's had bargaining power at least equal to that of KFFC and sufficient power to
achieve a contract with no restriction on the transferability of shares. Therefore, the license agree-
ment could not be interpreted to give KFC a right to approve a change in the shareholders of Scott's.
Consequently, KFC did not have the right to terminate the franchise. The appeal was also allowed
on the enhancement issue. The franchise agreement did not give KFC a substantive right to termi-
nate for failure by Scott's to discharge its enhancement obligations.

Counsel:

Dennis R. O'Connor, Q.C., David Stockwood, Q.C., Nancy J. Spies and Timothy H. Mitchell, for
the appellants.
David R. Byers, Katherine L. Kay and Christopher J. Cosgriffe, for the respondent.

The following judgment was delivered by

1 GOUDGE J.A.:-- This appeal was heard on May 4 and 5, 1998. This court's reasons for
judgment were ready for release on July 9, 1998 when the parties contacted the court to request that
this not be done. On the basis of the reasons given by the parties for this request, the court agreed to
refrain from releasing its judgment until November 1, 1998 but made clear that the judgment would
then be released unless prior to October 31, 1998 both parties notified the court in writing that the
matter had been fully and finally settled and that the appellant wished to withdraw the appeal. This
has not happened and these reasons are therefore being released.

2 The appellant Scott's Food is the largest Kentucky Fried Chicken ("KFC") franchisee in the
world. Its franchise agreement (the "license agreement") with the respondent covers some four hun-
dred outlets, approximately half of all KFC outlets in Canada.
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3 Up until 1996, Scott's Food was owned by the appellant Scott's Hospitality whose other major
business was a school bus operation. At that point, as part of a transaction with Laidlaw Inc.
("Laidlaw") in which Laidlaw acquired the school bus business, the shareholders of Scott's Hospi-
tality replaced it as the sole shareholder of the franchisee with a new company, Scott's Restaurants.
As aresult, these shareholders then owned Scott's Restaurants which in turn owned Scott's Food.
This change was made without the respondent's consent.

4 There were two main issues at trial. The second, which the parties call the enhancement issue,
was whether, apart altogether from the corporate changes entailed by the Laidlaw transaction,
Scott's Food had upgraded its outlets as required by its contract. At trial, Steele J. found that it had
not. I will come in due course to the limited appeal taken from the judgment below on this issue.

5 The first and indeed the fundamental issue at trial, called the transfer issue, was whether the
license agreement required the appellants (to whom I will refer jointly as "Scott's") to obtain the re-
spondent's consent to the change in ownership of the franchisee failing which the respondent could
terminate the agreement. Steele J. interpreted the contract as requiring consent, thereby giving the
respondent the right to terminate since no consent was obtained. For the reasons that follow, I have
come to the opposite conclusion and I would therefore allow the appeal on the transfer issue.

THE TRANSFER ISSUE
The Relevant Facts

6 The license agreement that is the subject of this litigation was signed on June 9, 1989, effec-
tive January 1, 1989. The respondent was the franchisor and the appellant Scott's Food the franchi-
see. The latter was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Scott's Hospitality which was not a party to the
agreement.

7 At the time the license agreement was made, Scott's operated about one-half of all the KFC
outlets in Canada and more than ten times as many as the next largest franchisee in the country. Un-
like most franchisees, Scott's had very significant bargaining power in the negotiations which led up
to the agreement.

8 For the purposes of the transfer issue, the critical paragraphs of the license agreement are the
following:

16. Transfer

16.1 The grant of the License hereunder is personal to Licensee. The grant of the
License hereunder is based upon full disclosure in writing by the Licensee to
KFC, and approval by KFC, of all directors and holders of majority control of the
voting shares of Licensee and of any corporation or corporations which directly
or indirectly (whether by means of any intermediate corporations or otherwise)
own or control or have an interest in the shares of the Licensee. Licensee
acknowledges that the restrictions provided in this Paragraph 16 are reasonable
and necessary to protect the KFC System and the KFC Marks and are for the
benefit and protection of all KFC licensees as well as KFC.

16.2 Licensee agrees that it shall not sell, transfer, assign, encumber, sub-license
or otherwise deal with this Agreement or its rights or interest hereunder (herein-
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after referred to as "transfer"), without KFC's prior written consent and Licen-
see's compliance in all respects with the terms and conditions of this Paragraph
16. Any transfer or any attempt to do so, contrary to Paragraph 16 shall be a
breach of this Agreement and shall be void but shall give KFC the right of ter-
mination as provided in Paragraph 17.2(d).

9 Paragraph 17.2(d) reads as follows:

17.2 KFC may, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies contained in
this Agreement or at law or in equity, terminate the License upon immediate no-
tice (or in the event advance notice is required by law, upon the giving of such
notice) in the event that:

(d) Licensee makes or permits a transfer contrary to the provision of Paragraph 16;

10 The history of Scott's as a KFC franchisee predates the license agreement by twenty years. It
goes back to 1969 when Scott's Hospitality entered into an agreement to become a franchisee oper-
ating KFC outlets in Canada. The franchisor then was Col. Sanders Kentucky Fried Chicken Lim-
ited ("Colonel Sanders"), the owner of the KFC trademarks in Canada. This agreement was to run
until January 1, 1994. It is noteworthy that it contained no clause like the current paragraph 16.1. It
did not specify that the rights of Scott's Hospitality were personal to it, nor were there any provi-
sions restricting the transfer of its shares. There was, however, a provision restricting the transfer of
the license without the prior written consent of the franchisor.

11 By 1985, the franchisor had developed a standard franchise agreement ("the 1985 Agree-
ment") containing certain restrictions on the transfer of shares in the franchisee which, at that point,
were standard in all KFC franchise agreements in Canada except that with Scott's Hospitality.

12 While paragraph 16.1 of the 1985 Agreement reads identically to paragraph 16.1 in the li-
cense agreement, paragraph 16.2 of the 1985 Agreement when coupled with paragraph 16.4 con-
tains significant differences. These two paragraphs are reproduced below, highlighting the words
that do not appear in the license agreement:

16.2 The Franchisee agrees that it shall not sell, transfer, assign, encumber,
sub-license or otherwise deal with this Agreement or its rights or interest here-
under (hereinafter referred to as "transfer"), and shall not suffer or permit any
deemed sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement or its rights or interest
hereunder (hereinafter referred to as "deemed transfer" and more particularly de-
fined in paragraph 16.4), without KFC's prior written consent and Franchisee's
compliance in all respects with the terms and conditions of this Paragraph 16.
Any transfer or deemed transfer, or any attempt to do so, contrary to this Para-
graph 16 shall be a breach of this Agreement and shall be void but shall give
KFC the right of termination as provided in paragraph 17.2(d).

16.4 For the purposes of this Paragraph 16, a deemed transfer of this Agreement
or the rights and interest hereunder shall include:
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(2)

(b) in the event that Franchisee is a corporation, any change (including but without
limitation any issuance, sale, assignment, transfer, redemption or cancellation of,
or conversion of any securities into, voting shares of the corporate Franchisee or
any other corporation referred to in paragraph 16.1, or any amalgamation, merger
or other reorganization of the corporate Franchisee or any such other corporation)
in any of the holdings of voting shares referred to in paragraph 16.1; provided
that, in the case of any such corporation the voting shares of which are listed and
publicly traded on a stock exchange, no such change in any of the holdings of its
voting shares shall constitute a deemed transfer unless, in the sole opinion of
KFC, direct or indirect control of the corporate Franchisee would thereby be
changed.

13 In 1987, Col. Sanders sold its entire interest in the KFC trademarks in Canada to Kentucky
Fried Chicken's corporation ("KFC Corp." or "KFC") which held those rights for the rest of the
world.

14 Just prior to this sale, by letter agreement dated July 16, 1987, KFC Corp. agreed that when
the sale from Col. Sanders was concluded, it would grant Scott's Hospitality a ten-year renewal of
the 1969 agreement. This letter agreement suggested no constraint on the transfer of shares of the
franchisee.

15 Pursuant to the 1987 letter agreement, negotiations ensued between KFC and Scott's Hospi-
tality. In these negotiations, Scott's Hospitality refused to agree to terms in the language of the 1985
agreement, just as it had previously refused to do with Col. Sanders. The Scott's representative
made clear to KFC that Scott's would not agree to any restrictions on changes of ownership in the
licensee.

16 The relative bargaining power of Scott's and KFC in these negotiations was the subject of
some considerable attention at trial. The chief KFC negotiator testified that Scott's was at least the
equal of KFC in bargaining power. The leading expert for KFC testified that it was unusual for a
franchisee to be in such a position.

17 Because of these unique circumstances, the trial judge concluded that the evidence of the
experts as to the usual practice in the franchising industry must be applied with caution. Ultimately,
he found that Scott's had sufficient bargaining power to negotiate a contract in which there would be
no restriction on the transferability of shares. The question he had to decide was whether the result-
ing license agreement contained such a restriction.

18 The first of the two Laidlaw transactions, which triggered the need to answer this question,
began in January 1996 with an unsolicited offer from Laidlaw to purchase all of the shares of Scott's
Hospitality. Laidlaw's intention was that following a successful takeover, it would sell off Scott's
Food and retain the school bus business operated by Scott's Hospitality. Laidlaw's offer contained a
condition that it be satisfied that there was no impediment to its disposing of the shares of Scott's
Food to a third party without affecting the franchisee's rights under the license agreement. KFC was
not prepared to give its consent to this transaction and indeed commenced this litigation in response.
As a result, this Laidlaw proposal could not be completed within its time frame and hence it did not
proceed.
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19 Rather, a second Laidlaw transaction was structured in which Scott's Restaurants was in-
corporated as a subsidiary of Scott's Hospitality. Scott's Hospitality then transferred its shares in
Scott's Food to Scott's Restaurants in exchange for shares of Scott's Restaurants which were divi-
dended out to the shareholders of Scott's Hospitality. The shareholders of Scott's Hospitality thereby
became the owners of Scott's Restaurants which, in turn, became the owner of the franchisee, Scott's
Food. Laidlaw then purchased the shares of Scott's Hospitality thereby acquiring the school bus
business.

20 KFC was kept fully informed of this transaction but continuously opposed it. Indeed, its
consent was never expressly sought. The simple question at trial was whether that consent was re-
quired.

The Judgment Below

21 The trial judge found that while Scott's Food as franchisee was bound by the license agree-
ment, Scott's Hospitality was not bound by its terms. He concluded that Scott's Food was neither the
alter ego nor the agent of Scott's Hospitality. The respondent does not contest this conclusion.

22 He then went on to his core finding on the transfer issue, namely, the construction of para-
graph 16.1 of the license agreement. He construed that paragraph to contain a continuing obligation
on the part of the franchisee to obtain approval of KFC to any transfer of the shares of either Scott's
Food or its controlling shareholder. He put his findings in these terms:

In my opinion the disclosure and approval of the directors and holders of
majority control would be meaningless unless it was a continuing obligation and
not merely at the time of execution. Based on good business sense section 16.1
must be construed as being a continuing obligation.

In my opinion there is nothing in section 16 that prohibits or gives the right
of approval to KFC of trading of shares of Scott's Food or Hospitality provided
that there is no issue of a change of control.

There are no clearly expressed words requiring the approval of KFC to any
transfer of the shares of Scott's Food or its controlling shareholders. However
section 16.1 referring to the grant being personal and the reference to the direc-
tors and holders of majority control of the shares of Scott's Food and the broad
reference to any other corporations with control make it clear that any transfer of
the controlling shares of Scott's Food or Hospitality are subject thereto. To inter-
pret the section otherwise would defeat the personal aspect and not make good
business sense and would be contrary to the generally accepted practice in the
franchise industry.

23 He then moved directly and without elaboration to a finding that paragraph 16.2 prohibits a
transfer or an attempted transfer of the license agreement without consent and since the first
Laidlaw proposal was an attempted transfer and the second was an actual transfer, each breached
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paragraph 16.2 and gave KFC the right to terminate the license agreement pursuant to paragraph
17.2(d).

Analysis

24 The question to be determined on the transfer issue is one of contractual interpretation:
properly construed, does either paragraph 16.1 or paragraph 16.2 of the license agreement require
KFC's consent to either Laidlaw transaction? The trial judge determined that this was not a case of
ambiguity and on this basis, he declined to consider evidence of the subjective intentions of the par-
ties which were not communicated to each other. Equally he excluded the various draft documents
leading up to the license agreement. He did, however, consider the relationship between the parties
and the custom of the industry, including the license agreements between the respondent and other
franchisees in Canada, as part of the factual matrix that must be looked at in interpreting the agree-
ment.

25 I agree with this approach. While the task of interpretation must begin with the words of the
document and their ordinary meaning, the general context that gave birth to the document or its
"factual matrix" will also provide the court with useful assistance. In the famous passage in Reardon
Smith Line Ltd. v. Yngvar Hansen-Tangen, [1976] 1 W.L.R. 989 at 995-96 (H.L.) Lord Wilberforce
said this:

No contracts are made in a vacuum: there is always a setting in which they have
to be placed. The nature of what is legitimate to have regard to is usually de-
scribed as "the surrounding circumstances" but this phrase is imprecise: it can be
illustrated but hardly defined. In a commercial contract it is certainly right that
the court should know the commercial purpose of the contract and this in turn
presupposes knowledge of the genesis of the transaction, the background, the
context, the market in which the parties are operating.

26 The scope of the surrounding circumstances to be considered will vary from case to case but
generally will encompass those factors which assist the court "... to search for an interpretation
which, from the whole of the contract, would appear to promote or advance the true intent of the
parties at the time of entry into the contract." Consolidated Bathurst Export Ltd. v. Mutual Boiler
and Machinery Insurance Co., [1980] 1 S.C.R. 888 at 901.

27 Where, as here, the document to be construed is a negotiated commercial document, the
court should avoid an interpretation that would result in a commercial absurdity'. Rather, the docu-
ment should be construed in accordance with sound commercial principles and good business
sense?. Care must be taken, however, to do this objectively rather than from the perspective of one
contracting party or the other, since what might make good business sense to one party would not
necessarily do so for the other.

28 With these broad principles of interpretation in mind, I turn first to the construction to be
given to paragraph 16.1 of the license agreement. Properly construed, does it give KFC the right to
approve a change in the controlling shareholder of the franchisee? It is the second Laidlaw transac-
tion that requires this question to be answered. Given that the first Laidlaw transaction was not pro-
ceeded with, KFC did not argue at trial or on appeal that it breached paragraph 16.1.

29 It is helpful at this point to set out the provision again:
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16.1 The grant of the License hereunder is personal to Licensee. The grant of the
License hereunder is based upon full disclosure in writing by the Licensee to
KFC, and approval by KFC, of all directors and holders of majority control of the
voting shares of Licensee and of any corporation or corporations which directly
or indirectly (whether by means of any intermediate corporations or otherwise)
own or control or have an interest in the shares of the Licensee. Licensee
acknowledges that the restrictions provided in this Paragraph 16 are reasonable
and necessary to protect the KFC System and the KFC Marks and are for the
benefit and protection of all KFC licensees as well as KFC.

30 I have concluded that this clause does not give KFC a right to approve a change in the con-
trolling shareholder of its franchisee Scott's Food. In other words, paragraph 16.1 does not extend to
the second Laidlaw transaction. I say this for a number of reasons.

31 First, the license agreement was signed in 1989. The Laidlaw transactions occurred in 1996.
The ordinary meaning of the language used in paragraph 16.1 suggests that the franchisor KFC had
the right on entering the contract to know and approve the shareholders of the franchisee. There is
nothing to suggest a right to approve a change in those shareholders some seven years later.

32 Second, such a right would mean a significant change from the agreement which had gov-
erned this franchise relationship since 1969 which clearly contained no such right. Moreover, Scott's
had refused to enter into an agreement like the 1985 standard franchise agreement which did pro-
vide the franchisor with this right. The trial judge found that prior to executing the license agree-
ment, KFC knew this and had been told that Scott's would not agree to any restriction on changes of
ownership in the franchisee.

33 Third, the language of the 1985 standard franchise agreement is revealing. In 1989, when
the license agreement was concluded, every other KFC franchise agreement in Canada expressly
provided for the franchisor's right to approve a change in the shareholders of the franchisee. This
was done not by means of paragraph 16.1 but rather through the "deemed transfer" language of
paragraphs 16.2 and 16.4. Paragraph 16.1 in the license agreement ought not to be construed to pro-
vide the franchisor with this right where the identical language in the 1985 standard franchise
agreement was clearly not intended to have that effect. The corollary to this is that the deemed
transfer language which does provide this right to the franchisor in the 1985 standard franchise
agreement is conspicuously absent from the license agreement.

34 Fourth, paragraph 16.1 extends the right of approval to the holders of majority control of the
franchisee and any corporation which has an interest in the shares of the franchisee. If this language
is read to give KFC a right to approve any subsequent change in the majority shareholder of the
franchisee, it must also give KFC the right to approve a subsequent change in shareholder control of
any corporation which owns any interest in the franchisee, even if it is only a single share. In argu-
ment, the respondent conceded that this would be a commercial absurdity. To find, as the trial judge
did, that the franchisor's right of approval is limited to a change of control in the franchisee is, in my
opinion, to read out of paragraph 16.1 the phrase "have an interest in". By contrast, to extend this
right of approval to the majority shareholder and also to shareholders who have an interest in the
shares of the franchisee does not create a commercial absurdity if that right applies simply at the
point of entering the license agreement.
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35 Fifth, paragraph 16.4 provides support for this interpretation. It requires the franchisee to
seek KFC's consent to a transfer to a third party of the franchisee's interest under the license agree-
ment. To allow an informed consent, this paragraph expressly obliges the franchisee to give KFC
the same information about the shareholders of the third party that paragraph 16.1 provided con-
cerning the franchisee. However, if paragraph 16.1 contained an ongoing right of KFC to be in-
formed of and approve the shareholders of the party holding the franchise, paragraph 16.4 would be
superfluous.

36 Finally, and with respect, it is my view that the three reasons offered by the trial judge for
the opposite interpretation of paragraph 16.1 do not withstand scrutiny.

37 The first reason given by the trial judge was that the meaning I would accord to paragraph
16.1 would defeat the personal aspect of the license agreement. That paragraph certainly makes
clear that the grant of the license is personal to the licensee. However, that licensee is clearly and
expressly Scott's Food, not its controlling shareholder. A change in the latter leaves the licensee
unchanged. Following the second Laidlaw transaction, the license is still granted personally to
Scott's Food.

38 The second reason was that it would not make good business sense to read paragraph 16.1

so that it did not extend to a change in the shareholders of the franchisee. While this might not make
good business sense from the perspective of the franchisor, it might well make good business sense
for the franchisee. In my view, neither of these is helpful in the required task of contractual inter-
pretation. Rather, in applying objectively the interpretive principle of what accords with sound
commercial principles and good business sense, the key fact is that for twenty years, from 1969 to
1989, this franchise relationship operated with apparent viability without the right of approval con-
tended for by the respondent. In light of this history, it cannot be concluded that the meaning I give
to paragraph 16.1 would not make good business sense.

39 Finally, it was said that reading paragraph 16.1 as I do would be contrary to the generally
accepted practice in the franchise industry. The fallacy in this reasoning is that, as the trial judge
recognized, this was a very unusual franchising relationship. This franchisee appeared to have bar-
gaining power at least equal to that of KFC and certainly sufficient power to achieve a contract with
no restriction on the transferability of shares. By contrast, the trial judge found the industry standard
to be that the franchisor has control over the franchisee. In these circumstances, the generally ac-
cepted industry practice is of little use in interpreting this particular license agreement.

40 IIence, I conclude that paragraph 16.1 of the license agreement cannot be construed to give
KFC the right to approve a change in the shareholders of Scott's Food. This paragraph, therefore,
was not breached when Scott's did not obtain KFC's approval of the second Laidlaw transaction.

41 It is next necessary to consider the proper interpretation to be given to paragraph 16.2 of the
license agreement. It is helpful to reproduce this provision a second time:

16.2 Licensee agrees that it shall not sell, transfer, assign, encumber, sub-license
or otherwise deal with this Agreement or its rights or interest hereunder (herein-
after referred to as "transfer"), without KFC's prior written consent and Licen-
see's compliance in all respects with the terms and conditions of this Paragraph
16. Any transfer or any attempt to do so, contrary to Paragraph 16 shall be a
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breach of this Agreement and shall be void but shall give KFC the right of ter-
mination as provided in Paragraph 17.2(d).

42 The respondent's primary argument was that the second Laidlaw transaction engaged the last
sentence of this paragraph. It was said to be a transfer contrary to paragraph 16.1 which, because of

paragraph 16.2, triggered the right of termination in paragraph 17.2(d). Given the conclusion I have

reached concerning paragraph 16.1, this argument must fail.

43 Apart altogether from paragraph 16.1, however, the respondent also argues that for the pur-
poses of paragraph 16.2, the first Laidlaw transaction was an attempted transfer and the second was
an actual transfer and that KFC's prior written consent was therefore required.

44 In my view, this argument also must fail. On the ordinary meaning of the words used in
paragraph 16.2, it is the licensee Scott's Food that is constrained from dealing with its interest under
the license agreement. Once the alter ego argument is dismissed, this paragraph simply cannot reach
Scott's Hospitality, the shareholder of the franchisee. Nor does it reach the shareholders of Scott's
Hospitality. Neither an attempted change nor an actual change in the shareholders of the franchisee
constitutes the franchisee dealing with its interest under the license agreement.

45 This conclusion is assisted by examining the language of the counterpart paragraph 16.2 in
the 1985 standard franchise agreement. The two Laidlaw transactions would be encompassed by
that provision only because of the inclusion of the "deemed transfer" concept. As I have said, this
concept is conspicuously absent from paragraph 16.2 of this license agreement.

46 The respondent argues that its proposed reading of paragraph 16.2 is consistent with good
business sense and industry practice. However, as I have indicated in connection with the argument
on paragraph 16.1, in the circumstances of this case, neither of these aids to interpretation requires
that paragraph 16.2 be read to give KFC the right to consent to a change in the shareholders of its
franchisee.

47 Finally, the respondent relies on GATX v. Hawker-Siddely Canada Inc. (1996), 27 B.L.R.
(2d) 251 (Ont. Gen. Div.) to assert a broad meaning for the phrase "or otherwise deal with" as found
in paragraph 16.2. That case is different from this one in that, there, the contracting party was
clearly dealing indirectly with its interest under the agreement. Here, neither Laidlaw transaction
involved the franchisee dealing in any way with its interest under the license agreement.

48 I therefore find that, properly construed, paragraph 16.2 does not give KFC the right to prior
written consent to either Laidlaw transaction.

49 Given my conclusions about paragraphs 16.1 and 16.2 of the license agreement, it is unnec-
essary to deal with the appellant's alternative arguments: that paragraph 16.1 is limited to a change
in ultimate control of the franchisee; that KFC could not have reasonably refused its approval of the
second Laidlaw transaction; that a breach of paragraph 16.1 entitles KFC to terminate only if it was
a fundamental breach of the license agreement; but in any event, for KFC to terminate would be a
breach of its good faith duty under the license agreement; and finally, that the appellants are entitled
to relief from forfeiture. Nor is it necessary to deal with the respondent's alternative argument that a
breach of paragraph 16.1 allows it to terminate through direct resort to paragraph 17.3 of the license
agreement.
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50 Before leaving the transfer issue, the remaining matter required to be dealt with arises from
the finding below that pursuant to paragraph 16.3 of the license agreement, KFC had a right of first
refusal in the circumstances of both Laidlaw transactions. That paragraph reads in part as follows:

16.3 In the event that Licensee receives a bona fide offer, which licensee is will-
ing to accept, from a third party to purchase or otherwise acquire any of the Li-
censee's rights and interest in this Agreement, ..., Licensee shall first offer to sell
the same to KFC at the same price and on the same terms and conditions as in the
third party's offer ... In the event that KFC so accepts such offer to sell, a binding
agreement of purchase and sale shall thereby be constituted between Licensee
and KFC at the said price and upon the said terms and conditions ... [Emphasis
added.]

51 The reasons below reveal no analysis of the language in this paragraph by the trial judge in
reaching his conclusion.

52 In my opinion, the ordinary meaning of the words used in the paragraph dictates the oppo-
site conclusion -- that neither Laidlaw transaction triggered a right of first refusal. Neither an offer
to purchase the shares of Scott's Hospitality nor an offer to change the controlling shareholder of
Scott's Food is an offer which the franchisee receives or one which the franchisee can accept. The
licensee cannot receive a takeover bid for the licensee's parent or for the licensee itself.

53 In summary, therefore, the appellant did not breach either paragraph 16.1 or paragraph 16.2
of the license agreement because of the Laidlaw transactions and KFC does not have the right to
terminate the license agreement as a result. Nor did either Laidlaw transaction give KFC a right of
first refusal.

54 I would accordingly allow the appeal on the transfer issue and set aside the declarations in
paras. 1, 2, 3 and 4 of the judgment below. Instead, an order will go dismissing the claims for these
declarations. Finally, I would set aside para. 13 of the judgment below and would grant the declara-
tion sought therein.

THE ENHANCEMENT ISSUE

55 The other major issue at trial was whether Scott's Food had failed to meet its obligations to
enhance its KFC outlets. These obligations are contained in the license agreement and the adden-
dum to it, the Master Development Agreement, signed at the same time. The trial judge's two prin-
cipal findings on this issue were that Scott's Food had failed to enhance its outlets as required by
paragraph 7.2 of the Master Development Agreement and, secondly, because more than five to ten
per cent of the outlets had not been enhanced as required, the failure was material and substantive,
thereby entitling KFC to terminate the license agreement pursuant to paragraph 17.2(e) unless
Scott's Food corrects the failure within three months. The appellants appeal neither of these find-
ings. Indeed, they raise only two grounds of appeal in connection with the enhancement issue.

56 Firstly, they appeal the declaration that KFC is also entitled to terminate the license agree-
ment pursuant to paragraphs 17.2(e) and 17.3 because Scott's Food's enhancement failures were
breaches of paragraphs 3.2, 5 and 6 of the license agreement. While the judgment contains this dec-
laration, the reasons for judgment do not reveal the basis upon which the declaration was made.



Page 12

57 Second, they appeal the finding that to avoid KFC's right to terminate under paragraph
17.2(e), Scott's Food must, within three months, enhance all of its outlets, not just a sufficient num-
ber that the failure becomes less than material and substantive.

58 Turning to the first of these two grounds of appeal, it is helpful to set out paragraphs 17.2(e)
and 17.3 of the license agreement:

17.2 KFC may, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies contained in
this Agreement or at law or in equity, terminate the License upon immediate no-
tice (or in the event advance notice is required by law, upon the giving of such
notice) in the event that:

() Licensee fails to satisfy, in a material and substantive manner, the requirements
for enhancement and development contained in Articles 3.3, 3.4, 7.2 and 7.3 of
the Addendum, provided that notice of any such failure is delivered to Licensee
and Licensee shall not have corrected such failure within (3) months from the de-
livery of such notice.

17.3 The License will terminate on the termination date specified in any notice
by KFC to Licensee (without any further notice of termination unless required by
law), provided that (a) the notice is hand delivered or mailed at least thirty (30)
days (or such longer period as may be required by law) in advance of the termi-
nation date, (b) the notice reasonably identifies one or more breaches or defaults
in Licensee's obligations or performance hereunder, (c) the notice specifies the
manner in which the breach(es) or default(s) are not fully remedied before, and
as of, the termination date.

59 In my view, paragraph 17.2(e) deals explicitly and exhaustively with the enhancement obli-
gations on the franchisee that, if not met, give KFC the right to terminate the license agreement.
None of paragraphs 3.2, 5 or 6 of the license agreement is included in that list.

60 Moreover, as indicated by the trial judge, paragraph 17.3 merely sets out the procedure of
formal notice. It does not accord to KFC a substantive right to terminate for any failure by Scott's
Food to discharge its enhancement obligations. To so interpret paragraph 17.3 would fly in the face
of paragraph 17.2 where the parties have carefully selected the enhancement obligations that, if
breached, justify termination. Hence I would reverse the declaration that because the franchisee's
enhancement failures breached paragraphs 3.2, 5 and 6 of the license agreement, KFC is entitled to
terminate pursuant to paragraphs 17.2(e) and 17.3.

61 As to the second ground of appeal on the enhancement issue, paragraph 17.2(e) of the li-
cense agreement provides that failure in a material and substantive manner (my emphasis) to meet
the franchisee's enhancement obligations as specified therein gives KFC the right to terminate if the
failure is not corrected within three months. As I have said, the trial judge found that where more
than five to ten per cent of the outlets fall below this required standard, Scott's Food was in substan-
tial breach for the purposes of this paragraph. He went on to say this:
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... KFC must give three months' notice from the date of this judgment to Scott's
to allow it to remedy the default found in this decision on the enhancement issue.
In other words, Scott's must be given three months in which to upgrade all of its
remaining outlets to certification standards. If it chooses not to do so, it may
close those stores under other termination procedures.

62 There is nothing in the actual judgment appealed from that requires the franchisee to en-
hance or close all of its remaining outlets to avoid termination. Hence, | propose to make no order
on this ground of appeal.

63 However, in my opinion, if failure in a material and substantive manner to meet the en-
hancement requirements occurs when five to ten per cent of the outlets are below standard, correct-
ing that failure means enhancing at least enough outlets so that there is no possibility of this line
being crossed. This means that to correct that failure within three months, Scott's Food must ensure
that no more than five per cent of its outlets are substandard. I would therefore not think it necessary
that to correct the failure, the franchisee must sufficiently upgrade all its remaining outlets. To do so
would make the correction incongruent with the failure contrary to what I think is meant by the final
phrase of paragraph 17.2(e).

64 The view I have expressed is also consistent with paragraph 6.3 of the Master Development
Agreement. It contemplates that the franchisee could operate outlets for a limited period of time
even if they had not been enhanced to the required standard. This paragraph is inconsistent with a
correction requirement that would compel the franchisee to properly enhance all of its remaining
outlets.

65 In summary, I would allow the appeal on the enhancement issue. I would set aside the dec-
laration in para. 9 of the judgment below and order that the claim for this declaration be dismissed.

COSTS

66 The trial judge ordered that there be no costs of the trial on the basis of paragraph 18.3 of the
license agreement which required this result unless one party prevailed entirely, something that did
not occur at this trial.

67 Before us, neither party sought to disturb this order and I do not do so. Both parties submit-
ted that costs of the appeal should follow the result. I can see no reason why this should not happen.

68 In conclusion, I would allow the appeals with costs on the transfer issue and the enhance-
ment issue in accordance with these reasons. The trial judgment is otherwise undisturbed.

GOUDGE J.A.
MOLDAVER J.A. -- I agree.
FERRIER J. (ad hoc) -- I agree.

cp/d/In/aaa/DRS/qlgxc

1 City of Toronto v. W.H. Hotel Ltd. (1966), 56 D.L.R. (2d) 539 at 548 (S.C.C.).
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2 Scanlon v. Castlepoint Development Corporation et al. (1992), 11 O.R. (3d) 744 at 770
(Ont. C.A)).
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Action by the plaintiff, Kentucky Fried Chicken, a Division of Pepsi-Cola Canada (KFC), for sev-
eral declarations and for damages for breach of a licence franchise agreement by the defendants,
Scott's Food Services (Scott's), a subsidiary of the defendant, Scott's Hospitality (Hospitality). KFC
had a franchise licence agreement with Scott's for 400 stores in Canada. Section 16 of the agreement
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provided a personal franchise grant to Scott's which required full disclosure of, and approval by
KFC of all directors and holders of majority control of voting shares of Scott's and any corporations
that owned, controlled, or had any interest in Scott's shares. It also prohibited Scott's from transfer-
ring or otherwise dealing with the agreement without consent, and it dealt with the procedure for
third party offers to purchase. In 1995, Laidlaw and Hospitality agreed that Laidlaw would purchase
Hospitality's shares. Laidlaw intended to sell Scott's to A&W after the takeover. KFC was advised
of the offer and it advised the defendants that the proposed sale violated the agreement's transfer
provision. It also raised the issue that the defendants were in breach of remodelling and upgrading
obligations. The defendants applied for a declaration regarding the transfer provisions' effect and
KFC commenced this action. Laidlaw and the defendants then completed a second transaction
whereby Hospitality sold to Laidlaw all of its business, other than the KFC business. KFC objected
to this transaction, but it was completed. The two main issues were whether the defendants could
transfer shares under the licence agreement, and what remodelling and upgrading of Scott's Food
outlets were covered by the licence agreement.

HELD: Action allowed. Certain declarations were granted, while others were dismissed. KFC was
entitled to terminate the agreement due to the defendants' breach. Any transfer of controlling shares
of Scott's Food or Hospitality was subject to KFC approval. Section 16 applied to both Laidlaw
transactions and required KFC approval; thus, both transactions breached the agreement. Also, the
defendants substantially breached the agreement's annual remodelling provisions. However, as KFC
was entitled to terminate the agreement based on the transfer issue, it was inequitable to order spe-
cific performance and have the defendants expend substantial sums of money to remedy the breach.
Relief from forfeiture was not granted to the defendants with regards to the two Laidlaw transac-
tions. The companies were sophisticated corporations acting with legal advice. KFC's conduct in
opposing the two transactions was not unconscionable.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules:
Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, ¢. C-43.

Counsel:

David R. Byers, Katherine L. Kay, Christopher J. Cosgriffe and Eliot N. Kolers, for the plaintiff.
David T. Stockwood, Q.C., Nancy J. Spies, Robert MacKinnon, Timothy H. Mitchell and Faeron
Trahearne, for the defendants.

1 STEELE J.:-- This action and counterclaim involves the interpretation of a Master Franchise
Licence Agreement between Kentucky Fried Chicken Canada, a division of Pepsi-Cola Canada
Limited (KFC) as licensor (sometimes referred to as the franchisor) and Scott's Food Services Inc.
(Scott's Food) as licensee (sometimes referred to as the franchisee) (the licence agreement) and a
Master development Agreement as an addendum thereto (the addendum). The relevant portions of
the licence agreement and addendum are attached as schedule A. Both documents were executed on
June 9, 1989.

2 There are two main issues;
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1. The ability of Scott's Food and Scott's Hospitality Inc. (Hospitality) to
transfer shares of Hospitality, Scott's Food or other corporations under the
licence agreement (the transfer issue);

2. The remodelling and upgrading of Scott's Food outlets covered by the li-
cence agreement and addendum (the enhancement issue).

3 KFC is the registered owner in Canada of the trademarks Kentucky Fried Chicken, Colonel
Sanders, and Its Finger Licking Good as well as other trademarks associated with KFC (collective-
ly, the "KFC" Marks)

4 Hospitality is a widely held corporation whose shares prior to and at the commencement of
this action were publicly listed on both the Toronto and Montreal Stock Exchanges. There was no
shareholder holding more than 50% of the shares of Hospitality. The largest shareholder was Fair-
water Capital Corporation (Fairwater) which is controlled by Michael Gardiner and his family.
However, another corporation controlled by his relatives owned sufficient shares that they jointly
had over 50%. There was no voting agreement between the two corporations, but they have always
voted their shares in the same manner. I find that there was effective control by Fairwater.

5 Scott's Food was a wholly owned subsidiary of Hospitality at the commencement of this ac-
tion. I will refer to Scott's Food and Hospitality collectively as Scott's unless the context otherwise
requires.

6 The licence agreement covers approximately 400 Scott's Food stores or about one half of the
total KFC stores in Canada. The Scott's Food stores are located in Ontario, Quebec and Alberta.

7 At the commencement of trial both parties presented opening addresses that took three days

in total. These opening addresses set out the position of the parties in great detail and were of con-
siderable help in understanding the complexities of the action, including the motion relating to the
introduction of parole evidence. However, it must be remembered that opening statements are not

evidence but merely what the parties respectively intend to prove by proper evidence introduced at
trial.

8 At the conclusion of the opening statements counsel for KFC brought the following motion:

THE MOTION IS FOR: a ruling that the following categories of evidence
are inadmissible in this proceeding:

(i)  evidence of the negotiations and drafts leading up to the execution of
the Master Franchise License Agreement and Addendum dated the
1st day of January, 1989 between the Plaintiff and the defendant
Scott's Food Services Inc. (the "License Agreement");

(i)  evidence of either party's actual subjective intention with respect to
the License Agreement;

(iii) evidence of other license and related agreements entered into be-
tween the Plaintiff and other franchisees in Canada;

(iv) evidence of other license and related agreements entered into be-
tween companies associated with the Plaintiff and their franchises in
other countries; and
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(v) evidence in relation to the condition and upgrading of KFC outlets
not owned by the Defendants and therefore not covered by the terms
of the License Agreement.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

(i)  the terms of the License Agreement;

(ii)  the License Agreement is clear and unambiguous and as such, no extrinsic
parol evidence may be admitted to alter, vary, or interpret in any way the
words used in the License Agreement.

9 In support of this motion he referred the court to ss. 18.4 and 18.5 of the licence agreement
between the parties and the discovery evidence of Boyd Simpson (Simpson) who was the principal
negotiator of both the licence agreement and the addendum for Scott's to the effect that the transfer
provisions of the licence agreement are clear and should speak for themselves. He also referred to
the other discovery evidence of Simpson, that the only thing that he was relying on in this transfer
issue was the deletion from an earlier draft of the "deemed transfer" language during negotiations
and his admission that this was a view formed internally at Scott's and that no confirmation of this
view was sought from KFC and that KFC could have a completely different view.

10 All counsel agreed that the pleadings do not give rise to any exceptions to the parol evidence
rule and that this motion does not relate to any claim for rectification, mistake, misrepresentation or
collateral agreement. In fact both parties take the position that the words of the agreement on both
issues are clear and unambiguous. However, they reach opposite conclusions as to their meaning.

11 All counsel for Scott's opposed the motion on the grounds that it was premature and that the
court should not determine the issue of parol evidence in a vacuum and that, in any event, the law is
in an unsatisfactory state and it is difficult to determine what evidence is part of the "factual matrix"
which allows such evidence in certain circumstances.

12 At the conclusion of argument, subject to any further order, I reserved my decision until the
end of trial. I stated that until I had heard all of the factual evidence I believed that it was premature
to give a decision, even if I was so inclined, no matter how desirable it might have been to shorten
the trial. There were no reported cases cited where blanket types of evidence were ruled out in ad-
vance. I stated that to rule on part only of the motion might create arguments during trial as to what
was covered or not covered by my ruling. I stated that by reserving the decision, all of the evidence
would be available for consideration by me at the end of the trial and, in the event that I should err
in my conclusion, by an appellate court. The risk of an erroneous ruling on blanket areas of evi-
dence is far greater than a ruling on an isolated question. The admission of evidence can create no
harm. (see TransCanada Pipelines Ltd. v. Northern & Central Gas Corp. Ltd. 146 D.L.R. (3d) 293 at
298). I accepted that counsel for KFC would be taken to object to all questions relating to the issues
covered by the motion and that he was not waiving his rights by not rising to object to individual
questions. I also stated that either party could raise the issue of unduly lengthening the trial when
the question of costs arose.

13 The motion raised a very important procedural issue because if I had ruled then as [ now
rule on some of the points of law relating to the admissibility of evidence it would have shortened
the trial. At the time I was strongly inclined to rule against any evidence of either parties as to actual
subjective intention with respect to the Licence agreement. To a lesser degree I was inclined to rule
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against the evidence of the negotiations and drafts leading up to the execution of the licence agree-
ment and the addendum. I was not so inclined with respect to items (iii), (iv) and (v) of the motion.

THE LAW

14 I adopt the basic rule of law respecting parol evidence as stated by Professor Fridman in The
Law of Contract in Canada (3d) edition at p. 455 as follows:

The fundamental rule is that if the language of the written contract is clear and
unambiguous, then no extrinsic parol evidence may be admitted to alter, vary, or
interpret in any way the words used in the writing.

Both parties say there is no ambiguity in the words of the licence agreement or the addendum, but
they interpret the contract differently. However it is for the court to determine whether or not there
is any ambiguity, blatant or otherwise. If there is no ambiguity then one of the parties is wrong in its
interpretation.

15 I adopt the purpose of extrinsic evidence set out (in TransCanada Pipeline case), supra, at p.
298 as follows:

The extrinsic evidence is admitted to assist the court to determine if there is
in fact a latent ambiguity in the written document and, if there is, to ascertain
how that ambiguity should be resolved.

16 I also adopt as applicable to this case the first three principles set out in the TransCanada
Pipeline case, supra, at p. 298 as follows:

(1) The extrinsic evidence admitted may establish that there is no latent am-
biguity in the written document relevant to the issue in dispute. In such a case
obviously the written document governs.

(2) The extrinsic evidence may demonstrate that there is a latent ambiguity in
the terms of the written document which are in dispute. Nonetheless, upon a con-
sideration of all the surrounding circumstances, it requires the choice to be made
in favour of the meaning of the agreement which would appear from a reading of
the whole document without any extrinsic evidence to show ambiguity.

(3) The extrinsic evidence establishes that there is a latent ambiguity. How-
ever, a consideration of the surrounding circumstances requires the choice of a
meaning consistent with the words of the document but different from their pa-
tent meaning. The party contending that there is a latent ambiguity must not only
establish that there is such an ambiguity but also resolve that ambiguity by evi-
dence from which the court can find what agreement was made and what the
choice of alternative meanings should be. The party contending for the latent
ambiguity must show that the extrinsic evidence dictates the selection of a
meaning which is generally consistent with the wording of the written document
but different from its patent meaning.
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17 In my opinion the principles set out in the TransCanada Pipeline case in 1983 are not in
conflict with the decision of the same court in 1984 in Craighampton Investments Limited v.
Ayerswood Developments Limited and Lynhurst Estate Limited 4 O.A.C. 124 that approved of the
principles in Indian Molybdenum Ltd. v. The King, [1951] 3 D.L.R. 497 at 502. Those principles in
the Indian Molybdenum case as stated therein are as follows:

Where the language in a contract is clear and unambiguous, it alone can be
looked at to ascertain the intent of the parties. Where, however, as here, the
words are ambiguous, in the sense that they are susceptible of more than one
meaning, evidence of the surrounding circumstances may be admitted, not to
vary, add to, or contradict the terms of the contract, but to enable the Court to
read and construe the language in relation to the facts and circumstances in which
they adopted it to express their intention.

The parties have adduced evidence of the surrounding circumstances. As part
thereof they included declarations and statements of intention made during the
course of negotiations, as well as certain drafts discarded in the process of arriv-
ing at the terms agreed upon and embodied in the letter of September 29, 1942
(to be hereafter further discussed). In Nat'l Bank of Australasia Ltd. v. J. Falk-
ingham & Sons, [1902] A.C. 585, the Privy Council construed the terms of an
assignment and, speaking particularly of the discarded drafts thereof, stated at p.
591: "No claim is made to rectify this deed. The drafts cannot, therefore, properly
be received in evidence to alter its language; still less to explain or assist in the
interpretation of the deed as finally executed."

Not only are such drafts not admissible to assist in the construction of the lan-
guage finally adopted by the parties, but words deleted by the drawing of a line
through them, and this deletion initialled by the parties, cannot be looked at: A.
& J. Inglis v. Jno. Buttery & Co., (1878), 3 App. Cas. 552. These drafts, deleted
words, correspondence and statements made in the course of negotiations are su-
perseded by the language finally adopted by the parties and embodied in the
written agreement to express their common intention. Blackburn on Sale, 3rd ed.,
p. 51: "The general rule seems to be, that all facts are admissible which tend to
show the sense the words bear with reference to the surrounding circumstances
concerning which the words were used, but that such facts as only tend to show
that the writer intended to use words bearing a particular sense are to be reject-
ed." This is an oft-quoted passage: Grant v. Grant (1870), L.R. 5 C.P. 727 at p.
728; Bk. of New Zealand v. Simpson, [1900] A.C. 182 at p. 188; Gt. Western Ry.
and Midland Ry. v. Bristol (1918), 87 L.J. 414 at p. 424.

I agree with the following statements made by Wilson J. in August SPA v. Unisys GSG Canada
Inc., [1995] O.J. No. 1340 (Ontario Court General Division) at paragraphs 43, 44 and 46.

When one speaks of the intention of the parties to a contract, one is speaking ob-
jectively. The parties cannot themselves give direct evidence of what their inten-
tion was. What must be ascertained is what reasonable people would have in-
tended if placed in the situation of the parties. Similarly, in the business context,
when one is speaking of aim or object or commercial purpose, one is speaking
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objectively of what reasonable persons would have had in mind in the situation
of the parties.

Evidence will generally not be admitted to show what were the parties subjective
intentions with respect to the words used. Rarely , this principle will be departed
from.

Evidence of subjective intention is generally not admissible except where cir-
cumstances such as mistake or deceit are alleged.

18 I agree with the principle with respect to the interpretation of contract with the statement in
Arthur Andersen Inc. v. T.D. Bank (1994), 17 O.R. (3d) 363 at 372 as follows:

"First, the words of the contract must be analysed in its factual matrix', and a
conclusion arrived at that there are two possible interpretations of the contract.
Then, and only then, may the trial judge look at other facts, including facts lead-
ing up to the making of the agreement, circumstances existing at the time the
agreement was made, and evidence of subsequent conduct of the parties to the
agreement." [emphasis added)]

19 This is a commercial contract entered into between two sophisticated well-advised parties.
The whole of the agreement should be construed fairly and broadly to ensure that the basic inten-
tions and objects of the contract can be carried out.

20 This principle was stated by Estey J. in Consolidated Bathurst Export Ltd. v. Mutual Boiler
and Machinery Insurance Co. 112 D.L.R. (3d) 49 at 58 as follows:

1.

"The normal rules of construction lead a Court to search for an interpretation
which, from the whole of the contract, would appear to promote or advance the
true intent of the parties at the time of entry into the contract. Consequently, lit-
eral meaning should not be applied where to do so would bring about an unreal-
istic result or a result which would not be contemplated in the commercial at-
mosphere in which the insurance was contracted. Where words may bear two
constructions, the more reasonable one, that which produces a fair result, must
certainly be taken as the interpretation which would promote the intention of the
parties. Similarly, an interpretation which defeats the intentions of the parties and
their objective in entering into the commercial transaction in the first place
should be discarded in favour of an interpretation of the policy which promotes a
sensible commercial result.”

21 In the Craighampton Investments case the Court of Appeal approved the following state-
ment of the trial judge as follows:

"This case obviously demonstrates the practical sense of the parol evi-
dence rule. When equals negotiate at length and arrive at a written agreement
which can be interpreted by itself or by reference to matters which must be taken
to have been known to both of them and which show the sense or meaning that
the words must be taken to have had when the agreement was made, it verges on
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idle activity for a court to rehash the negotiations, activities and conduct of the
parties and hear their now professed expression of what their intentions were at
an earlier time.

22 I reject all subjective evidence of the intention of both parties which I define as any intention
of the parties that were not communicated to the other party. I also find that the various draft docu-
ments are not admissible.

23 I am not unmindful of the provisions of the non waiver clauses of s. 18.4 of the licence
agreement or s. 9.1 of the development agreement. However the relationship between the parties
and the custom in the industry are part of the factual matrix that must be looked at in interpreting
the licencing agreement. Also in this case I believe that evidence of licence agreements entered into
between the plaintiff and other franchisees in Canada and agreements between KFC's associated
companies and franchisees elsewhere are relevant to the custom in the industry. Evidence of the
conditioning and upgrading of KFC corporately owned outlets is also relevant to the claims for
damages and relief from forfeiture and what the standards are for Canada. Much of this evidence is
needed to interpret the addendum.

BACKGROUND

24 In 1969 Hospitality under the name of Scott's' Restaurants Co. Limited entered into a fran-
chise licence agreement dated January 1, 1969, with Col. Sanders Kentucky Fried Chicken Limited
(Colonel Sanders) for KFC outlets in Canada (the 1969 agreement). Subsequently Hospitality ac-
quired other major businesses in the hotel, transportation and photographic industry. It also ex-
panded into other food service businesses. Most of these other businesses were operated separately
as subsidiary companies with Hospitality holding 100% of the shares thereof. As a result of this di-
versification of its overall business Hospitality changed its name to Scott's Hospitality Inc. The
KFC business continued to be operated as part of an unincorporated division of Hospitality. I find
that this unincorporated division was treated by Hospitality in the same manner as its wholly owned
subsidiaries, each with a separate operating management structure. Hospitality acts as an investment
holding company with the power to appoint or remove the officers of the subsidiaries and to require
the subsidiaries to obtain its approval of all major capital expenditures or agreements that could
have a major capital effect upon Hospitality. In other words, Hospitality controlled its food service
division (including Scott's Food) but took no part in its day to day management. The offices of
Scott's Food Services Division were in a different location than those of Hospitality.

25 The 1969 agreement was due to expire on January 1, 1994. It provided for a royalty of $.05
per head of chicken used. There were no share transfer restrictions or enhancement obligations in
that agreement. It did not state that Hospitality's rights were personal to Hospitality and there were
no provisions relating to the ownership of Hospitality or to its shareholders or directors. However,
there was a provision restricting the transfer of the licence or an interest thereunder without the pri-
or written consent of the licensor. The KFC Marks for Canada were owned by Colonel Sanders. All
other world wide KFC marks were owned by Kentucky Fried Chicken Corporation (KFC Corp.)
based in the United States of America. In 1986 Pepsico Inc. (Pepsico) purchased all of the shares of
KFC Corp.

26 In 1987 Colonel Sanders was interested in selling its entire interest in the KFC Marks for
Canada. Prior to this over a period of years both KFC Corp. and Hospitality were interested in ac-
quiring this interest. It is not necessary to recite the details of prior discussion between KFC Corp.
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and Hospitality or other possible purchasers or Hospitality's interest therein. I find that in 1987 there
were discussions between KFC Corp. and Hospitality and it was agreed that Hospitality would not
submit a competing bid on its own against KFC Corp. In exchange it was agreed, that upon comple-
tion of the purchase of the KFC marks for Canada, KFC Corp. would grant Hospitality a 10 year
renewal of the 1969 agreement. In turn the royalty rate payable to KFC would be increased to 1% of
all sales. A letter agreement was signed on July 16, 1987, by persons authorized by both parties set-
ting out the proposed terms of the renewal agreement. Hospitality did not submit a bid and KFC
Corp.'s offer to purchase the KFC Marks for Canada was accepted on July 24, 1987. I accept the
evidence of Ben Orenstein on this issue.

27 While at one time it was argued that this July 16, 1987 letter was a binding agreement, I find
that it was merely an agreement to enter into an agreement. However, Hospitality abstained from
doing something relying upon it. Subsequent negotiations ended up with the execution of the li-
cence agreement and the addendum that are in dispute. I find that once KFC had acquired the Cana-
dian KFC Marks it exerted great pressure on Hospitality which resulted in the present licence
agreement and addendum which do not reflect the simple renewal of the 1967 agreement. To this
extent I find that KFC attempted to treat Hospitality as if it was just another ordinary franchisee and
modified the letter agreement of July 16, 1987, and was not acting in good faith. However, Hospi-
tality was a sophisticated Canadian company faced with the expire of its licence in 1994 and at-
tempted to protect itself with the wording in the licence agreement regarding the transfer and en-
hancement issues.

28 The wording of the agreement was worked out by Franklin Ableman (Ableman) on behalf of
the plaintiff. He was general counsel for KFC Corp. in St. Louis USA. Boyd Simpson (Simpson),
the general counsel for Hospitality, acted for Hospitality. Neither party to this action called as wit-
nesses the persons who signed the agreement and addendum. This is not surprising because they
were merely officers of the parties thereto but had no part in the negotiations of the agreements. The
agreement was negotiated by their parent companies.

29 The addendum was first drafted with the intention that it would be added to the 1967 agree-
ment. However, Ableman convinced Simpson that the language of the 1967 agreement was outdat-
ed and that a new agreement should be entered into with the addendum thereto. Ableman then pre-
sented a draft agreement basically with the wording of the Colonel Sanders 1985 standard franchise
agreement (the 1985 agreement). This was objected to by Simpson. Prior to the sale to KFC Corp.
Hospitality had refused to enter into such an agreement with Colonel Sanders. I find that KFC was
aware of this before the licence agreement was executed. I find that Abelman received this infor-
mation in a copy of a memorandum supplied by Scott's. I do not accept his evidence that he sur-
mised that it was received after the negotiations for the licence agreement were completed. Such a
late receipt would not make any sense.

30 The 1985 agreement was a more sophisticated document than the 1967 agreement and pro-
vided that KFC could require renovations and remodelling to KFC standards and stated that the
franchisee was personal to the franchisee with full disclosure of shareholders, officers and directors
and contained the following restrictions on transfers:

16.2 The Franchisee agrees that it shall not sell, transfer, assign, encumber,
sub-license or otherwise deal with this Agreement or its rights or interest here-
under (hereinafter referred to as "transfer"), and shall not suffer or permit any
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deemed sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement or its rights or interest
hereunder (hereinafter referred to as "deemed transfer" and more particularly de-
fined in paragraph 16.4), without KFC's prior written consent and Franchisee's
compliance in all respects with the terms and conditions of this Paragraph 16.
Any transfer or deemed transfer, or any attempt to do so, contrary to this Para-
graph 16 shall be a breach of this Agreement and shall be void but shall give
KFC the right of termination as provided in paragraph 17.2(d).

16.4 For the purposes of this Paragraph 16, a deemed transfer of this Agreement
or the rights and interest hereunder shall include:

(a) ..

(b) in the event that Franchisee is a corporation, any change (including but without
limitation any issuance, sale, assignment, transfer, redemption or cancellation of,
or conversation of any securities into, voting shares of the corporate Franchisee
or any such other corporation referred to in paragraph 16.1, or any amalgamation,
merger or other reorganization of the corporate Franchisee or any such other
corporation of the holdings of voting shares referred to in paragraph 16.1; pro-
vided that, in the case of any such corporation the voting shares of which are
listed and publicly traded on a stock exchange, no such change in any of the
holdings of its voting shares shall constitute a deemed transfer unless, in the sole
opinion of KFC, direct or indirect control of the corporate Franchisee would
thereby be changed.

It is admitted that clauses 16.2 and 16.4 were standard provisions in all other KFC franchise agree-
ments in Canada from 1985 to 1991. The wording of the provisions of the licence agreement in
question are unique in Canada. The evidence of the expert witnesses relating to standard industry
practice must be reviewed to interpret the licence agreement and addendum.

INDUSTRY PRACTICE

31 KFC called Philip F. Ziedman (Ziedman) and Arthur J. Trebilcock (Trebilcock) and Scott's
called Alexander S. Konigsberg Q.C. (Konigsberg) and Edward N. Levitt (Levitt) as experts on
franchising law and contracts. In my opinion they all agreed on certain basic principles. The only
basic point that I do not accept was Ziedman's evidence that a franchisor can restrict a right to
transfer based on common law or practice. I accept the view of all the other experts, that the right
must be determined by contract. I was not referred to any law that dealt with franchise agreements
other than by contract.

32 The most precious possessions of a franchisor are its trademarks and system. The practice is
to protect these interests in the terms of contracts with its franchisees for the benefit of the franchi-
sor and other franchisees.

33 A franchisor takes care to ensure who are its franchisees. It is concerned about the character,
financial resources, business ability and other business interests of the franchisee. It also wants con-
trol over its franchisee so that the appearance and operation of each franchise outlet is such that the
consumer cannot tell the difference from one outlet to another, whether operated by a franchisee or
the franchisor itself. In the case of a single unit franchisee there is very little that the franchisee can
do to negotiate a change to the standard agreement of the franchisor. These agreements are very
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much to the favour of the franchisor with its principle obligation being to act reasonably in its ac-
tions.

34 The agreements almost universally provide that the franchisee may not transfer or assign the
agreement and include provisions as to transfer similar to s. 16.2 and s. 16.4 of the 1985 agreement.
In the case of a corporation an alternative to these sections is to have a clause or separate agreement
restricting transfer and have the directors and controlling shareholders sign a separate agreement
binding them. It is not usual to expressly provide in an agreement that the agreement can be as-
signed. It is a question of whether the agreement prohibits the transfer. The franchisor wants control
of any transfer to ensure that a transferee is as suitable as the original franchisee, whether it be a
transfer of assets or shares in a corporate franchisee.

35 It is common for the franchisee to be required to comply strictly with the methods and re-
quirements of the system insofar as equipment and operations are concerned. It is also normal to
require that the physical appearance of the buildings conform to the standards of the franchisor and
be upgraded. The upgrading is usually required only at the time of a renewal of the agreement or a
transfer of the agreement. An exception to this is if there has been a change in the trademark when
alterations must be made to comply with it. I accept the evidence of Konigsberg that there was no
industry practice that would grant a franchisor the right to require a franchisee to relocate an outlet
unless it was stated in the franchise agreement.

36 It is normal for there to be a difference in appearance of outlets in the overall system be-
cause there are changes over time and not all outlets will comply with the newest image at a given
time. There was a difference of opinion of the experts as to what percentage of units that do not
comply could be tolerated by a franchisor. This varied from 5% to 20%. This evidence applied to
the entire franchise system and not to any particular franchisee's units. This evidence is relevant to
whether or not there has been a material non-compliance with the terms of any particular agree-
ment.

37 It is most unusual for a franchisee to set the standards or not to be required to meet the fran-
chisor's standards because it is the industry standard that the franchisor has control over the fran-
chisee.

38 To varying degrees the experts acknowledge that parties can negotiate out of the normal
practice of the franchisor's control over transfers depending on the bargaining power of the parties.
Evidence was given of a very few examples of this. None of the experts had seen a situation where
the franchisee had been in operation for a long period of time with about 400 stores representing
about one half of the outlets of the total franchise system at the time that the franchise agreement
had been entered into.

39 Those experts who were asked said that the terms of a grant of franchise operate throughout
the entire term of the licence and did not operate only at the time of execution of the agreement.

SCOTT'S BARGAINING POWER

40 Three of the experts agreed that Scott's was unique in Canada in its circumstances as a fran-
chisee. The licence agreement is a form of development agreement as opposed to a typical unit
franchise agreement. All four experts testified that development agreements are more typically ne-
gotiated and are more likely to depart from a standard form. Abelman agreed that Scott's had bar-
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gaining power at least equal to KFC in the negotiations. Ziedman stated that it was not usual for a
franchisee to have equal bargaining power in negotiating.

41 For these reasons the evidence of the experts as to the usual practice in the industry must be
applied with caution. The words of the licence agreement must be interpreted as to whether they
make commercial sense to the parties against the background of the industry.

42 There were business advantages to KFC in entering into the agreement such as increased
royalties and the removal of the risk that Scott's would not renew the agreement on its expiry in
1994 leaving KFC unrepresented in one half of its outlets in Canada and in many major markets
therein. There were business advantages to Scott's in having an extension of its term of franchise. I
find that Scott's had sufficient bargaining power to negotiate a contract in which there would be no
restriction on the transferability of shares.

43 While it is not directly material to the interpretation of the licence agreement I find that prior
to and at the July 18, 1988 meeting between KFC and Scott's representatives, Ben Orenstein (Oren-
stein) clearly stated that Scott's would not agree to any restriction on changes of ownership in the
licencee. I accept his evidence over that of Abelman, who I find was intent on achieving KFC's
ends. I also find that Abelman knew long before the time of execution of the licence agreement that
the party to the agreement was to be a subsidiary corporation of Hospitality and not Hospitality it-
self. I reject the evidence of Abelman to the contrary. In this regard I rely on the evidence of Simp-
son and Orenstein.

THE AGREEMENT AS EXECUTED

44 The licence agreement and addendum were executed on June 9, 1989. While there is no
disagreement as to the contents of the licence agreement itself or the addendum at the time of exe-
cution there is a disagreement as to the schedules attached to the addendums.

45 There were eight schedules as follows:

Schedule A - Territory
Schedule B - Minimum Development Targets
Schedule C - Evaluation Criteria for Siting of KFC
outlets of licencee
Schedule D - Site Evaluation Document
Schedule E - KFC standard plans and specification
Schedule F - Scott's KFC outlets
Schedule G - Outlet Certification Agreement
Schedule H - Approved Products.

46 Schedule C, D and E were the only ones originally in question. Subsequent to June 9 Abel-
man advised Simpson that Schedule C, D and E needed to be updated to the current versions that
the parties were working on. Scott's' position is that the copy in its possession as signed contained
the agreed Schedules C, D and E and that there was no need to alter them and that they never were
altered. I find that Schedule E as set out in the Scott's' copy of the agreement in exhibit 2, tab 7 is
the schedule in the agreement as executed on June 9, 1989. This schedule states as follows:

The KFC Standard Plans and Specifications for Canada shall be as agreed to by
the parties.
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I also find that Schedules C and D in exhibit 2, tabs 5 and 6, were in the agreement at the time of
execution.

THE TRANSFER ISSUE

47 The position of KFC is that the licence agreement gives it control over the transfer of shares
or assets of not only Scotts Food, but also of Hospitality. The position of Scott's is that it gives no
control over the transfer of either the shares of Scotts Food or Hospitality, but acknowledges that
KFC acting reasonably has control with respect to any sale of assets by Scotts Food. Each party
submits that the clear wording of the executed agreement supports its position. Neither party has
claimed mistake, rectification or undue influence. It is for the court to decide first whether the
agreement is clear and unambiguous and, second, if it is not, what extrinsic evidence may be relied
on to interpret it.

IS HOSPITALITY BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THE LICENCE AGREEMENT?

48 KFC submits that Hospitality and Scott's Food act as a single business enterprise with all
significant financial and strategic decisions for Scott's Food being made at the Hospitality level. It
submits that Hospitality, at all material times, was in such an intimate and immediate domination of
the actions of Scott's Food that Scott's Food had no independent functions or decision making abil-
ity on strategic or contractual issues. It submits that Hospitality is bound in law and in fact to the
terms and conditions of the licence agreement because Scott's Food merely executed the licence
agreement as the alter ego or agent of Hospitality.

49 At the time of execution of the licence agreement on June 9, 1989, Hospitality was the li-
cencee under the 1967 agreement and was operating all of the outlets in Ontario. The outlets in Al-
berta and Quebec were operated through wholly owned subsidiary companies of Hospitality. The
licence agreement was entered into by Scott's Food and backdated to January 1, 1989.

50 On January 1, 1989 and June 9, 1989 Scott's Food was a shell company having no assets or
liabilities. The royalty cheques for the period from January 1, 1989, were paid by "Scott's Food Ser-
vices, a division of Hospitality". The transfer of assets from Hospitality to Scott's Food was made as
of May 1, 1990, but actually did not take place until some time after December 14, 1990. The evi-
dence of Simpson, that I accept, was that it made no practical difference during this time whether
the outlets were operated by Hospitality or its subsidiary, or Scott's Food because "all of the em-
ployees, all of the facilities, all of the money, everything else was identical".

51 The licence agreement was negotiated by officers of Hospitality. Simpson and John Lacey
(Lacey) who were officers of Hospitality gave evidence that the officers of Scott's Food could not
amend the terms of the licence agreement without the approval of Hospitality. The president of
Scott's Foods needed the approval of Hospitality to make any capital expenditures other than those
within a small discretionary amount. The president of Scott's Food reported to the president of
Scott's Food Services Division of Hospitality who, based on the evidence of Lacey, had the ultimate
responsibility for the day to day operations of Scott's Food. I do not accept this as meaning that he
actually operated Scott's Food on a daily basis. The officers of Hospitality were the persons who
discussed with KFC any major alterations to the relationship between the parties such as purchase
of new outlets (see Lacey's evidence re the Canadian Development agreement and Frezzo's evi-
dence re the transfer of Quebec companies). These negotiations were with officers of the parent
company KFC and not with officers of KFC. The day to day operations of Scott's Food were carried
on by its own officers and employees and routine dealing at the operation level with KFC were car-
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ried on by them. The major decisions were made at the level of KFC International and Hospitality.
All other dealings were between KFC and Scott's Food. Both sides knew that the licence agreement
was between KFC and Scott's Food. Hospitality was basically a holding company with between 15
to 20 employees and Scott's Food had over 5,000 employees.

ALTER EGO

52 If Hospitality is to be the alter ego of Scott's Food the corporate veil of Scott's Food must be
lifted. The law relating to lifting the corporate veil is set out in Aluminium Co. of Canada Ltd. v.
Toronto, [1944] 3 D.L.R. 609 at 614 as follows:

The question, then, in each case, apart from formal agency which is not present
here, is whether or not the parent company is in fact in such an intimate and im-
mediate domination of the motions of the subordinate company that it can be said
that the latter has, in the true sense of the expression, no independent functioning
of its own.

53 Earlier in the Aluminium decision it was stated that even if there is no independent function
found, that for other purposes the subsidiary may be legally entitled to be dealt with.

54 In Tridont Leasing (Canada) Ltd. v. Saskatoon Market Mall Ltd., [1995] 24 B.L.R. (2d) 105
at p. 113 the Saskatchewan Court of Appeal referred to this domination as being to the extent that
both corporations "constitute one common unit".

55 In Nedco Ltd. v. Clark, [1973] 6 W.W.R. 425 at p.433 the Saskatchewan Court of Appeal
held that the facts of each case must be looked at. It found that the wholly owned subsidiary had
been incorporated to take over what had been formerly a division of the parent company and that it
was controlled, directed and dominated by the parent and was an integral component of the parent.

56 In Gregorio v. Intrans Corp. (1994), 18 O.R. (3d) 527 at 536 the Ontario Court of Appeal
stated as follows:

Generally, a subsidiary, even a wholly owned subsidiary, will not be found to be
the alter ego of its parent unless the subsidiary is under complete control of the
parent and is nothing more than a conduit used by the parent to avoid liability.
The alter ego principle is applied to prevent conduct akin to fraud that would
otherwise unjustly deprive the claimants of their rights.

57 The problem is how to apply this law to the present case. I have no difficulty in finding that
Scott's Food is under the complete control of Hospitality for the principle purposes of the licence
agreement even though it exists as a separate legal entity for other purposes. However, KFC knew
this in advance and chose to execute the agreement with the subsidiary. KFC did not request that
Hospitality sign or guarantee the licence agreement which would have been in accordance with
normal industry practice. I cannot say that there was conduct akin to fraud or any act that would
unjustly deprive the claimants of their rights.

58 While I am not aware of any case that deals with the situation where a subsidiary company
has been held liable for the acts of its parent company, the principle of "alter ego" is that the two
companies are to be treated as one and the same. For this reason the principle of "alter ego" could
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apply to the present case. However, I do not find that Hospitality is the alter ego of Scott's Food or

vice versa.
AGENCY

59 The law of agency was expressed in Smith, Stone & Knight Ltd. v. City of Birmingham,
[1939] All E.R. 116 with respect to when a subsidiary corporation would be held to be the agent of
its parent. The six factors set out are as follows:

(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
®

whether the profits were treated as profits of the parent or the subsidiary;
whether the individuals involved in the day to day operations were ap-
pointed by the parent;

whether the parent corporation was the brains behind the day to day opera-
tion;

whether the parent corporation made policy and financial decisions that
were merely carried out by the subsidiary;

whether the profits were directly traceable to the skill and direction of the
parent;

whether control by the parent was constant, as would be the case in a typi-
cal principal agent situation, or merely periodic and long range, as might
occur in a typical corporation shareholder situation.

60 I make the following comments with respect to each of the items:

(2)

(b)

(©)

the profits of Scott's Food were treated in a consolidated balance sheet of
Hospitality as the profits of Hospitality. There was no evidence that in fact
all profits of Scott's Food were automatically syphoned off to Hospitality
as opposed to being left within Scott's Food for its own operations.

while there was evidence that the president of Scott's Food services, a sub-
sidiary of Scott's Hospitality was appointed by Hospitality and that the
president of Scott's Food was appointed by Hospitality all other employees
of Scott's Food were appointed by the president of Scott's Food and it was
these latter persons who were primarily involved in the day to day opera-
tions of Scott's Food.

while officers of Hospitality were the brains behind many of the long range
strategy and plans of the company, the day to day operations were not
conducted by Hospitality and therefore Hospitality was clearly not the
brains behind the day to day operations. In fact Hospitality was the owner
of wholly owned subsidiaries that operated North America's third largest
school bus business, North America's largest chain of franchise Chinese
Food restaurant, a one hundred store pizza chain in the United Kingdom
and a large collection of highway travel centres and at one time the entire
Blacks Photography chain. It was also the largest franchise group of Holi-
day Inns and a substantial hotel chain in the U.K. It is inconceivable to say
that Hospitality was the brains behind the day to day operations of Scott's
Food or any other of its subsidiaries, particularly when Scott's Food itself
had over 5,000 staff of its own conducting the day to day operations.
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(d) Hospitality through its president at all times made the major policy and fi-
nancial decisions that were carried out by Scott's Food. In my mind this is
not indicative of agency because this is normal practice for all parent cor-
porations to impose levels of fiscal discipline on the operations of its sub-
sidiaries and overall policy criteria.

(e)  while Hospitality made all major policy, financial, capital spending and
other important decisions, it cannot be said that the profits of Scott's Foods
are directly traceable to the skill and direction of Hospitality because the
operation of 400 outlets with 5,000 employees working on a day to day ba-
sis are at least equal to the skills of the Hospitality executives, and there-
fore it cannot be said that the profits are directly traceable to the skill and
direction of Hospitality alone.

(f)  The question of control is one of degree. Hospitality had control over
Scott's Food with respect to long range strategy decisions and its budget,
but the evidence of Frezzo on behalf of KFC was that operational matters
were dealt with between Frezzo himself or other executives of KFC Cana-
da and the operational personnel who were Scott's Food employees such as
George Heos and others. Hospitality's control over Scott's Food has been
constant in the sense of budget and strategy might occur in a typical parent
corporation and subsidiary.

61 I do not find that Scott's Food was the agent of Hospitality. If there was any agency it was
Hospitality acting as agent for Scott's Food in negotiating the licence agreement just as KFC Inter-
national was acting as agent to KFC Canada in negotiating the agreement.

62 For these reasons I find that Scott's Food was neither the alter ego nor agent of Hospitality.

63 I also find that Hospitality did not induce Scotts Food to breach the contract. In fact, it ap-
proved the expenditure of millions of dollars to upgrade outlets after this litigation commenced.

TERMINATION FOR BREACH OF KFC'S RIGHTS ON TRANSFER

64 KFC claims that Scott's Food is in breach of the agreement on three occasions and that KFC
is entitled to terminate the agreement as a result of any one of these breaches. The breaches alleged
are as follows:

1. In 1989 and 1990 by allowing Hospitality, Acadia (Hospitality's subsidiary
company in Alberta) and Scott's Quebec (Hospitality's subsidiary company
in Quebec) to use the KFC Marks and KFC Systems without authorization.

2. The first Laidlaw transaction
3. The second Laidlaw transaction.
1.  THE 1989 AND 1990 OCCURRENCE
65 The licence agreement was executed on June 9, 1989, retroactive to January 1, 1989. In my

opinion Scott's Food did not have the express right to authorize the use of the KFC Marks or KFC
Systems by anyone other than itself. As stated earlier, Hospitality and its subsidiaries continued to
use the Marks and Systems until Hospitality sold its outlets to Scott's Food as of May 1, 1990, or
some later date when the transfer was actually completed. This would be a clear breach of the
agreement.
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66 However, KFC cannot be heard to say that there was a breach of the agreement for the peri-
od from January 1, 1989, to June 9, 1989. The agreement itself provided for this retroactive activity.
It knew that Hospitality and its subsidiary companies were operating the outlets and using the
Marks during that period under the 1967 agreement. It received royalty cheques from a division of
Hospitality and not Scott's Food until May 1, 1990. In my opinion it was objectively obvious that
Scott's had to reorganize to implement the licence agreement and this could not be done instantane-
ously. While it may have taken Scott's longer to reorganize than expected there was no evidence of
any damages resulting to KFC and no such damages were claimed. In fact this allegation resulted by
an amendment to the statement of claim after the commencement of the action. Admittedly, it was
based on the fact that KFC did not know the details of the transfer to Scott's Food until the discov-
eries and productions in the action. However, this does not detract from the necessary implications
to the agreement itself.

67 Even if KFC did not know the actual state of Scott's Food's assets during this period or the
facts of the reorganization it must be inferred that they acquiesced in the principle of the reorganiza-
tion taking time. No notice was given of any breach because the details were not known until after
this action was commenced. I do not think that clause 18.4 of the agreement applies in the circum-
stance, but even if it does relief from forfeiture for such breach is hereby granted for the above rea-
sons and the fact that there is no evidence that KFC suffered any damages therefrom.

2. THE FIRST LAIDLAW TRANSACTION

68 By September 1995 Hospitality had sold some of its subsidiary companies and remained
only in the restaurant business (including KFC) and the bus business. Based on the evidence of
Lacey, I find that from 1994 there were discussions between Lacey and KFC representatives re-
garding the future relationship between KFC and Scott's because neither party was entirely pleased
with the relationship. On January 24, 1996, Lacey met with David Novak (Novak) of KFC and
proposed that Scott's buy KFC's corporate outlets in Canada and that Scott's develop Taco Bell in
Canada in order for Scott's to grow and improve its business. Novak was to respond to Lacey in
March 1996. Also in January 1996 Lacey met with a representative of Ryder Bus Lines operations
to explore the possible purchase by Hospitality of Ryder's bus operations. Ryder was not interested
in selling but was interested in the possible merger of the two companies' bus operations. Lacey was
not interested in selling its bus operation because of a potential $90 million tax liability.

69 I accept the evidence of James Bullock the president and CEO of Laidlaw Inc. (Laidlaw)
that he unsolicitedly approached Michael Gardiner (Gardiner) the controlling shareholder of Fair-
water in January 1996 with a view to purchasing all of the shares of Hospitality. Gardiner referred
Bullock to Lacey and other officers of Hospitality but this did not occur until late in January. With-
out any involvement on the part of Scott's, Laidlaw had arrived at an agreement with A & W Food
Services of Canada Inc. (A & W) for A & W to purchase Scott's Food from Laidlaw after its suc-
cessful takeover of Hospitality. Laidlaw advised Scott's that it had a food partner but did not dis-
close the name until some time later during negotiations on price. These price negotiations took
place during February and March.

70 I find that prior to the Laidlaw offer no properly authorized person on behalf of Hospitality
had ever attempted to sell Scott's Food with exception of such possibility in negotiations with KFC
of it being sold to KFC.
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71 During March 1996 Hospitality attempted to engineer a situation in which KFC would have
the opportunity to participate in a competing bid jointly with Ryder against Laidlaw. KFC refused
to participate and advised Hospitality that any sale of Hospitality shares required the approval of
KFC and that KFC had a right of first refusal and that any purchaser of Hospitality or Scott's Food
would be required to execute a new franchise agreement including an amendment with respect to
current royally terms. These current royalty terms were 6% of sales versus the 1.7% of sales under
the 1989 agreement.

72 The share price ultimately agreed to between Laidlaws and Hospitality was $14 per share for
a total price of approximately $803 million. The value attributed to Scott's Food between Laidlaw
and A & W was approximately $200 million. I find that on April 2, 1996, John Cahill on behalf of
KFC indicated that it would be interested in purchasing Scott's Food. At a subsequent meeting on
April 9, 1996, he proposed that Scott's wind down its KFC businesses by breaking it up and selling
it off to other franchisees in small groupings. This made no economic sense to Hospitality and was
rejected. KFC indicated that it preferred to have Scott's exit the KFC business.

73 On April 9, 1996, Laidlaw entered into a tender offer agreement with Hospitality and a
lockup agreement with Fairwater. The bid was publicly announced. This offer contained a condition
that Laidlaw be satisfied that there was no impediment to Laidlaw disposing of the shares of Scott's
Food to A & W and that Scott's Food's rights under the 1989 licence agreement would be unaffected
by such disposition.

74 Lacey advised KFC immediately in advance of the public announcement of the Laidlaw of-
fer. By letter of April 23, 1996 KFC advised Scott's that it believed that the proposed sale was in
violation of the transfer provisions of the licence agreement and raised the issue that Scott's was in
breach of the remodelling and upgrading obligations under the licence agreement and addenda.

75 Scott's brought an application to court for a declaration as to the effect of par.16 of the li-
cence agreement. KFC commenced the present action. The proceedings were consolidated and
Winkler J. refused to split the issues of transfer and enhancement. As a result the first Laidlaw
transaction could not be completed within its time frame.

3. THE SECOND LAIDLAW TRANSACTION

76 Scott's then proposed and Laidlaw accepted a transaction whereby Hospitality would sell to
Laidlaw all of its business other than the KFC business and the travel centre business operated by
Scott's Management Services Inc. (SMSI). The second Laidlaw offer was then made and completed.
The second Laidlaw transaction was implemented as follows:

1. The tender offer was amended to provide the alternative method of satis-
fying the transfer condition in the first tender offer and was for Hospitality
to dividend out Scott's Food and SMSI shares to the existing shareholders
of Hospitality prior to Laidlaw closing its takeover bid.

2. The value to be placed on the KFC and the travel centre businesses to be
dividended out and therefore the value to be deducted from the original
$14 per share offer was the value assigned to those businesses pursuant to
the agreement between Laidlaw and A & W.

3.  Hospitality intended this to satisfy the transfer condition by having its ex-
isting shareholders step into the shoes of A & W.
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4. A new holding company Scott's Restaurants Inc. (SRI) was incorporated as
a subsidiary of Hospitality. This company duplicated the share structure
and voting provisions of Hospitality in SRI.

5. The shares of Scott's Food and shares of SMSI and the real estate and other
physical assets of Hospitality that were used by Scott's Food and SMSI in-
cluding $30 million in cash were transferred by Hospitality to SRI in ex-
change for shares of SRI.

6.  The shares of SRI were then dividended to the shareholders of Hospitality.

7. The shares of Hospitality were then purchased from the shareholders of
Hospitality by Laidlaw for a price of $10.25 per share being the original
offer price of $14 less the value attributed to the dividend of SRI shares.

77 Hospitality kept KFC fully informed of the proposed transaction, but KFC continued its op-
position to it. KFC did not attempt to enjoin the second Laidlaw transaction, but it instructed its
counsel to seek to impede the transaction by writing to he Ontario Securities Commission to protest
the form of the Scott's Director Circulars regarding the transaction. Neither Pepsi or KFC were
shareholders of SHI and these complaints were without merit and were not acted upon by the On-
tario Securities Commission.

78 There was no evidence introduced by KFC of any damages suffered as a result either of the
alleged 1989 breach, the first Laidlaw transaction or the second Laidlaw transaction.

79 In March 1996 when KFC was first advised that Hospitality was considering selling its in-
terest in the KFC outlets. KFC advised Hospitality that any sale or transfer of shares or assets would
require the written consent of KFC and that KFC would be provided with an opportunity to exercise
its right of first refusal under paragraph 16 of the licence agreement. Hospitality took the position
that the licence agreement applied only to the sale of assets and did not apply to the sale of shares of
either Hospitality or Scott's Food. I find that the positions taken both by KFC and Hospitality were
reasonable in light of their respective interpretations of the licence agreement. In neither the first or
second Laidlaw transactions did Hospitality request the approval of KFC or grant it the right of first
refusal. I find that the directors and officers of Hospitality did everything they could to facilitate the
first Laidlaw transaction.

80 In construing the licence agreement, I agree with the comments of Then J. in Buildevco Ltd.
v. Monarch Construction Ltd. (1990), 73 O.R. (2d) 627 at 633 as follows:

The Court must not deviate from the literal force of a particular expression if the
intention of the parties is clearly and unequivocally expressed, unless such clear
intention is plainly controlled or contradicted by other parts of the instrument.
(See Chitty on Contracts, A.G. Guest, ed. 25th ed. (London: Sweet & Maxwell),
1983, vol. 1, at p. 521, Odgers, Construction of Deeds and Statutes, 5th ed.
(London: Sweet & Maxwell, 1967), at p. 56). Thus, unless the court finds from
other parts of the contract expressions which show that the parties could not have
had the intention which the literal force of the particular expression would im-
pute to he parties, the court is bound to give effect to the clear intention ex-
pressed in he particular words.
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The general rule is that the words in a contract are to be given their plain, literal
and ordinary meaning. In the absence of ambiguity, it is the plain meaning that is
to be adopted in interpreting the contract. In a commercial contract the words
must be construed in a business fashion and in accordance with business com-
mon sense so as to avoid any interpretation that would result in commercial ab-
surdity. (See Chitty on Contracts, supra, at p. 518; Toronto v. W.H. Hotel Ltd.
[1966] S.C.R. 434, 56 D.L.R. (2d) 539)

81 Section 2.2 of the Licence Agreement refers to the continued uniformity of the KFC's Sys-
tem and Marks and KFC's present and future requirements regarding use of such System and Marks.
It also states that the rights granted are for a limited time. Section 3.1 grants Scott's Food the right to
use the System and Marks during the licence term which in the Addendum is set out to be at least
until December 31, 2003. Clearly the grant is not only for a second in time when the document was
signed.

82 Section 16.1 states that the grant is personal to Scott's Food and is based upon full disclosure
to, and approval by, KFC of all directors and holders of the majority control of the voting shares of
Scott's Food and any corporations that own or control or have an interest in the shares of Scott's
Food. At the time of execution of the Licence Agreement, KFC did not request and Scott's Food did
not provide such disclosure. By virtue of s. 18.4 this does not preclude KFC's rights. At the time
KFC had had lengthy dealings with Hospitality and had been assured that Scott's Food was a wholly
owned subsidiary of Hospitality (as it was in fact). KFC knew that Hospitality was a public compa-
ny listed on stock exchangers. It also knew the directors of Hospitality and that Gardner was the
controlling shareholder of Hospitality through Fairwater. In s. 16.1 Scott's Food acknowledged that
the restrictions were reasonable and necessary to protect the KFC System and Marks and were for
the benefit and protection of all KFC licencees as well as KFC.

83 It should be borne in mind that the Licence Agreement provides for Scott's Food having ac-
cess to trade secrets and confidential practices that are proprietary to KFC. In accordance with the
evidence of all expert witnesses, the franchisor is concerned with whom it is dealing and whether
such person is a competitor and that it is normal in the industry that the franchisor has a right to ap-
prove a transferee as a matter of good business sense.

84 In my opinion the disclosure and approval of the directors and holders of majority control
would be meaningless unless it was a continuing obligation and not merely at the time of execution.
Based on good business sense section 16.1 must be construed as being a continuing obligation.

85 Section 16.2 prohibits Scott's Food from transferring, or otherwise dealing with the Licence
Agreement without consent and Section 16.3 and 16.4 deal with the procedure if a bona fide offer to
purchase is received from a third party.

86 Counsel for Scott's concedes that if Scott's Food were to sell or receive an offer for the
franchise agreement itself, or any one or more individual outlets, that section 16 would apply. They
refer to this as an asset sale. However, their position is that section 16 has no application to the
transfer of the shares of Scott's Food itself or the transfer of the controlling shares of Hospitality.
They refer to this as a share sale.

87 From the parole evidence of Orenstein it is clear that Hospitality was concerned about its
position as a public company and the normal public trading of its shares and the possibility of a
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change of control of it. KFC was not prepared to waive its position that it should have a right of ap-
proval of any change of control. Orenstein told Mr. Meyer of KFC International that Hospitality
would find an entity that would satisfy both of them with regards to signing the Agreement. The
drafting of the Licence Agreement was left to Ableman and Simpson. Ableman obviously felt that
he had protected KFC's position by section 16 and Simpson felt that he had protected Hospitality's
position by having a subsidiary, Scott's Food, execute the Agreement. It is for this court to deter-
mine from the words of the Agreement who succeeded and to what extent.

88 In my opinion there is nothing in section 16 that prohibits or gives the right of approval to
KFC of trading of shares of Scott's Food or Hospitality provided that there is no issue of a change of
control.

89 There are no clearly expressed words requiring the approval of KFC to any transfer of the
shares of Scott's Food or its controlling shareholders. However section 16.1 referring to the grant
being personal and the reference to the directors and holders of majority control of the shares of
Scott's Food and the broad reference to any other corporations with control make it clear that any
transfer of the controlling shares of Scott's Food or Hospitality are subject thereto. To interpret the
section otherwise would defeat the personal aspect and not make good business sense and would be
contrary to the generally accepted practice in the franchise industry.

90 For these reasons section 16 was applicable to the first Laidlaw transaction. This transaction
was made conditional upon KFC approving the transfer of the Scott's Food shares to A & W after
Laidlaw acquired Hospitality or Laidlaw being satisfied that no approval from KFC was required.
While KFC indicated that it would consider an approval upon terms, no approval was given and this
action was commenced. The transfer to Laidlaw under the first Laidlaw transaction was not made.
However, an attempt to transfer the Agreement was made and under the provisions of section 16.2
there was a breach of the Agreement and KFC has the right to terminate the Agreement under para-
graph 17.2(d) subject to any claim for relief from forfeiture.

THE SECOND LAIDLAW TRANSACTION

91 After this action was commenced it became obvious that the condition in the first Laidlaw
transaction could not be met within a reasonable time. Scott's then proposed an amendment which
was agreed to by Laidlaw and resulted in the second Laidlaw transaction. Scott's took the position
that no approval of KFC was required and proceeded with the transaction. KFC advised Scott's that
it was opposed to it and would do all in its power to stop it. Notwithstanding this the second
Laidlaw transaction was completed.

92 For the reasons stated with respect to the first Laidlaw transaction, section 16 of the Licence
Agreement is applicable. Therefore, KFC has the right to terminate the Agreement under para-
graph's 17.2(d) subject to any claim for relief from forfeiture. No Notice of Termination has been
given and no claim is made in this action for a declaration that the Agreement is terminated.

93 I wish to comment on an additional point. SRI has the identical corporate structure as Hos-
pitality with the same shareholders, directors, officers and employees. It has the same assets as
Scott's Food. The only difference is that it does not have Hospitality as its parent company. In con-
sidering an approval of a transfer or in effect the approval of a new franchisee, KFC must act rea-
sonably. One of the items that a franchisor may consider is the financial viability of the new fran-
chisee. The evidence is that Hospitality had very substantial cash assets that it could make available
to Scott's Food. SRI has only approximately $30 million in available funds. This seems to be a great
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difference but KFC had no assurance that Hospitality would in fact make the funds available to
Scott's Food. In fact in 1995 and 1996 I find that Hospitality was making fewer funds available to
Scott's Food as will be described under the enhancement portion of these reasons. However, be-
cause KFC was never asked for its approval of a transfer and no financial statements of SRI have
been made available to KFC or filed in this court, I am not prepared to make a decision as to what
would be the reasonable thing for KFC to do if it had been requested to approve a transfer.

94 KFC has asked in the alternative for a declaration that it is entitled to terminate the Licence
Agreement as a matter of equity or law by reason of the conduct of Scott's in relation to the first
Laidlaw transaction and/or the second Laidlaw transaction. I reject this claim. Counsel for KFC ar-
gues that Scott's could either sell the shares of Scott's Food to SRI or sell the assets to SRI and that
it chose the share sale in an attempt to avoid its obligations to KFC. They rely on part of a memo-
randum (Exhibit 1 - 14, Tab. 672) indicating that Gardner wanted a file to indicate that Laidlaw in-
sisted on the share sale route and Lacy's evidence in relation thereto as indication that Scott's was
acting in bad faith. This reference is mere speculation. In any event it is not sufficient evidence of
bad faith bearing in mind the overwhelming evidence of the belief of Scott's throughout that it had
the right to do as it did under the Licence Agreement. The fact that Scott's chose a route that it be-
lieved that it had as opposed to a route that it acknowledges that it did not have is not an act of bad
faith.

95 Having found that KFC had a right of approval over the transfer in he first and second
Laidlaw transactions, the submissions of counsel for Scott's as to KFC's obligation to exercise such
approval reasonable and in good faith must be considered. Counsel for KFC rightly concedes that
KFC when considering consent to approve a prospective purchaser must act reasonably and in good
faith. However, there is not sufficient evidence covering all the detailed matters that KFC would
have to take into consideration for this court to declare what should be considered, let alone to de-
clare whether or not a hypothetical decision would be reasonable and in good faith.

RELIEF FROM FORFEITURE

96 In view of my findings with respect to the first and second Laidlaw transactions I must con-
sider Scott's alternative claim for relief from forfeiture.

97 The principles involved are set out in Saskatchewan River Bungalows Ltd. v. Maritime Life
Insurance Co. (1994), 115 D.L.R. (4th) 478 as follows:

The Power to grant relief against forfeiture is an equitable remedy and is purely
discretionary. The factors to be considered by the court in the exercise of its dis-
cretion are the conduct of the applicant, the gravity of the breaches, and the dis-
parity between the value of the property forfeited and the damage caused by the
breach.

98 In my opinion Scott's knowingly committed what has turned out to be a breach of the Li-
cence Agreement on these transactions. Scott's is a large, sophisticated corporation acting with legal
advice. It made a decision to adopt a particular course of action knowing that a court could find
against it on the interpretation of the Licence Agreement. The action was not taken unknowingly,
unwittingly or unavoidably. Relief from forfeiture is not an insurance policy in the event that a party
takes a chance on its interpretation of an essential term of its contractual rights and loses.
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99 The conduct of KFC in vigorously opposing what it considered to be a breach of the Licence
Agreement by the first and second Laidlaw transactions was not exceptional or unconscionable.
There is no valid reason to grant relief from forfeiture under section 98 of the Courts of Justice Act,
R.S.0. 1990, c. 43 and such is refused with respect to these transactions.

KFC MOTIVATION

100 Scott's raised the issue of KFC's motive for bringing this action and in particular the claims
relating to the enhancement issue. Their counsel rightly concedes that motivation is irrelevant to the
interpretation of the contract relating to the transfer issue. In my opinion it is also irrelevant to the
interpretation of the contract relating to the enhancement issue. However they allege that it is rele-
vant in considering equitable relief, damages, relief from forfeiture, the credibility of witnesses and
the bona fide's of KFC's arguments regarding various issues. While motivation may be relevant in
some of the purposes mentioned by Scott's' counsel, the evidence must be such that it actually af-
fects those purposes and be considered only as one element therein. KFC's alleged motive was to
acquire Scott's Food operations at a price that Scott's considered to be inadequate.

101 I am satisfied that from 1991 KFC wanted to acquire Scott's outlets so that it could increase
its royalty revenue. From its own internal memoranda KFC was not willing to pay a fair price for
such outlets. KFC wanted to terminate its relationship with Scott's. It refused to cooperate with
Scott's in considering an alternative proposed by Scott's to the First Laidlaw Transaction. I am satis-
fied that KFC believed that blocking the Laidlaw Transactions was in its best financial interest. In
other words KFC had a motive in bringing the present action. However regardless of its motive,
KFC is entitled to any relief that it is entitled to under the licence agreement and addendum.

102 I have considered this motive in assessing the credibility witnesses and the other items
raised by counsel for Scott's.

ENHANCEMENT ISSUE

103 At the time of execution schedule E provided as follows:

"The KFC Standard Plans and Specifications for Canada shall be as agreed to by
the parties."

104 I accept the evidence of Paul Lollar (Lollar) that World Wide Image (WWI ) had been dis-
cussed with Scott's as early as 1987. WWI was a major change of image of the exterior, interior and
equipment of all KFC outlets. I accept the evidence of Simpson that he had no dispute with the
proposition that KFC wanted all KFC outlets to be WWI outlets and that Scott's had no objection to
the appearance of the outlets and the image elements as WWI. Scott's was concerned with the larger
size of the new WWI outlet and KFC requirement that service options be added. Most of Scott's
outlets were on small lots and did not have seats or drive through (service options). Scott's was fa-
miliar with the WWTI in the United States of America where it owned and operated many outlets.
Scott's was also concerned that KFC wanted it to relocate some stores. I accept the evidence of
Orenstein that apart from concerns about economic viability, Scott's recognized that it had to meet
WWI enhancement standards as long as they would be cosmetic changes to existing outlets to be
recognizable as KFC outlets for some uniformity.

105 I find that Abelman and Simpson left the task of negotiating and agreeing on standards to
the companies respective operations personnel. Lollar was the only operations level individual in-
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volved in the negotiation of the enhancement standards who testified at trial. No such operations
personnel gave evidence on behalf of Scott's and no reasons were given by Scott's for many of them
being unavailable to give such evidence. I, therefore, accept Lollar's evidence that an agreement had
been reached in 1989 prior to the execution of the agreements that WWI would be implemented
across the Scott's system in Canada. In fact, Scott's had built four new outlets in Alberta in 1988 in
compliance with or in excess of WWI standards. There was evidence of such acceptance of the op-
erating concept by Scott's in the letter of March 22, 1989, from Mr. Brunet to the President of KFC
(Exhibit 1-2, tab 76). This letter contained some concerns with respect to refinements to protect
Scott's financial concerns but really accepted the WWI standards. I accept Lollar's evidence that the
agreed enhancement standards were contained in KFC's 1989 manual which had been agreed to by
operations personnel of the two parties and included various examples of building designs (but not
all) for remodelling and upgrading of various types of outlets (i.e. in-line and free standing) with
various service options and also a take-out only outlet. I find that the enhancement models were
based in part on the 1200 square foot outlets that represented the majority of Scott's outlets at the
time.

106 I accept the evidence of Abelman that at the time of execution of the agreements on June 9,
1989, that Schedule E was not in final form and that it was agreed that he and Simpson would final-
ize this after the execution. The fact that sec. 4.3 of the addendum refers to standards that "have
been agreed" shows that those standards had at least been substantially agreed to and the parties
knew it. I accept Abelman's evidence, over that of Simpson, that he and Simpson exchanged corre-
spondence and telephone calls between June 9 and June 20, 1989, which resulted in a final Schedule
E being inserted into the agreement on June 20, 1989, which was agreed to and inserted into that
agreement at that time. This Schedule E (Exhibit 2-11) included the 1989 manual which is Exhibit
1-13, tab 606. After June 20, 1989, there were no further discussions with respect to schedules.

107 Exhibit 2-11 provides as follows:
KFC STANDARD PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS

KFC Standard Plans for Canada are referred to under Article 4.3 of the Adden-
dum. In this respect the document attached hereto entitled Kentucky Fried
Chicken Facility Direction manual contains the basic standards for some types of
Kentucky fried Chicken Outlets. Detailed design control Standard Plans for var-
ious types of units shall be submitted for review and agreement by the parties
following which they will be initialed and deemed to be made part of this Sched-
ule.

108 Schedule E acknowledges that not all of the potential building designs are listed in the di-
rection manual, and that various other types may be agreed upon and added. I find that Exhibit 1-13,
tab 606, was the agreement of the parties and that there was no need for anything more to be done in
writing to implement it because sec. 7.2 of the Development Agreement did not require them to be
in writing.

109 After the execution of the agreements, with certain exceptions that will be noted, Scott's
performed its upgrading in accordance with the 1989 manual and subsequently with the standard
KFC 1990 manual as updated from time to time. While there is no evidence that Scott's agreed to
the additions in the 1990 manual in advance, nor that it initialled them, in practice it followed them
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without complaint except for the degree of service options and the extent of work that had to be
done within the standards. The same applies to the regular updates revising the 1990 manual.

110 I do not need to comment of the 1995 limited image enhancement guide because KFC has
never attempted to force it upon Scott's and Scott's has never used it.

111 Scott's never adopted or used any other standards than those in the KFC manuals. This is
indicative of the fact that it knew what the standards were. The only difference of view was the ex-
tend to which the standards were to be applied.

112 Over the years Scott's upgraded some outlets fully to WWI standards and received Outlet
Certification Agreements (OCAs) for them as contemplated by 5.6 of the Addendum. In other cases
it substantially upgraded outlets to WWI standards and later performed extra work on them to fully
comply and then received OCAs therefore. In many cases Scott's did not upgrade the outlets to
WWI standards. In 1995 and 1996 it did not complete work to fully comply with the WWI stand-
ards on all its outlets. An OCA grants a licence term of 15 years from the effective date thereof and
increases the royalties payable after December 31, 2003. It also obligates Scott's to fully remodel
and upgrade the facility again between the 7th and 10th year thereof.

113 At least as early as August 1991 at a meeting held at the Royal Canadian Yacht Club both
KFC and Scott's knew the other party's respective interpretation of the License Agreement and ad-
dendum. At that meeting, held one month after Scott's had sold all of its US outlets to KFC, KFC
advised Scott's that it was in breach of its enhancement obligations. That is, that KFC felt that
Scott's was not upgrading its outlets to the required full WWI standards and obtaining OCAs there-
fore in sufficient numbers to comply with the agreement. Scott's felt that it had no obligation to up-
grade its outlets fully to WWI standards provided that it upgraded ten percent of its outlets in each
year and spent $6 million thereon in each year. Notwithstanding this known disagreement, the par-
ties cooperated in the upgrading and approval of outlets at an operations level.

114 Part of the agreement to sell Scott's U.S. outlets to KFC was that the parties would enter
into an agreement with respect to Scott's acquiring additional Canadian outlets.

115 On July 1, 1991, KFC and Scott's Food entered into a letter agreement (the Canadian De-
velopment Agreement) in which KFC agreed that it would not exercise its rights of first refusal un-
der its franchise agreements with other franchisees and would allow Scott's to acquire a specified
number of outlets. In fact Scott's acquired 26 additional outlets under this agreement. The Canadian
Development Agreement (exhibit 1-4, tab 224) provided that Scott's rights to acquire was subject to
material compliance by Scott's with the terms and conditions of the licence agreement and the ad-
dendum as they both may be amended from time to time and the annual business plan, if any, to be
jointly developed by them for each year of the letter agreement. The agreement also contained the
following paragraph 4:

The letter agreement may not be transferred or assigned in whole or in part by
you whether by way of sale of stock or assets, merger transfer or ownership of
control, operation of law, or otherwise without prior approval of KFC -C.

116 Lacey admitted that paragraph 4 is consistent with the views expressed to him by KFC as
to its rights under the licence agreement, but he did not admit that the licence agreement actually
provided the same terms.
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117 Scott's submits that the Canadian Development Agreement showed that when KFC wanted
to expressly restrict the transfer shares it did so and that it did so in the licence agreement. I reject
this view. I find that the terms of the Canadian Development Agreement are consistent with my
findings that the shareholders' control of Scotts could not be transferred without the approval of
KFC under the licence agreement. To hold otherwise would not make any business sense.

118 In my opinion when the provisions of sec. 2.2,2.3,3.2,5.2, 5.3, 6.2, and 6.3 of the License
Agreement are read with the recitals and other provisions of the addendum, I find that the agree-
ments give KFC the overall control of the plans and specifications and require Scott's to upgrade all
of their outlets in accordance therewith to WWI as set out in the 1989 and 1990 manuals as updated
from time to time by KFC, and obtain OCAs for each outlet. In fact, in 1990 Scott's internal docu-
ments showed that they completed the upgrading of 54 outlets but they only applied for OCAs for
thirty-seven stated to represent their obligations under the License Agreement. I believe that this
shows that Scott's knew that it was obliged to obtain OCAs notwithstanding its statements made to
the contrary. There are other examples of Scott's acknowledgement that OCAs were required. I refer
only to one, namely a document provided to KFC dated January 22, 1996, (Exhibit 1-10, tab 501)
that states that over two-thirds of Scott's system is now certified and that all outlets will be renewed
by the end of calendar 1996. I do not accept Lacey's evidence that "renewed" was made in error. I
find that this meant that all outlets would be certified by the end of 1996.

119 Schedule E contemplates only that detailed design control standard plans for various types
will be reviewed and agreed upon. In my opinion that is what Scott's was seeking, namely that a
wider variety of outlets would be considered. There is nothing in Schedule E that detracts from the
provisions of sec. 2.2, 5.2, and 5.3 of the License Agreement that requires full compliance. This
view is supported by the provisions of sec. 6.1 of the addendum relating to OCAs and that s. 3.2 of
the OCA requires Scott's to upgrade to the image required by KFC.

120 I do not interpret the agreements as saying that Scott's need only do as much work as it
deems fit. If that were the case, Scott's could work on ten percent of its stores in any year without
ever obtaining an OCA provided that it spent $6 million per year in total. From the evidence at the
time of the execution of the agreement, Scott's had approximately 359 outlets and the cost of up-
grading each to full WWI standards was approximately $240,000. This would require an expendi-
ture of approximately $86.5 million in total. The evidence also was that at the time of execution
Scott's had the required funds to meet this expenditures. This indicates that Scott's was aware of the
extent of its commitment.

121 To comply with the WWI standards necessary for an OCA, I accept the evidence of Lollar
that the four "sacred cows" must be present. Namely, the WWI exterior elevations (a flat mansard
roof), approved signage, WWI equipment and approved interior decor package. The exterior eleva-
tions can vary slightly to accommodate landlord and municipal restrictions or unique building con-
figurations. However, KFC must be satisfied that these variations are required. In addition, the ideal
WWI requires service options. The WWI exterior image is a flat roof line with signage and illumi-
nation. The equipment includes new computer-controlled cooking equipment as well as at least
modified back pack changes in the interior of the store, and the interior decor package is that as set
for seating and other decorations within the store.

122 I found the evidence of George Heos on behalf of Scott's showed the fallacy of Scott's ar-
gument that the agreements only called for such upgrading as Scott's considered appropriate. Heos
admitted that more work than an simple change of pylon signage was required to be considered an
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upgrade but he could not explain how much was in fact required. This could not be a proper inter-
pretation of the agreement. He is correct in saying that a change of signage would not be an upgrade
because sec. 5(f) of the License Agreement required signs to be modified to KFC standards. Obvi-
ously a change in signage is not an upgrade as contemplated by the addendum.

123 While Scott's is quite properly concerned about expenditures producing a suitable return on
investment, there is nothing in the agreements that mentions economic feasibility. Therefore Scott's
is obliged to fulfill its commitments even if in their view they are uneconomic. The evidence dis-
closes that on some occasions when Scott's raised the issue of economic viability of some upgrades,
KFC was willing to modify the requirements by not insisting on full service options or totally re-
modelled roof lines. This merely shows that KFC was acting reasonably. It does not detract from
the overall terms of the agreement.

ANNUAL OUTLET ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM

124 Sec 7.3 of the addendum provides for the parties to agree in writing to an annual enhance-
ment program at least 60 days prior to a calendar year and to cover not less that ten percent of the
outlets. There is no provision as to how the outlets were to be proposed or how the parties were to
agree. There is no express obligation for Scott's to propose the outlets for the program although
from a business sense, and in practice, Scott's did propose the outlets. Except for the first year of
1990 these proposals were made by Scott's to KFC prior to 60 days (or close to that) in each year.
This did not give KFC time to inspect them and agree to them in writing prior to the 60 days. I find
that there were negotiations each year as to the individual outlets within the program. I also find that
because Scott's Food could not actually implement its proposals until Hospitality approved them for
budget purposes in late March or April of the proposed year which would follow, that there were
frequent changes to the proposals. I also find that the actual work was not done except in the sum-
mer and fall building season and that this delay did not seriously affect either party. There were also
construction problems and frequently the outlets listed in the proposal were deleted and others sub-
stituted -- sometimes without prior notification to KFC. This created some inconvenience to KFC.
Notwithstanding this, KFC granted OCAs to those outlets that complied with the appropriate crite-
ria.

125 On July 10, 1989, the parties agreed to a protocol (Exhibit 1-3, tab 106) with respect to
new outlets. It was attempted to be followed with respect to upgrades. I accept the evidence of Lol-
lar that the ideal procedure with respect to the annual outlet enhancement program was as follows:

1. Scott's would prepare a market plan of its trade areas and study its existing
outlets;
2. Scott's would propose the facility direction for each outlet that was to be

included on that year's Annual Outlet Enhancement Program;
3. KFC and Scott's would discuss, and possibly alter, the proposed facility
directions. The parties would reach agreement on the facilities proposed;
4, Scott's would submit construction drawings for KFC's review;

5. KFC would review and approve Scott's construction plans. Where KFC did
not approve of the plans, they were sent back for amendment by Scott's;
6. Scott's would perform the work pursuant to the approved drawings;

7. Scott's would advise KFC that the work at the outlets had been completed
by submitting OCAs to KFC for execution;
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8. KFC would note and list the deficiencies at the outlets and communicate
these to Scott's;
9. Scott's would fix the outstanding deficiencies at the outlets, if any; and

10. KFC would execute OCAs, thereby indicating that the outlets had been
remodelled and upgraded in accordance with approved standards.

126 The normal practice was that if this was followed an OCA would issue. However, it was
Scott's usual practice to send in one batch of requests for OCAs for all the outlets upgraded in that
year, whether or not they expected to receive OCAs for all of them. Many requests showed the up-
grades as "limited" and I find that KFC knew that this meant not totally upgraded with all service
options. There was no urgency upon Scott's to fulfil deficiencies because OCAs were back-dated to
the date of substantial completion.

127 I also accept Heos' evidence that the ideal normal practice was never fully followed by the
parties. Lollar admitted that KFC imposed the same procedures for upgrades on Scott's as on other

franchisees. At no time until this litigation did KFC threaten to terminate the contract by reason of

Scott's' failure to upgrade to certification standards or that there was any failure to comply with any
procedure of agreeing upon an annual outlet enhancement procedure or program.

128 Miss Linda A. Robinson made a careful analysis of the records of Scott's relating to its ex-
penditures on its outlets in each year and the number of outlets that were upgraded in each year. She
prepared a report (the Lindquist Avery Macdonald Baskerville Report (Exhibit 4)). Her evidence
was that she relied primarily upon Heos as to whether an outlet had been upgraded but she con-
firmed this by inspecting the financial records of Scott's which showed that substantial money was
expended on that outlet in that year. Her review was not an audit but it was extensive and I find it
reliable. Her report shows the outlets certified separately from the outlets claimed by Scott's to be
upgraded but not certified in each year and the totals of each. She did not attempt to interpret the
agreement and the term upgrade is based on Scott's interpretation.

129 Notwithstanding extensive cross-examination relating to the proper Scott's accounting
codes into which expenditures may have been placed, I accept her evidence that Scott's spent over
$6 million on upgrading in each of the years 1990 to 1996 inclusive, for a total of $106 million.
With the exception of 1991, I find that in its own opinion Scott's upgraded more than ten percent of
its outlets in each year from 1990 to 1996. With respect to the year 1991 there are various points to
be considered. In Miss Robinson's report she found that Scott's had upgraded only 9.7 percent of its
outlets in that year. However, she stated that she counted any upgrade in only one year. There were
two outlets that were upgraded in 1991 with further upgrading in 1994. She therefore counted these
two stores in 1994 only. If these had been counted in 1991, Scott's would have exceeded the ten
percent in 1991 without falling below the ten percent in 1994. However, there is another factor that
must be considered. That is, there were eleven outlets that were substantially completed by Scott's
in the latter half of 1990 but which Scott's always counted in their 1991 totals. I find that these
eleven outlets would equal approximately three percent of the outlets in both 1990 and 1991. I find
that Scott's upgraded approximately 15.8 percent of its outlets in 1990 and only approximately 6.7
percent in 1991. I therefore find that while far exceeding its requirement in 1990 if failed to upgrade
ten percent of its outlets in 1991.

130 According to Miss Robinson's evidence, Scott's failed to have ten percent of its outlets cer-
tified in the years 1990, 1991, 1995, and 1996. In every case, Miss Robinson incorrectly based her
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percentage on the number of outlets open at the end of each year. This was always less than that at
the beginning of each year, but I find that this error would not affect the result.

131 Because of the present litigation, KFC has refused to certify any outlets for the years 1995
and 1996, regardless of the amount of upgrading done thereon. Miss Robinson's evidence was that
46 outlets were upgraded in 1995 and 63 in 1996. These would be sufficient to exceed ten percent in
both of these years if they are certifiable. Because of the practice of both parties in considering the
year of certification as being the year that the work was substantially completed, and that certifica-
tion is not granted until KFC approves the total work, it will be for the Court to decide whether
Scott's has complied in the years 1995 and 1996 based on the evidence before it.

132 Miss Robinson also made a comparison of the growth of the average weekly sales of
Scott's Food outlets as opposed to the KFC corporate outlets between 1993 and 1997 where they
operated in the same provinces. This showed that in all areas Scott's sales grew faster than KFC
corporate outlet sales. I need not comment further because counsel for KFC has conceded that KFC
has not suffered any monetary damages by reason of any failure of Scott's to perform its obligations
under the contract.

133 Before turning to the details of the disputes about the practice of KFC relating to the
granting of OCAs and the disputes over individual groups of outlets, I wish to comment on the pro-
visions of sec. 17.1 of the License Agreement. This gives a right to Scott's to close "any or all" of
the outlets. The proviso relating to other provisions of this agreement being complied with cannot
relate to a breach by Scott's of the transfer or upgrading requirements. It must relate to matters that
apply after the outlet is closed. Therefore Scott's had and has the right to close whatever outlets it
chooses.

RE SCHEDULE C

134 Sec. 3.5 of the development agreement specifically refers to Schedule C as being applica-
ble to new outlets. On its face Schedule C is designed for new outlets. There is no dispute in this
action relating to new outlets that have or have not been opened by Scott's.

135 Sec 7.2 provides that Scott's will cooperate with KFC in its review of the enhancement of
existing outlets on the basis of the methods and criteria established in Schedule C or other appropri-
ate criteria. The criteria include a trade area definition, site location and site size, facility character-
istics to allow for facility image and service requirements with reference to seating and drive
through. It provides that KFC will undertake a market analysis in each territory to identify the opti-
mal trade areas with KFC to determine the optimal trade area. Once they are determined, both KFC
and Scott's must complete an outlet certification checklist. It is clear that KFC makes the final deci-
sion with respect to the action to be taken with respect to an outlet site.

136 Nowhere in the License Agreement or the development agreement is there any express ob-
ligation on Scott's to relocate any of its outlets. Therefore, it can only be this Schedule C that gives
any such obligation. In almost all cases KFC did not undertaken market analysis and convey such
information to Scott's. In fact, Scott's did extensive market mapping and studies but did not always
make the results available to KFC except to support its argument for the reduction of requirements
that KFC was otherwise demanding. I find that after Scott's studies in Calgary and Montreal were
supplied to KFC that Scott's had good reason not to give the overall information to KFC because of
two unreasonable demands triggered thereby made by KFC under other provisions of the License
Agreement.
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137 The references in Schedule C are to the site and not the outlet itself. In my opinion, Sched-
ule C does not give KFC the right to direct Scott's to relocate an existing outlet. The exhibit attached
to Schedule C is for an optimal trade area. From the evidence it is clear that both parties knew that a
substantial number or possibly the majority of Scott's outlets could not meet this optimal criteria. A
majority of Scott's outlets were free standing take out units on small lots. To apply the criteria under
Schedule C strictly would mean the relocation of a large number of outlets. Lollar admitted that to
apply Schedule C to an existing site requires a certain amount of subject judgment. I accept the evi-
dence of Heos that market mapping or in effect reference to Schedule C is subjective and does not
tell you whether you should do a major or minor upgrade to a particular outlet. It is clear that the
facility profile must be at a high level to compare to recent major competitors in the area. This con-
firms my view that Scott's is obliged to upgrade to full WWI standards and obtain certification
where possible. Relocation is a drastic action. There is no industry practice that requires it. In my
opinion to require relocation there must be clear words to that effect. I believe that schedule C is
applicable to the type of upgrade possible on existing sites.

138 Scott's may have found that its return on the investment in the upgrades was not what it
desired and preferred not to invest in uneconomic upgrades. However, this is what it contracted for
and it must comply. Its only recourse was to convince KFC to modify its requirements on any par-
ticular outlet and have KFC act reasonably in connection therewith or for Scott's to close the outlet.

139 At the time of the agreement KFC owned few outlets in Canada. The overall corporate
KFC experience was in the Unites States of America. In the early years KFC insisted upon seats and
drive-throughs to be added to outlets, as it had the right to do. Scott's resisted this in many cases
because it was uneconomic or impossible because many of its stores were in-line outlets on re-
stricted rental premises. KFC relented in some cases and agreed to certify some stores. Later when
KFC had more experience with its own stores and had listened to Scott's, it realized that it was not
reasonable to expect seats and drive throughs at all outlets. Its attitude changed and it certified some
outlets that it had earlier rejected. A similar change in attitude occurred with respect to its desire to
have Scott's relocate stores where it deemed appropriate. There was friction between the companies
because of their different interpretations of the License Agreement. But as a general rule I do not
find that KFC acted unreasonably. I do not find KFC to be unreasonable merely because it insisted
upon full WWI standards and later agreed to modify these requirements after it was convinced that
they were economically unreasonable. I find that this was in fact acting reasonably.

140 The failure to follow the alleged procedure under Schedule C and the protocol of July 10,
1989, created an inconvenience to KFC. It requested Scott's to comply but it carried on notwith-
standing Scott's failure so to do. Not only did it allow Scott's to continue upgrading but it certified
many stores that were not part of any agreed program. I am not satisfied that any formal procedure
was adopted and mutually agreed to for any year. Even if it were and was breached by Scott's, KFC
has certified over half of the Scott's outlets and therefore has received the benefit from such up-
grades. I grant relief to Scott's from any forfeiture for any breach of such procedure or protocol.

ALLEGED CHANGE OF CONDUCT OF SCOTT'S IN 1995 AND 1996

141 KFC states that Scott's failed to remodel and upgrade ten percent of its facilities in each
year except 1992, 1993, and 1994. It submits that from a business point of view it was prepared to
live with those breaches in the expectation that Scott's would upgrade all of its outlets by December
31, 1996. It alleges that the most important factor regarding Scott's breach of the agreement, is
Scott's conduct regarding upgrades in the 1995 and 1996. It submits that Scott's deliberately chose
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to ignore its contractual obligations and assumed the risk that KFC would commence an action to
terminate the agreements. Scott's position is that its conduct remained constant and supports this by
saying that it upgraded 46 outlets in 1995 and 63 outlets in 1996 (see Exhibit 4). Counsel for KFC
concedes that if the License Agreement is not terminated that 57 additional outlets of Scott's will be
certified. It is not clear whether or not all of these certifications relate to 1995 and 1996. At this
point in my reasons it is also not clear whether or not the degree of upgrading was consistent with
prior years.

142 From Exhibit 4 there were a large percentage of stores that Scott's said it upgraded but
were not certified in the years 1990 and 1991 inclusive. In the years 1992, 1993, and 1994 very few
outlets were upgraded that were not certified. As mentioned above, the outlets alleged to be up-
graded but not certified would have to be analysed to determine the category in which they fit.
However, even if all the 57 outlets to be certified are in 1995 and 1996 this would be about 50 per-
cent of those upgraded. This would indicate a substantial departure from the years 1992 to 1994 in-
clusive. There are, however, 74 outlets that are in dispute as to whether or not they comply with
WWI standards, in addition to those above mentioned.

143 I am satisfied that until August 1995 Scott's used the word "limited" in its communications
with KFC to mean WWI but without the addition of service options in most cases. After August
1995 Scott's used the word limited to mean any change including cosmetic changes and not WWI
without service options. This is not conclusive of any lack of good faith. While Scott's consistently,
including in 1995 and 1996, told KFC that it would meet its obligations under the contract, KFC
knew from as early as 1991 that Scott's had a different interpretation of those obligations than did
KFC. I find that in 1995 or 1996 Scott's did not tell KFC that it would certify all of its outlets by
December 31, 1996.

144 Scott's position is that it became apparent in later years that the return on investment was
not adequate on many stores, and therefore it decided not fully upgrade those stores for economic
reasons. Scott's has never supplied KFC with its profit and loss statements across the system. This is
irrelevant because as I have found economics is not a term found in the agreements.

145 Lacey admitted that Hospitality reduced the amount of funds available to Scott's Food in
1995 and that this reduced the money available to upgrade the outlets. I find that, commencing in
1994, Scott's decided to "manage for cash" and knew that KFC might initiate a beach of contract
suit in 1997 based on Scott's alleged failure to comply with the development agreement (see Exhibit
1-8, tab 404) as KFC interpreted it.

PRESENT STATE OF SCOTT'S SYSTEM

146 Scott's obligation to upgrade its outlets relates only to those set out in Schedule F to the
addendum and to existing outlets acquired after the signing of the agreement.

147 Scott's says that the total number of applicable outlets operating on December 31, 1996,
was 325. KFC says that the number was 323. The difference of two results from a dispute over two
outlets that are the subject of separate litigation as to whether they are new or relocated. I make no
comment on these two.

148 The parties have agreed that three outlets may be closed by Scott's in 1997 and 1998, and
two may be remodelled and upgraded after December 31, 1996.
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149 For the purpose of argument, KFC has acknowledged that the obligation applies to 318
outlets.

150 KFC submits that 74 outlets have not been upgraded and certified. Scott's acknowledges
that 69 outlets have not been upgraded to full WWI standards but that they have been upgraded
within its interpretation of the agreements. Of the other five outlets, KFC says four do not service
their trade areas and the other one KFC says "it does not contain a WWI image interior.

151 The 69 outlets consist of 54 free standing, 12 in-line, 2 highway, and 1 mobile unit. Having
review the evidence of all parties and considering the photographs in Exhibit 6 and any additional
photographs of these 69 outlets I found that they have been upgraded to varying degrees but the
great majority of the total not to WWI standards, and that the majority would not be certifiable sub-
ject to my further comments. Some appear to have so little amount of work to their exterior that
they do not even qualify within Heos' vague criteria. The mobile unit is a unique unit and Scott's has
never allowed KFC to inspect its interior. Scott's has such an obligation and therefore I find that it
has not been upgraded to WWI standards.

152 I now deal with the four outlets that KFC says do not cover the trade area. I find that all
required work has been done on three of these outlets. Insofar as KFC submits that construction
drawings have not been submitted, I find that none are available because of the limited amount of
work that was needed to be done. KFC has not required construction drawings in all similar cases
and [ find it unreasonable to demand such drawings. [ make this statement notwithstanding the pro-
visions of sec 9.1 of the development agreement because there is no express requirement that con-
struction drawings be provided where in fact construction drawings are not required by any objec-
tive standard and only because of KFC's subjective standard.

153 Outlet 6280 was upgraded in 1996 to WWI standards in every respect except the interior
decor. I accept the evidence of Heos that the dining room area was renovated in the late 1980s and
that KFC previously has granted certification to other outlets with similar interiors. I believe that
KFC is acting unreasonably in this respect and I suspect that this litigation is part of such position.
Notwithstanding s. 9.1, I find that outlet 6280 should be certified.

154 Of the 69 outlets, 28 were alleged to be upgraded prior to 1996 and 41 in 1996. The 1996
upgrades consist of two categories. First, 17 outlets that Scott's proposed to be in the Queensway
image which KFC has refused to certify. Scott's says it upgraded them in such image. The other 24
Scott's considered relocating and wanted KFC's approval of the use of stretch A-frame signage sim-
ilar to what KFC has used on some of its A-frame outlets. KFC has refused such use. Such use by
KFC is immaterial to Scott's obligation under the License Agreement. KFC did not agree that all its
stores would be upgraded to WWI, whereas Scott's has. I am satisfied that the equipment in all of
these 69 stores complies with WWI image and the interior of the 28 outlets upgraded prior to 1996
have WWI interiors. This, however, does not answer the question of whether or not Scott's has to-
tally fulfilled its obligations. Scott's argument is that it is not economically feasible to spend addi-
tional capital to obtain certification. As I have said, economic consideration is not mentioned in the
licence or addendum. They may be considered by KFC to dispense with some of Scott's obligation
but KFC is not obligated to do so. On the other hand, Scott's can close any store that it wishes if it
feels it uneconomic.

155 With respect to the 17 stores in the Queensway image, I find the KFC has consistently re-
fused to certify the Queensway store (#6026). From an inspection of the exhibits, it appears not to
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comply with full WWI image. In addition, Heos admitted that it did not comply. Scott's argues that
because KFC certified the Calgary outlet (6358) in much the Queensway image that it is acting un-
reasonable in refusing to certify the 17 stores. I accept the evidence of Johnstone that he approved
outlet 6358 on a temporary basis because he was advised that there were structural problems with it
and that the outlet would be relocated. Scott's has not given any undertaking to relocate the 17
stores in question and KFC is not acting unreasonably in refusing to certify them.

156 I have dealt or will deal with 46 of the 74 outlets in issue (24 A-frame stretch signage + 17
Queensway image + 4 trade area + outlet 6280). I have reviewed the evidence of the witnesses and
Exhibit 6 and subsequent photographic exhibits and find that the balance of the 74 outlets do not
comply with WWI image and therefore KFC has not acted unreasonably in refusing to certify them.
In conclusion on this point of the evidence, I find that Scott's failed to comply with the terms of the
agreement to upgrade all of the outlets in question except four outlets (6033, 6051, 6077 and 6280).
My reasons relating to outlets 6019, 6033, 6051 and 6077 are further set out under the heading
"Pending Certification Outlets".

PENDING CERTIFICATION OUTLETS

157 KFC says there are 74 outlets which were pending certification either as of the date of the
Statement of Claim or by December 31, 1996. Of these, KFC has conditionally certified 57 which I
understand from counsel to mean that KFC acknowledges that they comply with WWI and that if it
was not for the alleged breach of the agreement and this litigation by Scott's that they would have
been certified in normal course.

158 Scott's says that there are 61 such outlets but agrees that 57 are conditionally certified. The
other four outlets are outlet #s 6019, 6033, 6051, and 6077. The main issue relating to these four
outlets is that KFC deems that they should be relocated. KFC does not have the right to so order.
Having inspected Exhibit 6, I accept the evidence of Heos that outlets 6033, 6051 and 6077 have
been upgraded to WWI standards. I reject his evidence with respect to outlet 6019. Therefore outlets
6033, 6051 and 6077 are declared as certified.

159 In my opinion, the License Agreement has not been terminated. In fact KFC does not ask
for a declaration that it is terminated. It only asks for a declaration that it has the right to terminate
it. The agreement still being in force, KFC acting reasonably is obligated to grant certification to the
57 outlets that are conditionally certified. Counsel for KFC gave an undertaking to the Court that
KFC would certify these outlets if the License Agreement was not cancelled. Because the certifica-
tion is in the control of KFC I think that it is more appropriate that the Court declare that these
stores are to be certified.

CLOSED OUTLETS

160 In 1995 and 1996 Scott's closed 41 outlets that were subject to the License Agreement. In
prior years it closed an average of three outlets per year for a total of 19 (see Exhibit 4). There is no
evidence of any issue raised by KFC prior to the commencement of this litigation concerning the
closure by Scott's Food of some of its outlets. Frezzo was advised in April 1994 that Scott's might
close outlets. On August 14, 1995, KFC first became aware that Scott's and Foods intended to close
a substantial number of outlets in 1996. I accept the evidence of Heos that the general reason for
closing the outlets was that the outlets did not make enough money, that it was not economically
feasible to spend additional capital because they were marginal stores and that leases were being
terminated or it was part of a consolidation strategy where the market was being adequately served
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by other Scott's Foods outlets. I do not accept KFC's allegation that the outlets were being closed to
avoid Scott's Foods contractual obligations under the contract because $1.8 million was spent by
Scott's on the upgrading of these stores between 1989 and December 31, 1996.

161 Other than raising the claim in these proceedings KFC has taken no action and in particular
it has not issued a notice under s. 3.6 of the licence agreement for the territories included in the are-
as where the stores were closed. In any event, the agreement gives Scott's the unfettered right to
close outlets. I believe that Scott's motive for closing the outlets is not relevant to this action any
more than KFC's alleged motive for bringing this action with respect to the enhancement issue.

COMPARISON OF SCOTT'S SYSTEM WITH KFC AND OTHER FRANCHISEES' SYSTEMS

162 Scott's gave extensive evidence of the comparison of the exterior of Scott's outlets with the
exterior of KFC's corporate outlets and other franchisees' outlets on December 31, 1996. This evi-
dence was alleged to show that Scott's had not failed to meet its obligation in a material and sub-
stantive manner, and in any event to show that KFC had not suffered any damages. I accept the ev-
idence that at December 31, 1996, Scott's had more outlets in compliance with WWI image than did
either KFC itself or the other franchisees in total. However, this is immaterial. Scott's, by contract,
was obligated to upgrade all of its outlets by December 31, 1996. While KFC should take the lead,
there was no obligation upon it to upgrade its own outlets by December 31, 1996. The evidence was
that it planned to have all of its outlets upgraded to WWI image by the year 2000 and that its fran-
chisees were also obligated to do so.

SUBSTANTIAL BREACH

163 If Scott's had failed to obtain certification of a small number of outlets by December 31,
1996, it would not be in substantial breach of the agreement and Scott's would be allowed to operate
those outlets until December 31, 2003. The question is whether or not there was a substantial breach
of the agreement in order that KFC may terminate it. The evidence of the expert witnesses varied as
to what would be a tolerable non-compliance. Zeidman's opinion was 5-10% and he had never
heard of anything over 15%. Trebilcock said the range was 5-10%. Konigsberg said that at any one
time it is usual to find even significant differences in the appearance of franchise outlets in an entire
system. He gave no evidence of what would be tolerable within a particular franchisee system.
Levitt did not give any percentage other than to say that it must be more than a trivial breach and
you must look at the overall and then even a minor breach might be material under certain circum-
stances. I accept the evidence of Zeidman and Trebilcock that anything over 5-10% of the outlets
not being in compliance is a substantial breach of the agreements.

164 At December 31, 1996, there were 166 outlets certified (Exhibit 4) as well as 61 (5§7+3+1)
additional outlets that should be certified making a total of 227 outlets that complied with the up-
grade provisions of the development agreement. At that time Scott's operated 325 outlets (Exhibit 4)
to be considered under the upgrade provisions of the development agreement. It, therefore, had ap-
proximately 28% of its outlets not in compliance with the agreements. This is far in excess of even
some of the speculative opinions that both Konigsberg and Trebilcock referred to of other parties. I
find that Scott's was in substantial breach of the provisions of sec. 7.2 of the development agree-
ment.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
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165 KFC claims specific performance by both Scott's Food and Hospitality to upgrade the out-
lets that I have found that are not certified or certifiable within three months of judgment. I am not
prepared to grant this order even though I have found that KFC has not suffered any monetary
damages. Firstly, I have found that KFC is entitled to terminate the agreements based on the transfer
issue and it would be inequitable to order the defendants to expend substantial sums of money to
remedy breaches of the enhancement provisions. Second, the enhancement to WWI while covered
by the standards referred to involves cooperation between the parties for each individual outlet.
There can be disagreements between them as to what service options are appropriate and whether or
not an outlet should be relocated. To a degree these decisions are subjective. They include external
considerations such as municipal landlord regulations and the availability of suitable sites. The
Court should not order specific performance in a case such as this where there would likely be fur-
ther proceedings to determine whether or not Scott's has complied with its obligations.

RELIEF FROM FORFEITURE

166 Scott's has claimed relief from forfeiture with respect to its failure to enhance the outlets. It
asks that the License Agreement be terminated only with respect to the outlets not certified. This
might be an available remedy if only a few of the outlets had not been certified. If there were only a
few, then the development agreement itself would support the granting of relief by allowing them to
remain open until December 31, 2003, and no relief from forfeiture would be required.

167 However, I have found that there is a material and substantive breach. In view of the past
history of the relationship between the parties and the degree of breach, I refuse to grant such relief.

TERMINATION

168 KFC has not asked for an order declaring the License Agreements to be terminated. It has
only asked for a declaration that they may be terminated by KFC based on the findings of this
Court.

169 Section 17.2 of the License Agreement lists the events of default. I have found two such
defaults. Section 17.3 sets out the procedure of formal notice. In the case of the default on the
transfer issue KFC may give immediate notice under section 17.3. In the case of the default on the
enhancement issue, three months notice of such failure must be given and Scott's may remedy the
failure within that time. I am of the opinion that the issuance of Statement of Claim was only notice
of KFC's allegation of default. Scott's did not believe there was a default. Therefore, KFC must give
three months notice from the date of this judgment to Scott's to allow it to remedy the default found
in this decision on the enhancement issue. In order words, Scott's must be given three months in
which to upgrade all of its remaining outlets to certification standards. If it chooses not to do so, it
may close those stores under other termination procedures.

THE JUDGMENT TO ISSUE

170 In their written arguments the parties have set out very extensive claims for the relief re-
quested and in order that there be no confusion the following claims are set out with my decision on
each of them.

KFC'S REQUESTED JUDGMENT

(a) adeclaration that pursuant to paragraph 16 of the License Agreement, the
Defendants are obligated to seek the approval and consent of the Plaintiff
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to any sale of the majority control of the voting shares of Scott's Hospitali-
ty or Scott's Food and that failure to obtain such approval and consent is a
breach of sections 16.1 and 16.2 of the License Agreement entitling KFC
to terminate the Agreement;

This declaration will issue.

a declaration that pursuant to section 16.3 of the License Agreement, if a
bona fide third party offer for the purchase of majority control of Scott's
Food or Scott's Hospitality is received, the Defendants are obligated to of-
fer the same to the Plaintiff at the same price and on the same terms and
conditions as the third party's offer and that the failure to make such offer
to sell to the Plaintiff is a breach of the License Agreement entitling the
Plaintiff to terminate the Agreement;

This declaration will issue.

a declaration that the Plaintiff is not obligated to consent to the sale of ma-
jority control of the voting shares of Scott's Food or Scott's Hospitality un-
less the Defendants and the purchaser are prepared to comply with the
conditions set out in section 16.4(a)-(d) of the License Agreement and that
any failure to comply with (a)-(d) of section 16.4 of the License Agree-
ment is a breach of the License Agreement entitling the Plaintiff to termi-
nate the Agreement;

This declaration is will issue.

a declaration that the Plaintiff is entitled to terminate the License Agree-
ment for the 1989 Breach, the First Laidlaw Transaction and/or the Second
Laidlaw Transaction as described herein;

The declaration will issue with respect to the First Laidlaw Transaction and
the Second Laidlaw Transaction but is dismissed because I have granted
relief from forfeiture on the 1989 breach.

in the alternative, a declaration that the Plaintiff is entitled to terminate the
License Agreement as a matter of equity or law by reason of the conduct of
the Defendants in relation to the First Laidlaw Transaction and/or the Sec-
ond Laidlaw Transaction;

This claim is dismissed.

in the further alternative, a declaration that Scott's Hospitality is bound by
the terms of the License Agreement (on the basis of alter ego or agency)
and has breached the License Agreement by participating in the First
Laidlaw Transaction and/or the Second Laidlaw Transaction;
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This claim is dismissed.

a declaration that Scott's Food and Scott's Hospitality have failed to satisfy,
in a material and substantive manner, the requirements for enhancement
and development contained in paragraphs 7.2 and 7.3 of the Addendum to
the License Agreement and that the Plaintiff is therefore entitled, as of the
date of issuance of the Statement of Claim, to terminate the License
Agreement pursuant to paragraph 17.2 thereof;

This declaration will issue but qualified with respect to the notice on the
enhancement issue under paragraph 17.3.

a declaration that the Defendants have breached their obligations pursuant
to sections 3.2, 5 and 6 of the License Agreement and that KFC is there-
fore entitled to terminate the Agreement;

This declaration will issue but again upon appropriate notice under 17.3
with respect to the enhancement issue.

in the alternative, an order requiring Scott's Food and Scott's Hospitality to
remodel and upgrade all of their outlets to KFC's worldwide image stand-
ards within three months of the date of judgment herein;

This application is dismissed.

in the alternative, damages for the Defendants' breaches of the License
Agreement;

This application is dismissed.

a declaration that Scott's Hospitality is liable for inducing Scott's Food to
breach the Agreement;

This application is dismissed.
costs of this proceeding on a solicitor client basis plus GST thereon;

Section 18.3 of the licence agreement provides that a successful party is
entitled to recover all of its expenses in connection with the litigation.
However this only applies if the party prevails entirely and and if not then
each party will bear its own costs. In my opinion KFC has not prevailed
entirely. This application is dismissed.

pre-judgment and post-judgment interest pursuant to the Courts of Justice
Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43 as amended; and
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I have found no monetary damages and therefore this application is dis-
missed.

SCOTT'S CLAIMS FOR JUDGMENT

171 In its Statement of Defence, Scott's claims that the action be dismissed with costs. [ have
already dealt with that matter because the action is not dismissed.

172 In its Counterclaim it claims as follows:

(2)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

a declaration that the Agreements in issue contain no impediment to the
shareholders of Scott's Food, selling, transferring, pledging or otherwise
dealing with their shares in Hospitality;

This claim is dismissed.

a declaration that the Agreements contain no impediment to Hospitality or
SRI, the parent company of Scott's Food, selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing with its shares in Scott's Food;

This claim is allowed to the extent only that such transaction does not in-
volve the control of Scott's Food.

a declaration that the Agreements contain no impediment to future share-
holders of Hospitality and Scott's Food selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing with the shares of Hospitality and Scott's Food;

This claim is allowed to the extent only that such transaction does not in-
volve the control of Scott's Food.

more particularly, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, a
declaration that any sale, transfer or pledge of, or any dealing with the
shares of Hospitality and Scott's Food does not require the approval of the
Plaintiff and does not trigger: a right of first refusal; a requirement that a
new owner of Scott's Food require Scott's Food to execute a new License
Agreement, or any other contractual right or obligation;

This claim is allowed to the extent only that such transaction does not in-
volve the control of Scott's Food.

in the alternative, a declaration that any right of approval established in
paragraph 16 of the MFLA must be exercised reasonably, objectively and
in good faith, and, specifically, must be exercised through the application
of the four criteria set out by Mr. Cahill as referred to within these submis-
sions;
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The declaration would issue with respect to the first half of this claim but it
is not to be declared that it must be exercised through the application of the
four criteria set out by Mr. Cahill.

a declaration that the sale, transfer or pledge of Scott's Food or Hospitality
shares by Hospitality or future shareholders of Scott's Food does not con-
stitute a breach of the terms of the Agreement and does not affect the rights
of Scott's Food under the terms of the Agreement, and, more particularly,
does not entitle the Plaintiff to terminate the Agreement;

This claim is allowed to the extent only that such transaction does not in-
volve the control of Scott's Food.

a declaration that the First Laidlaw Transaction, the A& W transaction, and
the Second Laidlaw Transaction, as referred to in the Amended Statement
of Claim and the Statement of Defence do not affect the right of Scott's
Food under the Agreement and, more particularly, do not permit the Plain-
tiff to terminate the Agreement;

This claim is dismissed.

a declaration that the Scott's Food outlets listed in the Schedule be certified
by KFC-C on the basis that, using reasonable judgment, KFC-C is obli-
gated to certify these outlets since:

i) certification deficiencies as notified to Scott's Food by KFC-C have
been completed and KFC-C has agreed to certify after completion of
these deficiencies;

ii)  certification deficiencies as notified Scotts's Food by KFC-C have
been completed by December 31, 1996;

iii)  upgrading to the outlets has been completed in a manner similar to
other Scott's Food outlets which have been previously certified; or

iv)  with respect to the 57 outlets conditionally certified, there are no
factual disputes.

A declaration will issue that the outlets listed in Schedule B to these rea-
sons be certified by KFC.

a declaration that pursuant to paragraph 6.3 of the MDA, Scott's Food is
permitted to operate any Scott's Food outlets which are not certified by

KFC-C until December 31, 2003;

A declaration to this effect will issue provided that KFC does not terminate
the agreement as otherwise provided for in these reasons.
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()  adeclaration that any notice provided by KFC-C to Scott's Food alleging
breaches of paragraphs 7.2 and/or 7.3 of the MDA is not effective until this
Honourable Court determines whether Scott's Food is in breach of the
MDA or MFLA, and that Scott's Food has three months from the date of a
final judgment to cure any breach;

This claim is allowed. Scott's Food has been found in breach of the agree-
ments. It is entitled to notice and three months to cure the breaches.

(k) adeclaration that pursuant to paragraph 17.1 of the MFLA, Scott's Food
can permanently close any or all of its KFC outlets by giving thirty days
prior notice to KFC-C and that this constitutes a cure of any alleged breach
with respect to any or all such outlets in accordance with paragraph 17.2(e)
of the MFLA;

This claim is granted.

()  alternatively, a judgment granting the defendants relief from forfeiture
with respect to all of the breaches alleged by the plaintiffs;

Except with respect to the 1989 transaction, this claim is dismissed.

(m) costs of this proceeding on a solicitor and client basis plus GST thereon;

Scott's has not prevailed entirely. This claim is dismissed.

(n) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest to the Courts of Justice Act,
R.S.0. 1980, c. 43, as amended; and

173 There being no monetary damages this claim is dismissed.
STEELE J.

¥ %k ok sk ok

SCHEDULE A

MASTER FRANCHISE LICENSE AGREEMENT

This agreement is entered into as of the 1st day of January, 1989 by and between Kentucky
Fried Chicken Canada, a division of Pepsi-Cola Canada, Ltd., a company registered in and in ac-
cordance with the laws of Canada, with a principal place of business at 10 Carlson Court, Suite 300,
Rexdale, Ontario, Canada (hereinafter referred to as "KFC"), of the first part; and Scott's Food Ser-
vices Inc., a company registered in and in accordance with the laws of Ontario, Canada with its
principal place of business at 2000 Jane Street, Weston, Ontario, Canada (hereinafter referred to as
"Licensee"), of the second part.
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WITNESSETH

WHEREAS KFC has agreed to grant to Licensee the right and license to use the KFC System
and KFC Marks subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and its Addendum, Master
Development Agreement - Canada (" Addendum"), for the purpose of preparing and marketing Ap-
proved Products and performing related services only at the Kentucky Fried Chicken outlets ("Out-
lets") provided for therein. ...

2.2 The Licensee acknowledges the value of the KFC System, the KFC Marks and the continued
uniformity thereof to itself, KFC and other KFC licensees, and acknowledges KFC's past and pre-
sent ownership and the validity of the KFC System and the KFC Marks and agrees not to dispute or
to contest the same. The Licensee shall take any actions and enter into whatever agreements may be
required by KFC to document its status as a Registered User of the KFC Marks. In order to en-
hance, maintain and protect the value of the KFC System and the KFC Marks and the goodwill as-
sociated therewith, this Agreement places detailed and substantial obligations on the Licensee in-
cluding strict adherence to KFC's present and future requirements regarding use of the KFC System
and the KFC Marks and related matters such as menu items, advertising and physical facilities. The
rights granted to the Licensee hereunder are for a limited time and are subject to the terms and con-
ditions as herein set forth. The value of such rights is derived principally from the KFC System and
the KFC Marks and the goodwill associated therewith developed by KFC at considerable expense
and effort to KFC. Before signing this Agreement, Licensee should read the Agreement carefully
with the assistance of legal counsel.

2.3 The Licensee acknowledges (1) the success of the
businesses contemplated herein involves substantial risks and
depends upon the ability of Licensee as an independent
business, and (2) no assurance or warranty, express or
implied, has been made or given by KFC as to the potential
success of such businesses or the gross revenues, volume or
earnings likely to be achieved therefrom, and (3) no
statement, representation or other act, event or
communication, except as set forth herein, is binding on KFC
in connection with the subject matter of this Agreement. ...

3.1 (a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and its Addendum, KFC hereby grants
to Licensee during the License Term the right and license (the "License") to use the KFC System
and the KFC Marks for the purpose of preparing and marketing Approved Products and performing
related services only at the Outlets. The grant of the License to Licensee to use the KFC System and
the KFC Marks is non-exclusive and KFC retains the right to use the KFC System and the KFC
Marks at any location other than the Outlets of Licensee and to grant to others the right and license
to use the KFC System and the KFC Marks at locations other than the Outlets of Licensee.

(b) KFC hereby designated Colonel Sanders' Kentucky Fried Chicken Original Recipe
("Original Recipe"), french fries, gravy and coleslaw as required Approved Products for all Outlets.
KFC may from time to time, in its sole discretion, designate other products as required Approved
Products for all Outlets and determine that any product previously designated as an Approved
Product shall no longer be an Approved Product. In addition, KFC shall provide for other initial
Approved Products for the Licensee in a schedule to the Addendum.
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(¢) KFC may, from time to time, in its sole discretion, authorize in writing one or more
Outlets (but not necessarily all Outlets) to sell, for such period of time as KFC determines, optional
products which have not been designated as approved Products. Any such optional products so au-
thorized by KFC shall be deemed to be designated as Approved Products only for the Outlet or
Outlets so authorized.

3.2 Licensee agrees to operate the Outlets and to use the KFC System and KFC Marks strictly as
provided therein and in the Addendum. Licensee acknowledges that the KFC System and the KFC
Marks strictly as provided herein and in the Addendum. Licensee acknowledges that the KFC Sys-
tem and the KFC Marks and the goodwill associated therewith and will remain the exclusive prop-
erty of KFC and that Licensee will derive no benefit therefrom except as Licensee hereunder. Any
enhancement of the goodwill associated with the KFC System and the KFC Marks during the Li-
cense Term will enure to the benefit of KFC except to the extent of such profits, if any, realized by
Licensee during the License Term or a renewal term, following which no value shall be attributable
for the benefit of Licensee to any goodwill associated with the KFC System and the KFC Marks and
all right to use the KFC System and the KFC Marks shall revert automatically to KFC at no cost to
KFC.

4. Term and Renewal

4.1 The License Term shall commence on the 1st day of
Janaury, 1989 and shall continue in effect until the 31st day
of December, 2003 (unless terminated earlier pursuant to the
terms hereof). During the License Term the royalty payable
hereunder shall be at the rate of one and seven-tenths (1.7%)
per cent of Gross Revenues as provided in Paragraph 8.1. The
royalties and fees payable shall be at the rates and in the
amounts as more particularly provided for in Section 9 of the
Addendum. ...

5.2 KFC and Licensee agree that as from the date of this Agreement all Outlets are or pursuant to
obligations in the Addendum and Outlet Certification Agreements, shall be in accordance with the
plans, standards, and trademark usage specifications prescribed by KFC. These compliance re-
quirements are more particularly dealt with in the Addendum.

5.3 Licensee agrees to comply strictly with all the
terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Addendum and
all standards, processes, procedures and other requirements or
instructions regarding the KFC System, the KFC Marks and the
operation of the businesses of the Outlets which exist or may
be prescribed by KFC from time to time. Licensee will take
such action and precautions as necessary to assure that: ...

(f) All equipment, signs, menu-boards, supplies, and other items are added, eliminat-
ed, substituted, and modified at the Outlets in accordance with KFC's standards and specifications.

(g) The Outlets and everything located at or in the Outlets are maintained in first-class
condition and repair and are kept clean, neat and sanitary; the Outlets are adequately lighted and are
operated in a clean, wholesome and sanitary manner in accordance with KFC's standards and speci-
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fications; all maintenance and repairs requested by KFC or needed in connection with the Outlets
are made promptly and all employees are clean and neat in appearance.

(h) No image, usage of trademarks, or other major alterations of the Outlets are made
except with KFC's prior approval, and any such alteration strictly conforms to KFC's then current
standards and specifications. ...

6. Maintenance and Upgrading of Outlets

6.1 Licensee shall at all times maintain the physical facilities of the Outlets and all facilities at
which or by means of which Licensee is permitted by KFC to store, handle, prepare or transport
Approved Products or ingredients used in preparing them in accordance with all standards and
specifications prescribed from time to time by KFC.

6.2 KFC shall have the right to require Licensee to perform such renovations and remodelling of the
Outlets as KFC deems necessary so that the Outlets comply at all times with the standards and
specifications then applicable to new KFC outlets. Such renovations and remodelling shall include
upgrading all equipment, furnishings, signs and menu-boards now used at or in connection with the
business of the Outlets or which may be required to be used as a result of the introduction of new
Approved Products. KFC will use reasonable judgment with regard to such renovation and remod-
elling requirements. These requirements for outlet enhancement are more particularly provided for
in the Addendum.

6.3 The cost of all maintenance, renovations and
remodelling shall be for the account of Licensee, which
Licensee acknowledges are required to keep the Outlets up to
the latest standards and specifications prescribed by KFC. ...

16. Transfer

16.1 The grant of the License hereunder is personal to Licensee. The grant of the License hereunder
is based upon full disclosure in writing by the Licensee to KFC, and approval by KFC, of all direc-
tors and holders of majority control of the voting shares of Licensee and of any corporation or cor-
porations which directly or indirectly (whether by means of any intermediate corporations or other-
wise) own or control or have an interest in the shares of the Licensee. Licensee acknowledges that
the restrictions provided in this Paragraph 16 are reasonable and necessary to protect the KFC Sys-
tem and the KFC Marks and are for the benefit and protection of all KFC licensees as well as KFC.

16.2 Licensee agrees that it shall not sell, transfer, assign, encumber, sub-license or otherwise deal
with this Agreement or its rights or interest hereunder (hereinafter referred to as "transfer"), without
KFC's prior written consent and Licensee's compliance in all respects with the terms and conditions
of this Paragraph 16. Any transfer or any attempt to do so, contrary to this Paragraph 16 shall be a
breach of this Agreement and shall be void but shall give KFC the right of termination as provided
in Paragraph 17.2(d).

16.3 In the event that Licensee receives a bona fide offer, which Licensee is wiling to accept, from a
third party to purchase or otherwise acquire any of the Licensee's rights and interest in this Agree-
ment, and/or Licensee's rights and interest in all or a substantial part of the other assets of Licensee's
business carried on at or from an Outlet, Licensee shall first offer to sell the same to KFC at the
same price and on the same terms and conditions as in the third party's offer, by notice in writing to
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KFC accompanied by a copy of the third party's offer and full disclosure in writing of the identity of
the third party (including corporate directors and shareholders as referred to in Paragraph 16.1) and
of all information given by Licensee to the third party concerning the said business of Licensee.
KFC shall have sixty (60) days after the giving of the said notice from Licensee within which to
accept such offer to sell by notice in writing given by KFC to Licensee. In the event that KFC so
accepts such offer to sell, a binding agreement of purchase and sale shall thereby be constituted
between Licensee and KFC at the said price and upon the said terms and conditions but with the
additional provision that KFC shall have the right to assign the said agreement of purchase and sale
and its rights thereunder to a nominee designated in writing by KFC provided such nominee agrees
in writing with Licensee to be bound by all the terms and conditions of the said agreement of pur-
chase and sale and KFC agrees in writing with Licensee to indemnify Licensee with respect to any
default thereunder by such nominee. Notwithstanding failure of KFC to so accept such offer to sell,
the sale or other disposition by Licensee to the third party shall not be proceeded with without
KFC's prior written consent, and compliance in all other respects with the terms and conditions of
this Paragraph 16 and such failure by KFC shall be without prejudice to its rights hereunder with
respect thereto.

16.4 Licensee shall promptly make application in writing to KFC for consent prior to any transfer
hereunder and shall provide to KFC, at the time of such application or thereafter as KFC may rea-
sonably require, full disclosure in writing of the identity of the parties (the "Transferor" and
"Transferee") to such transfer and their relationship to Licensee (including by way of any corporate
shareholdings as referred to in Paragraph 16.1) and of all information given to the transferee con-
cerning the said business of Licensee. KFC agrees to deal with such application as expeditiously as
possible. Any such consent which may be given by KFC shall in any event be conditional upon:

(a) All obligations of Licensee to KFC pursuant to this Agreement and the Addendum
and to the national advertising program and any local media purchasing co-operative in which Li-
censee is a participant shall have been performed or satisfied in full. For this purpose KFC may
conduct an investigation and audit under Paragraph 11 in order to determine the extent of accrued
monetary obligations and may inspect the Outlets to determine the extent of the performance of
other obligations hereunder;

(b) If any other person is to replace Licensee hereunder, such person shall execute and
deliver to KFC such agreements required by KFC of new KFC licensees, and shall agree in form
and terms satisfactory to KFC to assume all the obligations of Licensee to KFC under this Agree-
ment or otherwise and to perform such renovations, modernization and remodelling of the Outlets
as KFC deems necessary so that the Outlets and all physical facilities, signs, menu-boards, equip-
ment and furnishings comply with the standards and specifications then applicable to new KFC
outlets;

(¢) If any other person is to replace Licensee hereunder, Licensee executes and deliv-
ers to KFC a General Release under seal, in form satisfactory to KFC, of any and all claims against
KFC; and (d) Payment to KFC of such reasonable fee as KFC may require to compensate for KFC's
costs of considering the transfer.

17. Termination of License

17.1 If Licensee desires to permanently close any or all the Outlets as KFC outlets, Licensee may
terminate the License for such Outlet or Outlets by giving thirty (30) days prior notice to KFC, pro-
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vided that the Outlet or Outlets are permanently closed as KFC outlets and the other provisions of
this Agreement are complied with.

17.2 KFC may, without prejudice to any other rights or
remedies contained in this Agreement or at law or in equity,
terminate the License upon immediate notice (or in the event
advance notice is required by law, upon the giving of such
notice) in the event that: ...

(d) Licensee makes or permits a transfer contrary to the provision of Paragraph 16; or

(e) Licensee fails to satisfy, in a material and substantive manner, the requirements for
enhancement and development contained in Articles 3.3, 3.4, 7.2 and 7.3 of the Addendum, pro-
vided that notice of any such failure is delivered to Licensee and Licensee shall not have corrected
such failure within (3) months from the delivery of such notice.

17.3 The License will terminate on the termination date
specified in any notice by KFC to Licensee (without any
further notice of termination unless required by law),
provided that (a) the notice is hand delivered or mailed at
least thirty (30) days (or such longer period as may be
required by law) in advance of the termination date, (b) the
notice reasonably identifies one or more breaches or defaults
in Licensee's obligations or performance hereunder, (c) the
notice specifies the manner in which the breach(es) or
default(s) are not fully remedied before, and as of, the
termination date. ...

17.4 Upon termination or expiration of the License, Licensee and its officers, directors and share-
holders shall immediately discontinue use of the KFC System, the KFC Marks and all other trade
secrets, confidential information, know-how and processes developed or owned by KFC and shall
immediately and at no cost to KFC remove all signs, menu-board inserts, point-of-sale material and
otherwise change the exterior and interior appearance of the Outlets so that they are no longer con-
fusingly similar to KFC outlets and no longer bear any KFC Marks or any indicia of the KFC Sys-
tem. If Licensee fails to do so immediately KFC may do so by entering the Outlets and Licensee
shall pay to KFC the costs it so incurs. Licensee shall also return the Confidential Operating Manu-
als and all other confidential materials to KFC and at KFC's option, upon payment of the fair market
value thereof by KFC, return to KFC all supplies and any other materials bearing the KFC Marks
and other indicia of the KFC System. Licensee agrees that any breach of its obligations hereunder
will cause immediate and substantial irreparable injury to KFC giving KFC the right to obtain im-
mediate injunctive relief without limiting any other rights or remedies of KFC. This Agreement and
the obligations of the parties hereunder shall survive the termination or expiration of the License
except to the extent expressly otherwise provided herein.

18.3 Cost of Enforcement If KFC or Licensee institutes any action at law or in equity and KFC
prevails entirely, based entirely or in part on the terms of this Agreement and the Addendum, KFC
shall be entitled to recover, in addition to any judgment entered in KFC's favour, all of KFC's ex-
penses in connection with the litigation including reasonable legal fees and court costs. If Licensee
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prevails entirely in any such action instituted by KFC or Licensee, Licensee will be entitled to such
expenses. If neither party prevails entirely, then each party will bear its own costs.

18.4 Non-Waiver No failure, forbearance, neglect or delay of any kind or extent on the part of KFC
in connection with the enforcement or exercise of any rights under this Agreement shall affect or
diminish KFC's right to strictly enforce and take full benefit of each provision of this Agreement at
any time, whether at law for damages, in equity for injunctive relief or specific performance, or
otherwise. No custom, usage, concession or practice with regard to this Agreement, Licensee, or
other KFC licensees shall preclude at any time the strict enforcement of this Agreement (upon due
notice) in accordance with its literal terms. No waiver by KFC of performance of any provision of
this Agreement shall constitute or be implied as waiver of KFC's right to enforce such provisions at
any future time.

18.5 Scope of Agreement, Changes, Consents, Etc. This Agreement and the Addendum constitute
the entire understanding and agreement of the parties concerning the KFC System, the KFC Marks,
the Outlets and the business of the Outlets and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous under-
standings and agreements of the parties, whether oral or written, pertaining thereto. No interpreta-
tion, change, termination or waiver of any provision hereof, and no consent or approval hereunder,
shall be binding upon the other party or effective unless in writing and signed by Licensee and
KFC's President or authorized employee in charge of franchising, except that the waiver need be
signed only by the party waiving.

18.6 Severability. All provisions of this Agreement

shall be severable and no such provision shall be affected by

the invalidity of any other such provisions to the extent that

such invalidity does not also render such provision invalid.

In the event of the invalidity of any provision, this

Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced as if all

provisions thereby rendered invalid were not contained herein. ....

18.10 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon
KFC and its successors and assigns and, subject always to the terms and conditions of Paragraph 16,
the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of Licensee.

ADDENDUM
MASTER DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT -- CANADA

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into as of the 1st day of January, 1989 by and between Ken-
tucky Fried Chicken Canada, a division of Pepsi-Cola Canada, Ltd., a company registered in and in
accordance with the laws of Canada, with a principal place of business at 10 Carlson Court, Suite
300, Rexdale, Ontario, Canada (hereinafter referred to as "KFC"), of the first part; and Scott's Food
Services Inc., a company registered in and in accordance with the law of Ontario, Canada, with its
principal place of business at 2000 Jane Street, Weston, Ontario, Canada (hereinafter referred to as
"Licensee"), of the second part.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS Licensee and its predecessors have been licensed to own and operate
Kentucky Fried Chicken Outlets in parts of the Canadian tetritory as a valued Licensee of KFC and
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its predecessors under the terms of various license and franchise agreements and in particular the
License Agreement and Contract made as of January 1, 1969.

WHEREAS KFC and Licensee desire to provide for and guarantee the full future de-
velopment and further beneficial exploitation by Licensee of the Kentucky Fried Chicken System in
parts of the Canadian territory and have contemporaneously with this Addendum executed a Master
Franchise License (hereinafter referred to as "License") with a term to expire on December 31,
2003.

WHEREAS KFC is willing to grant to Licensee certain rights and expects of Licensee
certain responsibilities in addition to those provided in the License for the detailed development of
its Kentucky Fried Chicken Outlets in Canada on terms and conditions set forth below.

WHEREAS Licensee is willing to accept such rights and perform such additional re-
sponsibilities and to document the terms and conditions under which its obligations shall be per-
formed and executed. ...

1. Grant

KFC hereby grants to Licensee rights, and Licensee hereby accepts certain responsi-
bilities, to provide for the development of Kentucky Fried Chicken Outlets under the terms of this
Agreement. All Kentucky Fried Chicken outlets developed under this Agreement will be subject to
the License Agreement and the Outlet Certification Agreement executed for each Outlet. This grant
is personal in nature and no rights hereunder may be assigned or transferred by Licensee in whole or
in part without the prior written approval of KFC.

2. Term

The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the date first written above and
shall expire on December 31, 2003.

3. Territory Development

3.3 The parties will agree annually on the schedule for
the development of Outlets to be opened in the Territory. In
Schedule "B" hereto the parties set forth the agreed minimum
numbers of Outlets to be opened by Licensee during the initial
three (3) calendar years of development hereunder. The
parties agree that these are minimum Outlet openings only and
that additional Outlets may be opened during each year, if
such additional Outlet openings are approved in advance. ...

3.5 KFC and Licensee agree that the formula contained
in schedule "C" attached hereto sets out the method and
criteria under which KFC and Licensee will determine a new
Outlet site. ...

4. Outlet Approval Procedure
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4.1 The parties agree that each Kentucky Fried Chicken Outlet that is opened by Licensee must be
approved in compliance with the following Outlet Approval Procedure.

4.2 Evaluation of Sites. Licensee shall prepare for a proposed site for a new Kentucky Fried Chick-
en Outlet a written Site Evaluation in accordance with the Site Evaluation Document attached here-
to as Schedule "D" showing site dimensions, building type and placement on site, proposed ingress
and egress and layout. Upon receipt of the Site Evaluation Document, KFC shall have twenty-one
(21) days to evaluate each proposed site and notify Licensee of any comment or objection or, failing
timely reply, approval of the site will be deemed to have been given.

4.3 The Site Evaluation Document shall indicate whether
or not Licensee will be constructing the Outlet in accordance
with KFC Standard Plans and Specifications that have been
agreed by the parties for application in Canada. The KFC
Standard Plans and Specifications (hereinafter referred to as
"Plans") for Canada are attached hereto under Schedule "E".
The Plans may be changed or augmented on an annual basis by
agreement of the parties in writing. If the Site Evaluation
Document indicates that Licensee is not able to utilize the
Plans, then the plans and specifications proposed to be used
shall be submitted to KFC with the Site Evaluation Document.
Licensee acknowledges and agrees that in the event
modification of the Plans becomes necessary then Licensee must
bear the sole responsibility and cost associated with any such
modification and KFC approval of such modification shall be
obtained. ...

6. Outlet Certification

6.1 The document attached hereto as Schedule "F" entitled "Scott's KFC Outlets" includes all Li-
censee Kentucky Fried Chicken Outlets operating as of the date of this Agreement. KFC acknowl-
edges that no initial fees are owing for any listed location and accepts each location as a Kentucky
Fried Chicken Outlet subject to this Agreement. Following the execution of this Agreement the par-
ties shall execute an Outlet Certification Agreement for each Outlet listed in Schedule "F" upon the
completion and acceptance of the enhancement actions agreed to be taken under sub-section 7.2
below. (The form of agreement to be used for each Outlet Certification Agreement is attached here-
to as Schedule "G".) The term to be included in the Outlet Certification Agreements for the en-
hanced Outlets shall be for a fifteen (15) year period from the date of completion of these said en-
hancement actions.

6.2 Upon the acceptance of an existing Outlet and not less than thirty (30) days before each new
Outlet is to be opened by Licensee, the parties shall execute an Outlet Certification Agreement in
the form of Schedule "G" certifying that the proposed Outlet has been reviewed and approved by
KFC in accordance with the specific terms hereof and that the Outlet will be operated or continue to
be operated in compliance with and subject to the terms of the Outlet Certification Agreement, this
agreement and the License. Signature by KFC shall constitute KFC's permission for Licensee to op-
erate the Outlet for the Outlet Term as long as the terms of this Agreement are enforceable and Li-
censee is not in breach of any of the terms hereof.
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6.3 In the event an Outlet is not approved pursuant to sub-section 7.2 below, an Outlet Certification
Agreement will not be executed for the Outlet. Licensee will be permitted to continue to operate
such Outlet subject to the terms of this Agreement and the License for an agreed period of time until
the parties implement their agreement with respect to such outlet under sub-section 7.2, at which
time an Outlet Certification Agreement will be executed for the Outlet. Failing this, the term of such
Outlet will expire on the date agreed by the parties or at the end of the License Term at the latest.

7. Annual Outlet Enhancement Program

7.1 The parties fully understand the importance and value of uniform concept standards and uni-
formity of image and trademark usage. Licensee agrees that it shall undertake and maintain a de-
fined program with regard to the remodelling and upgrading of all Kentucky Fried Chicken Outlets
to comply with the applicable current Kentucky Fried Chicken standards.

7.2 Licensee agrees to remodel and upgrade each of its Outlets as set out in Schedule "F" within a
period not to exceed seven (7) years from January 1, 1990. The enhancement actions to be taken
will be pursuant to the agreed enhancement standards for Canada. Licensee will co-operate with
KFC in its review of the Outlets on the basis of the methods and criteria established in Schedule "C"
or other appropriate criteria.

7.3 At least sixty (60) days prior to the commencement of each calendar year the parties will agree
in writing on the Annual Outlet Enhancement Program ("Program") for the succeeding year. The
annual Program will cover a reasonable number (not less than ten (10%) per cent) of Outlets in
proportion to the total requirements set above under Section 7.2. The Program will list the targeted
Outlets and will define the action plan for the improvement or other actions to be taken with respect
to each Outlet scheduled for image enhancement during the year. The Program will result in an an-
nual capital investment by Licensee of not less than Six Million ($6,000,000) Dollars.

9. Interpretation

9.1 Non-Waiver No failure, neglect or delay of any kind or extent on the part of KFC in connection
with the enforcement of exercise of any rights under this Agreement shall affect or diminish KFC's
right to strictly enforce and take full benefit of each provision of this Agreement or otherwise. No
custom, usage, concession or practice with regard to this License, Licensee or KFC's other licensees
shall preclude at any time the strict enforcement of this Agreement in accordance with its literal
terms. No waiver by KFC of performance of any provision of this Agreement shall constitute or be
implied as a waiver of KFC's right to enforce such provision at any future time.

9.2 Severability. All provisions of this Agreement shall be severable and no such provision shall be
affected by the invalidity of any other such provisions to the extent that such invalidity does not also
render such other provision invalid. In the event of the invalidity of any provision, this Agreement
shall be interpreted and enforced as if all provisions thereby rendered invalid were not contained
herein.

SCHEDULE B

Scott's Store Address City Province



6002
6003
6006
6030
6032
6033
6035
6045
6049
6051
6055
6060
6063
6066
6068
6070
6073
6075
6077
6084
6085
6088

6116
6149
6172
6174
6189
6197
6235
6246
6251
6257
6271
6297
6301
6310
6311
6312
6313
6321
6324
6326
6328

3765 Keele Street Downsview Ontario
1225 Danforth Avenue Toronto Ontario
1638 Avenue Road Toronto Ontario

3517 Dundas Street W. Toronto Ontario
2799 Kingston Road ScarboroughOntario
9025 Torbram Road Brampton Ontario
1221 Dundas Street W. Toronto Ontario
2774 Victoria Park Willowdale Ontario
2377 Finch Avenue W. Weston Ontario

55 Harvest Moon Dr. Markham Ontario
891 Pape Avenue Toronto Ontario

1091 Bloor Street W. Toronto Ontario

433 Roncesvalles Ave. Toronto Ontario

66 Wellesley Street E. Toronto Ontario
1891 Rathburn Road MississaugaOntario
5109 Sheppard Avenue E.ScarboroughOntario
467 Main Street W. StouffvilleOntario
1340 Kingston Rd. #1 Pickering Ontario
4678 Highway #7 Unionville Ontario

896 Burnamthorpe Rd. MississaugaOntario
1971 Finch Avenue W. Downsview Ontario
2002 Middlefield,

Unit #2 Markham Ontario

353 Duckworth Street Barrie Ontario

28 Dumfries Street Paris Ontario

1916 Wyandotte St. W. Windsor Ontario
4320 Tecumseh Road E. Windsor Ontario
1314 Dufferin Street WallaceburgOntario
582 Kathleen Street W. Sudbury Ontario
1117 bd Manseau Joliette Québec

291 bd des Laurentides St-Jerome Québec
590 rue Principale Ste-Agathe Québec

180 rue Fiset Sorel Québec

1465 rue King Sherbrooke Québec

2975 bd Laframboise St-Hyacinthe Québec
115 rue Fraser Riviere du LoupQuébec
2020 bd Mellon Jonquiere Québec

936 bd Ducharme LaTuque Québec

230 8¢ avenue Dolbeau Québec

991 bd Marcotte Roberval Québec

650 bd Paquette Mont Laurier Québec
1605 bd St-Joseph Drummondville Québec
14 rue Fusey Cap Madeleine Québec

1483 rue St-Marc Shawinigan Québec
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6341
6358
6361

6372
6377
6385
6456
6461
6542
6552
6559
6599
6604
6616
6620
6622
6625

3035 le Carrefour Carrefour Lava Québec
2439 54 Avenue S.W. Calgary Alberta
1000-200 Crowfoot

Cres. N. Calgary Alberta

5006 Centre Street N. Calgary Alberta
244 Edmonton Trail Airdrie Alberta

224 2 Avenue W. Cochrane Alberta

785 Wonderland Rd. S. London Ontario
500 Rexdale Blvd. Rexdale Ontario

3rd Avenue East Owen Sound Ontario
486-500 Crantham Ave.St.CatharinesOntario
311 Main Street Dunnville Ontario

1687 Montreal Rd. Ottawa Ontario

1677 Bank Street Ottawa Ontario

21 Main Street E. Smiths FallsOntario

70 Raglan St. N. Renfrew Ontario

45 Munro Street Carleton Place Ontario
1943 Baseline Rd. Ottawa Ontario
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Case Name:

Allen-Vanguard Corp. v. L'Abbé

RE: Allen-Vanguard Corporation, and
Richard L'Abbé et al

[2013] O.J. No. 1074
2013 ONSC 1098

Court File No. 08-CV-43544

Ontario Superior Court of Justice
Master C.U.C. MacLeod
February 21, 2013.

(33 paras.)

Civil litigation -- Civil procedure -- Pleadings -- Amendment of -- Statement of claim -- Adding new
cause of action - To alter or add to claim for relief - Motion by plaintiff for leave to amend its
pleadings allowed - Plaintiff sued defendants for damages for breach of warranty,
misrepresentation, and fraud as a result of a share purchase transaction -- Plaintiff wanted to
increase damages claim from 340 million to $650 million and add a clam for fraudulent
misrepresentation -- There was sufficient ambiguity in provisions of share purchase agreement that
it could not be said that on face of agreement plaintiff could never succeed -- No actual prejudice
to defendants was established which could not be addressed in costs or other reasonable terms.

Motion by the plaintiff for leave to amend its pleadings. The proposed amendments increased the claim for
damages from $40 million to $650 million and added a clam for fraudulent misrepresentation. The
defendants alleged that the amendments fundamentally changed the nature of the litigation and opposed the
amendments. The plaintiff purchased all of the outstanding shares of Med Eng Systems in 2007. One of
Med Eng's major customers was the US military. The rights of the parties were governed by a share
purchase agreement which intended, in part, to protect the offeree shareholders from liability by limiting any
claims to claims against an escrow fund. All of the critical representations and warranties were given by
Med Eng management on behalf of the corporation being acquired and not by the vendors, the offeree



shareholders. The platiff alleged in the current action that the management of Med Eng failed to disclose
material risks in relation to the continuation of the key US military contract and also misrepresented the
extent of contingent liabilities, tax liabilities, warranty claims and other contractual and litigation risks. The
action was based on breach of warranty, misrepresentation, and fraud.

HELD: Motion allowed. The claim was not rendered untenable by these amendments and the amendments
were not for an improper purpose. The increased claim might not be tenable at law because the provisions
of the share purchase agreement limited any claims to claims against the escrow fund. If the plamtiff could
show fraud, however, it would not be limited to the amount in the escrow fund. There was sufficient
ambiguity in the interrelated provisions of the share purchase agreement that the court was unable to find
only one possible interpretation of the contract. It could not be said that on the face of the agreement the
plaintiff could never succeed. The litigation risk to both parties was increased if the amendment was
granted, but the court was unable to infer irreparable prejudice. In the absence of specific evidence, the
court was unable to find actual prejudice on the part of the defendants which could not be addressed n
costs or other reasonable terms.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules Cited:

Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 25, Ruk 26.01

Counsel:
Eli S. Lederman for Allen Vanguard Corporation.

Thomas. G. Conway for the "offeree shareholders."

REASONS

1 MASTER C.U.C. MacLEOD:-- This is a motion by Allen-Vanguard Corporation to amend its
pleadings. Most of the amendments simply particularize the allegations or update the pleadings. The only
controversial amendments are those proposed to paragraphs 1(a) and 2(f). The first of these is a proposed
amendment to the prayer for reliefto increase the claim from $40 million to $650 million. The second is the
addition of the phrase "fraudulent misrepresentations and" to the paragraph which currently reads
"breaches of representations and warranties" and claims indemmification for damages from the defendants.

2 Ordinarily amendment to raise the quantum of damages is granted as a matter of course because of
the mandatory language of Rule 26.01. In this case however the defendants allege that the amendments
fundamentally change the nature of the litigation. They oppose this on the basis that read in context it is
untenable at law, is highly prejudicial and is an abuse of process.

3 Ihave given these submissions careful consideration but ultimately conclude that pursuant to Rule
26.01 leave must be granted.



Background

4  The facts and allegations underlying this litigation have been set out in some detail in earlier reasons. !
For purposes of this motion it is simply necessary to repeat that Allen-Vanguard Corporation purchased all
of the outstanding shares of Med Eng Systems Inc. in September, 2007 for roughly $650 million.
Subsequently Med Eng was merged with another subsidiary of Allen Vanguard to become AVTI and
ultimately was merged with Allen Vanguard itself so that currently Med Eng and Allen Vanguard are one
and the same.

5 Med Eng was in the business of supplying protective products for military, police and security
services. One of its major customers was the U.S. military. Central to this litigation is the allegation that
management of Med Eng failed to disclose material risks in relation to the continuation of the key U.S.
military contract and also misrepresented the extent of contingent liabilities, tax liabilities, warranty claims
and other contractual and litigation risks. The action was based on breach of warranty, misrepresentation,
and fraud.

6 The central document which governs the rights between the parties is the Share Purchase Agreement
(SPA) dated August 3rd, 2007. This is an agreement between Allen Vanguard, Med Eng and the Offeree
Shareholders. The Offeree Shareholders are the defendants to this action. They are Richard L'Abbé,
1062455 Ontario Inc., Growth Works Canadian Fund Ltd., and the Schroder entities collectively referred
to as Schroder Canada and Schroder UK. These were the controlling shareholders of Med Eng. There
were also minority sharcholders who are not party to the SPA but whose shares were also acquired and
who would have received their proportionate share of the purchase price. Other than Richard L'Abbé,
none of the offeree shareholders are individuals and none of the members of Med Eng management were
offeree shareholders.

7  The structure of the SPA is very particular in its structure. Ordinarily in an agreement of purchase and
sale one would expect the vendors to give or withhold representations and warranties and to be liable for
breach of the agreement. In this case however, other than the warranties concerning ownership of the
shares, it is Med Eng itself which gives the warranties and representations concerning its books, records,
financial statements, assets, contracts, commitments, employees, taxes, regulatory compliance, and other
material disclosure under the signature of its then CEO.2 Pursuant to the agreement part of the purchase
price, $40 million, was deposited into an escrow fund and is available as a price adjustment fund to satisfy
any claims for breach of warranty. Though this find is the property of the offeree shareholders in the
absence of proven claims, it is available to indemnify Allen Vanguard for any breach of the warranties and
representations given by Med Eng.

8 For purposes of this motion, the critical provision of the SPA is Article 7 dealing with indemnification.
The clear intent of Article 7 is to limit any liability of the offeree shareholders and to limit any remedy by
Allen Vanguard to a claim against the escrow fund. There are however exceptions for fraud. A critical
question for purposes of the motion (and at trial if the amendment is granted) is whether or not a claim for
more than $40 million may be maintained against the offeree shareholders ifMed Eng management acted
fraudulently?

9 Subsequent to the closing of the transaction and assuming control of Med Eng , Allen Vanguard was



disappointed to find that the new acquisition did not live up to its promise. Difficulties developed in the
contract with the U.S. military and with certain other relationships. Allegedly as a result of "MES's
misrepresentations and breaches of representations, warranties and covenants” Allen Vanguard itself, in the
words of the amended statement of claim, "spiralled into insolvency in the months following the
transaction.' In 2009 Allen Vanguard sought protection from creditors and a plan of arrangement and
reorganization under the CCAA.4

10 When this litigation was commenced, Allen Vanguard pleaded as follows:

1. (a) "indemnification and/or damages for fraudulent and/or negligent
misrepresentation and breach of contract in the amount of $40,000,000 which
shall be distributed to Allen-Vanguard Corporation in accordance with the
terms of the Escrow Agreement as defined herein'.s

2. (e) "as a result of the breaches of representation and warranties by MES, the
Defendants are directly liable to indemnify Allen-Vanguard for the damages
which have been caused to Allen-Vanguard".¢

11 At no time has it been asserted that any of the offeree shareholders committed fraud nor that the
offeree shareholders made any representations or misrepresentations. With the exception of Paul Timmis,
who is party to a related proceeding and who figures prominently in the statement of claim, none of the
individuals who are said to be responsible for the misrepresentations are the subject of individual claims.
For obvious reasons (since it would have made no sense to sue its own subsidiary when the action was
commenced and since Allen Vanguard cannot maintain an action against itself now that it is amalgamated)
Med Eng is not a defendant to Allen Vanguard's claim. Nevertheless throughout the statement of claim the
misrepresentations and breaches of duty are pleaded as acts of "MES". That is Med Eng. Of course the
former shareholders generally and the offeree shareholders in particular were the beneficiaries of the fraud,
if fraud there was, so as vendors it is from them that Allen Vanguard seeks damages.

12 The disputed amendments would change the claim to read as follows:

1. (a) "mdemmification and/or damages for fraudulent and/or negligent
misrepresentation and breach of contract in the amount of $650,000 of which
$40,000,000 shall be distributed to Allen-Vanguard in accordance with the
terms of the Escrow Agreement as defined herein."

2. (f) "as a result of the fraudulent misrepresentations and breaches of
representations and warranties by MES, the Defendants are directly liable to
indemnify Allen-Vanguard for the damages which have been caused to Allen-
Vanguard."

13 The change to paragraph 2 (¢) (now paragraph 2 (f) as a consequence of other amendments which
are not opposed) is by itself of little moment. Firstly it is in a paragraph headed "overview" and secondly it
is already pleaded that the "misrepresentations” were "fraudulent and or negligent misrepresentations”. But
there can be no doubt that the change to the prayer for relief from $40,000,000 to $650,000.00 read in
combination with this change is a findamental change to the litigation in substance if not in form. What is



happening is that instead of simply laying claim to the entire escrow fund, Allen Vanguard is now seeking a
full refund of'the purchase price. The original claim was almost a claim in rem since, apart from the claim
for pre-judgment interest and costs, it sought damages to be distributed to the plamfiff from the escrow
fund. Now the damages in excess of the escrow fund will be sought at large against the "defendants” jointly
and severally.

14 At all previous stages in the litigation it has been conducted on the basis that the entitlement to the
escrow fund was the ultimate question in issue. This is apparent not only from the pleading but from the
previous endorsements and case conference orders. The allegation of fraudulent misrepresentation in that
context appeared almost gratuitous because it has never been necessary to prove that the
misrepresentations were fraudulent to lay claim to the fand. Conversely this change to the pleading will be
totally dependent on proving fraud. The limiting words of Article 7 clearly apply except in case of fraud.
The plaintiff does not seek rescission of the SPA nor of'the sale itself.

15 Because this amendment is thus potentially "game changing” and is made only 8 months before the
scheduled trial date, the defendants view it as an improper tactic designed to strengthen the hand of'the
plaintiff in upcoming mediation. Their position is that it should be refused by the court on the basis that the
claim is untenable at law, is highly prejudicial and is an abuse of process.

The test for amending pleadings and refusing an amendment

16 I need not repeat at length the test for amending a pleading. "On motion at any stage of an action the
court shall grant leave to amend a pleading on such terms as are just, unless prejudice would result that
could not be compensated for by costs or an adjournment."” Of course the proposed pleading must be a
proper pleading, It must therefore meet the requirements of Rule 25 and must be tenable at law, It may be
refused if it creates unreasonable prejudice for the defendants or if it is a mere tactical amendment sought
for an improper purpose.®

17 It follows that if the amendment is indeed untenable at law, highly prejudicial or an abuse of process
it may be refused. A plea is untenable if it is impossible of success at trial otherwise it should not be refused
at the pleadings stage.® Though prejudice may be inferred in certain circumstances, the prejudice must be
such that it cannot be remedied by a costs award or by other terms such as adjournments, setting
peremptory dates for the party seeking the amendment, additional discovery rights or security for costs.
Moreover the prejudice must be prejudice that flows from the fact of the amendment and not from the
claim itself. Simply facing the prejudice that would be mevitable as the result of any successful plea is
msufficient.!® As for abuse of process, it is for the party asserting abuse to demonstrate that there is an illicit
purpose for the amendment constituting grounds for refusal IfT am not persuaded that one or more of
these barriers exists then the amendment must be granted on appropriate terms.

Analysis

18 The court is constrained to decide a motion such as this on the basis of the evidence actually before it
and not on the basis of speculation and supposition or of positions put forth in argument that are not
supported by the record. The only affidavit evidence before the court is an affidavit of an associate lawyer
tendered on behalf of the moving party. That affidavit addresses the reasons for seeking the amendment



but little else. The defendants have not tendered any affidavit. Accordingly the motion must be decided on
the basis of the one affidavit, certain discovery and cross examination transcripts, the pleadings, the
proposed amended pleading and the documents incorporated into the pleadings by reference. In particular
[ have before me the SPA and the Escrow Agreement. As this matter is case managed and I have heard all
of the motions and case conferences I am also familiar with previous findings, the timetable for the
proceeding and the litigation history which I would be entitled to take mto consideration as well

19  Dealing firstly with the question of whether or not the mcreased claim is tenable at law, it may not be.
This is because the rights of the parties are governed by the SPA and as described above the intent of that
document is in part to protect the offeree shareholders from liability by limiting any claims to claims against
the escrow find. All of the critical representations and warranties were given in fact and in law by Med
Eng management on behalf of the corporation being acquired and not by the vendors, the offeree
shareholders.

20 Inarticle 7.06 which expressly survives termination or rescission of the contract, all parties agree that
the sole remedies of any party against the others for any maccuracy or misrepresentation are the remedies
under Article 7 itself. The same article contains a provision that all parties waive any remedies against the
other parties except for those set out in Article 7 "other than those arising with respect to any fraud". Read
in the most favourable light to the plaintiff this means that in the case of fraud the plaintiff is not limited to the
remedies set out in Article 7. But of course that does not create a right of action against the offeree
shareholders.

21  Similarly Article 7.02 which provides that the corporation will indemmify the purchaser for any
breaches of representation and warranty and that such claims are limited to the amount in the escrow fund
contains the words "except m cases of fraud". This clearly anticipates that if the plaintiff can show fraud, it
will not be limited to the amount in the escrow find. Once again however, notwithstanding that it would in
most cases be impractical for a purchaser to assert a claim against the corporation it is purchasing, the
liability is expressed to be liability of Med Eng and this paragraph does not create a specific right of action
against the offeree shareholders. 7.02(5) on the other hand specifically provides that the sole recourse of
the purchaser against the corporation or the offeree shareholders shall be the "Indemmnification Escrow
fund" except in the case of deficiency of'title to the shares or "in respect of liability of any Shareholder ...
under any claim attributable to fraud of that shareholder".

22 Since there is no fraud asserted against any defendant offeree shareholder, the defendants contend
that this provision in article 7.02(5) is a complete defence to a claim beyond the $40 million in the escrow
fund. They may be right. Mr. Conway puts this argument persuasively and it is consistent with the intent of
the agreement to limit the exposure of the vendors. Nevertheless I am not able to say with certainty that
this is the only possible interpretation of the agreement. Mr. Lederman argues that no court can condone
an mterpretation which would unjustly enrich the former shareholders at the expense of the plamtiff if it was
a victim of fraudulent misrepresentation. There is sufficient ambiguity in these mterrelated provisions that I
am unable to find only one possible mterpretation of the contract. I cannot say that on the face of the
agreement the plaintiff could never succeed.

23 Accordingly the claim must be regarded as tenable. I could not strike it under Rule 25.11 nor, were I
a judge, under Rule 21.01.



24  The question of delay in seeking the amendment is more troubling. The affidavit evidence is to the
effect that the decision to amend the claim was made after the discovery of Mr. Timmis. The plaintiff
believes that evidence given by Mr. Timmis is an admission of material misrepresentation and non
disclosure concerning amongst other things knowledge that the U.S. military was proposing "head to head
tests" between the Med Eng product and the products of competitors. In other words the affidavit explains
why Allen Vanguard now believes it has stronger evidence of fraudulent misrepresentation. There is
however nothing in the affidavit that asserts that anything has occurred to suggest that the damages incurred
by Allen Vanguard have changed or why Allen Vanguard earlier believed it was limited to claiming against
the escrow fund and has now apparently changed its view. It appears the explanation is simply that
encouraged by the discovery evidence and believing it has a better chance of success, the plaintiff has
reconsidered its upside on damages and now wants to "go for broke".

25  There is authority from the Court of Appeal that "while delay is not in and of'itself a basis for refusing
an amendment, there must come a point where the delay is so long and the justification so madequate that
some prejudice to the defendant will be presumed absent a demonstration by the party seeking the
amendment that there is in fact no prejudice™.!! There would certainly have been nothing preventing the
plaintiff from seeking to increase its claim earlier. On the other hand there are eight months until the trial, the
discovery of the plaintiff has not concluded and expert reports have not yet been delivered. The litigation
risk to both parties is increased if the amendment is granted but I amunable to infer irreparable prejudice.

26 It was suggested that the offeree shareholders would be prejudiced by this massively inflated claim in
various ways. Common sense would suggest this will be so. Instead of merely facing the loss of the $40
million escrow fund that was always at risk of adjustment under the terms of the contract, the offeree
shareholders will now have to make provision for a potential contingent liability of $610 million. This
however is precisely the prejudice they would have faced had the claim been for $650 million in the first
place. Since I have no affidavit evidence, there is nothing before me by which I can conclude that they have
taken steps in reliance upon the size of this claim that cannot now be undone. While it is possible that a
different litigation strategy might have been adopted or will now have to be adopted, that is nothing more
than speculation. In the absence of specific evidence, I am not able to find actual prejudice which cannot
be addressed in costs or other reasonable terms. Even unfairness is not enough to create prejudice
according to the Court of Appeal.'2

27 A finding of abuse of process is ordinarily though not invariably related to a finding of prejudice.
Pursuing an aggressive litigation strategy does not rise to the level of abuse of process unless it can clearly
be shown to be directed at an improper purpose. Specifically the evidence I would find compelling would
be evidence that the amendment would give an unfair advantage to one party over another or was designed
to undermine a ruling of the court or the provisions of the rules. I do not have such evidence here.

28 Insummary I amnot able to find that the claim is rendered untenable by these amendments nor that
the amendments are for an improper purpose nor that the defendants will suffer a high degree of prejudice.

Conclusion and terms

29  In conclusion the plaintiff has brought itself within the mandatory wording of Rule 26.01 and
accordingly leave will be granted to amend the statement of claim in the form proposed.



30 The court is obliged to address any prejudice to the defendant by an award of costs or by other
relief which may be granted consequent to amendments. No such terns of relief were proposed as the
defendants were requesting the motion be dismissed but notwithstanding the lack of a fall-back position, it
seems reasonable to allow for the possbility that terms should be imposed.

31 At a minimum the defendants may amend therr statement of defence and may discover on the
amendments but they may also have to respond to the amendments in other ways. For example 1 can
envision (though it was not in evidence) that due to the vastly increased exposure the offeree shareholders
may now have to reconsider cross claims or claims against the former managers. Conceivably some of
these decisions could impact on the trial date, could require other adjustments to the timetable or require
more substantial relief. The plaintiff will also have to review its productions to ensure it has produced any
damage documentation relevant to the increased claim.

32 The costs of the motion will also have to be decided. As always 1 invite counsel to agree on costs
but otherwise 1 will hear submissions.

33 Anorder will therefore go as follows;

a. The plaintiff's motion to amend the claim is granted and the amended statement
of claim in the form set out at Tab 1 A of the motion record may issue. The
amended claim is to be issued within the next 10 days.

b.  The defendants may amend the statement of defence and may discover on the
amendments. The plaintiffis to advise whether these amendments will require
additional production and when a supplementary affidavit of documents can be
available.

C.  The amended claim is to be issued within the next 10 days. Further direction
regarding the timing of the amended statement of defence and any other steps
consequent on the amendment will be given at one of the upcoming case
conferences.

d. I will hear further submissions if the defendants seek additional terms.

I will hear submissions on costs should that be necessary. If either party seeks
to make submissions they are to advise my office within 30 days failing which
there will be no order as to costs.

MASTER C.U.C. MacLEOD

cp/s/qljel/qlrdp

1 2011 ONSC 4000; 2011 ONSC 7331; 2011 ONSC 7575 (Master); see also 2011 ONCA



125 (C.A.) inrelated litigation.

2 This includes the warranty that the corporation is not aware of any intention on the part of any of
its 10 largest customers to cease doing business with the corporation or to materially change their
existing arrangements with the corporation and that there are no material unresolved disputes with its
principal suppliers, shippers or customers. (Article 3.01 (12) (k)).

3 Paragraph 6, amended statement of claim.

4 The CCAA proceeding has been the subject of much activity on the Commercial List in Toronto.
See for example 2010 ONSC 2676; 2011 ONSC 733; 2011 ONSC 5017.

5 Paragraph 1 (a), original statement of claim.

6 Paragraph 2 (), original statement of claim.

7 Rule 26.01.

8 The parties both refer to Plante v. Industrial Alliance Life Insurance Company (2003) 66 O.R.
(3d) 74 (S.C.J. -Master) as setting out the test. With respect to abuse of process see also National
Trust Co. v. Furbacher [1994] O.J. No. 2385 (S.C.J.) citing with approval C. Evans & Sons Ltd.
v. Spritebrand Ltd. and another [1985] 2 ALE.R. 415 (C.A.).

9 Plante, supra. See also Chinook Group Ltd. v. Foamex International Inc. (2004), 72 O.R. (3d)
381 (S.C.J. - Master).

10 Hanlan v. Sernesky (1996), 3 C.P.C. (46) 201 (Ont. C.A.).

11 Family Delicatessen Ltd. et. at v. The Corporation of the City of London et. al. [2006] O.J. No.
669 (C.A)) 12.

12 See Kings Gate Developments Inc. v. Colangelo (1994), 17 O.R. (3d) 841 (C.A.).
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Case Name:

Allen-Vanguard Corp. v. L'Abbé

RE: Allen-Vanguard Corporation, Respondent (Plaintiff), and
Richard L'Abbé et al, Appellants (Defendants)

[2013] O.J. No. 2324
2013 ONSC 2950

Court File No. 08-CV-43544

Ontario Superior Court of Justice
C.T. Hackland J.
May 22, 2013.
(12 paras.)

Appeal From:

On appeal from the Order of Master MacLeod pursuant to which he granted leave to the respondent to
amend its statement of claim to increase its claim for damages from $40 million to $610 million aganst the
former shareholders of Med-Eng Systems Inc. (Med-Eng shareholders) for alleged misrepresentations and
breaches of contract of Med-Eng in the course of the sale of the business of Med-Eng to the respondent.
The Master's order also permitted the respondent to add the phrase "Fraudulent misrepresentations and
..." such that the relevant paragraph now reads: As a result of the fraudulent misrepresentations and
breaches of representations and warranties by MES, the Defendants are directly liable to indemnify Allen-
Vanguard [the respondent] for the damages which have been caused to Allen-Vanguard.

Counsel:
Ronald G. Slaght, Q.C. for the Respondent (Plaintiff).

Thomas G. Conway and Calina N. Ritchie for the Appellants (Defendants).




ENDORSEMENT

1 C.T. HACKLAND J.:-- The Master held that the proposed amendment fell within the mandatory
wording of Rule 26.01 of the Rules of Civil Procedure which provides:

On motion at any stage of an action the court shall grant leave to amend a
pleading on such terms as are just, unless prejudice would result that could not
be compensated for by costs or an adjournment.

(underlining added)

2 The Master was well aware of the fact that the amendment if granted would expose the Med-Eng
shareholders to potential liability for the full purchase price of the business and not simply for their
respective interests in the $40 million holdback find created on closing in order to secure any possible
claims for misrepresentation and breach of warranty, as provided for in an escrow agreement. The
amendment in issue is indeed potentially "game changing', as the Master observed.

3 The appellants challenge the Master's order on the basis that the proposed amendment was not
tenable. The law is clear that an amendment to a pleading should not be granted if it is clearly untenable in
law or on the facts as pleaded. Whether or not the amendment is tenable depends significantly on the
interpretation of the Share Purchase Agreement which governed the sale of the business.

4  Onthe facts of this case, it is common ground that all of the critical representations and warranties
were given by Med-Eng management on behalf of the corporation being acquired and not by the vendors,
the offeree shareholders. Furthermore, it is well settled that shareholders are not vicariously liable for the
acts of corporations in which they hold shares. This common law principle is enshrined in section 92 of the
Ontario Business Corporations Act. The Master's reasons reflect that he was well aware of these
considerations.

5 It would appear to be common ground in this case that any liability on the part of the vendor
shareholders could only be based on an obligation arising from the Share Purchase Agreement in the
context of fraud. As the Master accurately observed, the effect of this amendment to the pleading will be
totally dependent on proving fraud. Obviously in the context of this pleadings motion the court is not ina
position to assess whether fraud can be proven on the evidence.

6 Mr. Conway for the appellants argued persuasively that Article 7.02 of the Share Purchase
Agreement was designed to limit any claims for damages for misrepresentation to the $40 million escrow
fund, However the waiver or limitation of claims in Article 7.02 itself contains the limitation "other than
those [remedies] arising with respect to any fraud". As the Master observed, this limitation does not itself
create a right of action against the offeree shareholders. It is less than clear what the exclusion of fraud
from Article 7.02 actually means. This may be a matter for parol evidence at trial The Master held that he
was unable to find only one possible interpretation of the contract and accordingly could not definttively say
that the proposed amendment was untenable.

7  Irespectfully agree with the Master's analysis, which is captured in paragraph 22 of his careful



reasons:

Since there is no fraud asserted against any defendant offeree shareholder, the
defendants contend that this provision in article 7.02 (5) s a complete defence
to a claim beyond the $40 million in the escrow fund. They may be right. Mr.
Conway puts this argument persuasively and it is consistent with the intent of the
agreement to limit the exposure of the vendors. Nevertheless I am not able to
say with certainty that this is the only possible interpretation of the agreement.
Mr. Lederman argues that no court can condone an interpretation which would
unjustly enrich the former shareholders at the expense of the plamtiff if it was a
victim of fraudulent misrepresentation. There is sufficient ambiguity m these
interrelated provisions that I am unable to find only one possible interpretation of
the contract. I cannot say that on the face of the agreement the plaintiff could
never succeed.

8 The respondent submits that on this pleadings motion, the court lacks the necessary evidence of the
factual matrix within which the Share Purchase Agreement was negotiated. It is suggested that such
evidence will help to explain how it was intended that the parties deal with claims for fraud in excess of the
$40 million escrow fund. It is submitted by the respondent that Article 7.07 of the Share Purchase
Agreement is not simply a tax adjustment clause, rather it was intended as a post closing remedial provision
which, in the case of fraud, would result in an actual reduction or partial refind of the purchase price.

9 Like the Master, I cannot say that the proposed amendment was untenable in the sense that it could
never succeed. And I specifically do not accept the appellants' submission that it was an etror of law for
the Master to fail to articulate the specific ambiguity in the Share Purchase Agreement on which the
respondent's amendment could succeed. Such a requirement could not be met on the evidentiary record
available on a pleadings motion and would be contrary to the mandatory requirement in Rule 26.01 that
leave to amendment pleadings shall be granted in the absence of prejudice that cannot be compensated in
costs or by an adjournment.

10  On the question of delay and abuse of process, I decline to interfere with the Master's exercise of
discretion on this largely factual consideration. I understand and expect that the Master will hear
submissions on whether an adjournment of the current trial dates is required in view of the amendments
herein or whether any other terms are necessary to avoid prejudice to the appellants.

11  Insummary, I can find no error of law in the Master's reasons nor any error in the manner in which
he has exercised his discretion in allowing the respondent to amend its pleadings. The appeal is therefore
dismissed.

12 The respondent may make a written submission on costs within 14 days of the release of this
endorsement and the appellants may respond within 14 days of receiving the respondent's submission.

C.T. HACKLAND J.

cp/e/qlect/qlrdp
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R. 6.1 RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

RULE 6.1 — SEPARATE HEARINGS

Highlights

This Rule, introduced in 2010, permits separate hearings on different i5_
sues, such as liability and damages, provided the parties consent.

On the issue of separate hearings, Justice Osborne recommended that the
Civil Rules Committee (CRC) “should consider addressing bifurcation ip 4
rule that would permit an order for bifurcation to be made on motion by any
party or on the court’s own initiative, after hearing from the parties. Any ryls
permitting bifurcation could reference some or all of the 14 factors listed iy
Bourne v. Saunby” (1993), 383 O.R. (3d) 555, [1993] O.J. No. 2606 (Gep_
Div.). The CRC did not accept this recommendation and the new rule requireg
the consent of the parties to the making of such an order: rule 6.1.01.

An action with an extant jury notice may be bifurcated on consent, byt
not if any party objects: Kovach (Litigation Guardian of) v. Kovach, 2010
CarswellOnt 846, 80 C.P.C. (6th) 40 (C.A.); leave to appeal refused 2019
CarswellOnt 4832, 2010 CarswellOnt 4331 (S.C.C.).

For the prior case law on ordering split trials or hearings see the caseg

under rule 5.03, and for cases on ordering divided discovery (and hence spii
hearings) see the cases under rules 30.04(8) and 31.06(6).

SEPARATE HEARINGS
6.1.01 With the consent of the parties, the court may order a separate

hearing on one or more issues in a proceeding, including separate hearings on
the issues of liability and damages.

O. Reg. 438/08, s. 9
Cross-Reference: With respect to ordering separate hearings on a contesied
basis, see rules 5.05 (Relief Against Joinder), 30.04(3) (Divided Disclosure or
Production) and 31.06(6) (Divided Discovery) and the cases collected there.

Case Law

Kovach (Litigation Guardian of) v. Kovach, 2010 CarswellOnt 846, 2010 ONCA 126,
80 C.P.C. (6th) 40, 92 M.V.R. (5th) 39, 316 D.L.R. (4th) 341, [2010] O.J. No.
643, 100 O.R. (3d) 608, (sub nom. Kovach v. Kovach) 261 0.A.C. 190; leave to
appeal refused 409 N.R. 399 (note), [2010] S.C.C.A. No. 165, 2010 CarswellOnt
4832, 2010 CarswellOnt 4831, (sub nom. Kovach v. Kovach) 276 O.A.C. 399
(note) (S.C.C.)

An action with an extant jury notice may be bifurcated on consent, but not if any party
objects.
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Case Name:

Kovach (Litigation guardian of) v. Kovach

Between
Andrew Kovach and Sarah Kovach, minors by their Litigation
Guardian, Wayne Kovach and Wayne Kovach, personally,
Plaintiffs, (Respondents), and
Pauline M. Kovach, Mackenzie E. Linn and Barry H. Linn,
Defendants, (Appellants)
[2010] O.J. No. 643
2010 ONCA 126
80 C.P.C. (6th) 40
92 M.V.R. (5th) 39
261 O.A.C. 190
2010 CarswellOnt 846
316 D.L.R. (4th) 341
186 A.C.W.S. (3d) 71
100 O.R. (3d) 608
Docket: C50398
Ontario Court of Appeal
Toronto, Ontario

S.T. Goudge, J.C. MacPherson and R.A. Blair JJ.A.

Heard: November 9, 2009,
Judgment: February 18, 2010.



(46 paras.)

Appeal by the defendants from a decision restoring a Master's order refusing to bifircate the trial of the
liability and damages issues. The respondents sued the appellants for personal injuries suffered i a motor
vehicle accident. The action was scheduled to be heard by a jury. The Master held that she had no
jurisdiction to make such an order absent the consent of the parties. The order was set aside on the ground
that the Master had jurisdiction to bifircate based on the court's inherent jurisdiction to control its own
process. The judge further held that bifurcation was appropriate based on the facts of this case. On appeal,
the Master's order was restored on the ground that a jury trial could not be bifurcated if one party
objected. The Court also concluded that the judge had applied an incorrect test in evaluating the
appropriateness of bifurcation on the facts.

HELD: Appeal dismissed. The case law that upheld the proposition that jury trials could not be split in the
absence of consent had not been misunderstood and misapplied. It was a well-entrenched principle in
Ontario that a litigant had the nherent right to have the issues of fact or of mixed fact and law decided by a
jury, as provided for ins. 108(1) ofthe Courts of Justice Act. Section 108(1) left no legislative gap to be
filled by the exercise of the court's inherent jurisdiction. The word "a" jury in s. 108(1) should not be
mnterpreted as "any" jury. To interpret s. 108(1) in a fashion that permitted the trial of different issues by
different juries -- absent consent -- would be inconsistent with the well-entrenched principle that once a
trier of fact was seized of an action, it remained seized of it until judgment was pronounced.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules Cited:
Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, s. 108(1), s. 108(3), s. 138

Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 6.1.01, Rule 77.02

Appeal From:

On appeal from the Order of Justices James D. Carnwath, Katherine E. Swinton and Denise E. Bellamy of
the Divisional Court dated January 15, 2009, with reasons reported at (2009), 95 O.R. (3d) 34, [2009]
0.J. No. 150.

Counsel:
Alan L. Rachlin, for the appellants.

Kik F. Stevens, for the respondents.

The judgment of the Court was delivered by



R.A. BLAIR J.A.--
Introduction

1  Does the Superior Court of Justice have jurisdiction to bifurcate the trial of liability and damages issues
where there is a valid jury notice in place and the parties do not consent? That is the fundamental question
raised on this appeal.

2 For quite some time now, it has been accepted that the answer in Ontario was "no." We are now
asked to reconsider, or to re-affirm, that understanding, at least for the period prior to January 1, 2010 -
the effective date of new rule 6.1.01, which states:

With the consent of the parties, the court may order a separate hearing on one
or more issues in a proceeding, including separate hearings on the issues of
liability and damages.

Background
The Accident

3 The Kovach plamntiffs and the Linn defendants are parties to an action arising out of a motor vehicle
accident that occurred on Halloween in 1999. The action is scheduled to be heard by a jury.

4  Pauline Kovach was out "trick or treating” that evening with her two children, Andrew and Sarah, and
two of her nephews. She reversed her van out of a private driveway onto a public road where her van
collided with a pickup truck operated by Mackenzie Linn and owned by Barry Linn.

5  Although there were other injuries, Andrew - eight years old at the time - suffered a serious brain
injury and pelvic fractures in the crash. The parties agree that his impairments are "catastrophic".

6 As it happens, Aviva Canada Inc. insured both the Kovach and Linn vehicles under separate and
unrelated policies. Each policy has third party liability limits of $1 million. It is quite likely that Andrew's
damages, if the plaintiffs are successful, will exceed the limits of both policies. His claim is for $11.5 million.
Ifthe Linn defendants are found to be even 1% liable, he will have access to coverage under both policies.

7 Both the Kovach plamtiffs and the Linn defendants have served jury notices. The Linn defendants
seek to have the trial of the liability and damages issues bifurcated, however. They propose that the trials of
these issues be dealt with by different juries.

The Proceedings

8 OnNovember 26, 2007, Master Egan dismissed the Linns' motion to bifurcate the action. She held
that she was bound by the decisions of the Divisional Court in Duffy v. Gillespie (1997), 36 O.R. (3d)
443, and Carreiro (Litigation Guardian) v. Flynn (2005), 195 O.A.C. 315, and had no jurisdiction to
make such an order absent the consent of the parties. Those decisions, in turn, relied upon the authority of
this Court in Elcano Acceptance Ltd. v. Richmond, Richmond, Stambler & Mills (1986), 55 O.R. (2d)



56 and on another decision of the Divisional Court in Shepley v. Libby McNeil & Libby of Canada Ltd.
(1979), 23 O.R. (2d) 354.

9 I will return to a discussion of these authorities later in these reasons.

10  Master Egan did not consider whether, if there were jurisdiction, bifurcation would have been
appropriate in the circumstances of this case.

11  OnMay 2, 2008, Justice Chapnik set aside the Order of Master Egan. She concluded that, on a
close reading, Shepley did not stand for the proposition that the court lacks jurisdiction to bifurcate a trial
where one party has served a jury notice, absent consent, and that the reference to Shepley in Elcano was
obiter. Relying on the court's inherent jurisdiction to controlits own process and the purposive direction in
case management rule 77.02 encouraging expeditious and less costly proceedings, she was satisfied that
the Master had jurisdiction to make such an order.!

12 Chapnik J. was also satisfied that bifurcation was appropriate on the facts of this case because the
liability issue was completely distinct from the damages issues, which were more complex. As well, a
finding in the Linns' favour would render the damages trial unnecessary. She therefore concluded that the
moving parties had met the onus of establishing a "clear benefit in terms of time and expense", shifting the
onus of showing a "real prejudice” outweighing the expediency of bifircation to the Kovachs, which they
had not done: see General Refractories Co. of Canada v. Venturedyne Ltd., 6 C.P.C. (5th) 329 (Ont.
S.C.) and Bourne v. Saunby, 23 C.P.C. (3d) 333 (Ont. Ct. J.).

13 Lax]J. granted leave to appeal and, on January 15, 2009, the Divisional Court (Carnwath, Swinton
and Bellamy JJ.) allowed the appeal, set aside the Order of Chapnik J. and restored the Order of Master
Egan. The Court held that the Master was correct in concluding that she was bound by the decisions in
Duffy and Carreiro and that there was no good reason to depart from the decision of other panels of the
Divisional Court: the law in Ontario is that a jury trial cannot be bifurcated if one party objects. The Court
also concluded that Chapnik J. had applied an incorrect test in evaluating the appropriateness of bifurcation
on the facts. The power to bifurcate is a "narrowly circumscribed power" to be exercised only in the
"clearest cases". This was not one of those exceptional cases.

14  On April 23, 2009, this Court granted leave to appeal from the decision of the Divisional Court.

Analysis

Jurisdiction to Bifurcate an Action Where a Jury Notice Has Been Served

15 Prior to January 1, 2010, neither the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, nor the Rules of
Civil Procedure expressly conferred the power to bifurcate a civil trial. As Justice Morden noted at p. 59
in Elcano, however, this fact "does not ... mean that [the power to bifurcate] may not be part of the
mherent jurisdiction of the court”. Indeed, as he said, the jurisprudence accepts that the power exists on
this basis, to be exercised with caution, but m the mterests of justice. But he added a clarification - the
statement that underlies the debate on this appeal:



It has been held that the power may not be exercised where one of the parties
has served a jury notice: Shepley v. Libby McNeil & Libby of Canada Ltd;
Clifford McKenzie et al., Third Parties (1979), 23 O.R. (2d) 354,9 C.P.C.
201.

16  Rightly or wrongly, jury cases have long been considered to provide an exception to the court's
power to split a trial based on its inherent jurisdiction. The power was not to be exercised in such cases.
On behalf of the appellants, Mr. Rachlin argues that the jurisprudence on which this principle is based has
been misunderstood and misapplied, and that it does not support the jury exception proposition.
Moreover, he submits, Justice Morden's exclusion of jury trials from the reach of inherent jurisdiction in
Elcano - based on Shepley - was obiter dicta, and is therefore not binding.

17 I do not accept these submissions.

18 First, Justice Morden's comment in Elcano is not obiter dicta, in my view. An expert in procedural
matters, Justice Morden was not given to discursive comments. It is true that Elcano was not a jury case.
Having concluded that the court's inherent jurisdiction empowered it to bifurcate a trial in appropriate
circumstances, however, it was necessary for him to state the exception in order to make the proposition
he was enunciating accurate. This does not make the caveat he expressed obiter; it was essential to his
reasoning process, and therefore part of the ratio decidendi of the decision.

19  Secondly, the Shepley decision does stand for the proposition for which it was cited. At p. 355, the
Divisional Court said:

Assuming, without deciding, that a Judge sitting in Motions Court has the
authority under the Rules or the inherent jurisdiction of the Court to direct the
trial of this issue at this stage of the proceedings, in our opinion he does not have
jurisdiction to sever an issue of fact or mixed fact and law ... for determination
before trial where there is a valid jury notice subsisting, The plaintiff, having
properly served the jury notice, has a right which is conferred by s. 62(1) of the
Judicature Act, R.S.0. 1970, c. 228 [the old equivalent of what is now s.
108(1) ofthe Courts of Justice Act ] to have all the issues of fact tried by a
jury subject only to the jury notice being struck out by a Judge, or subject to the
discretion of the Judge at trial (s. 62(3)).

20 InShepley, the motion judge relied on the inherent jurisdiction of the court to sever a limitation issue
for determination prior to the pending jury trial. For the reasons outlined above, the Divisional Court held
that he could not. Mr. Rachlin contends that Shepley does not stand for the proposition that a jury matter
may never be severed, but rather for the proposition that bifurcation is inappropriate where the result will
deprive a party of the right to have all issues raised determmed by a jury (the plaintiff in Shepley had been
deprived of his right to have the limitation issue decided by a jury). Here, the appellants argue, they do not
seek to deny the respondents of the right to trial by jury, at most, the order sought would require separate
trials of liability and damages by different juries.

21  Shepley may indeed stand for the proposition that it is inappropriate to split a trial where a party



will be deprived of the right to have factual issues determined by a jury. However, the ratio of the case is
that the court lacks jurisdiction to do so in a jury case. The plaintiff in Shepley argued in the alternative
that, if it had the jurisdiction to do so, "the Court ought not to have made the order because it thereby
deprive[d] the plaintiff of his right to have that issue tried by a jury..." (emphasis added). Thus, the
argument only arose in that case if the court decided there was jurisdiction to make the bifurcation order in
the first place.

22 Shepley is the lynch-pin in the appellants' analysis because the attempt to undermine the authority of
Elcano - and of Duffy and Carreiro in the Divisional Court, which are both founded on Elcano and
Shepley - depends upon the conclusion that Shepley has been misunderstood and misapplied. But it has
not been misunderstood and misapplied, in my view. Given the foregoing analysis, the appellants' attempts
to distinguish the line of jurisprudence upholding the proposition that jury trials may not be split, in the
absence of consent, fall away.

23 There is a further basis upon which the appellants' position founders.

24 Itis a well-entrenched principle in Ontario that a litigant has the inherent right to have the issues of
fact or of mixed fact and law decided by a jury (except in cases where the right has been taken away by
statute). This principle is embodied in subsection 108(1) of the Courts of Justice Act, which states:

In an action in the Superior Court of Justice that is not in the Small Claims
Court, a party may require that the issues of fact be tried or the damages
assessed, or both, by a jury, unless otherwise provided.

25 The language of's. 108(1) provides legislative support for the notion that a party may require the
issues to be tried by a single jury, ie., "by a jury." Subsection 108(3) provides an exception to this
principle by stipulating that the court may order issues of fact to be tried, or damages assessed, or both, by
a judge alone. But - contrary to the appellants' argument - 5. 108(1) leaves no legislative "gap" to be filled
by the exercise of the court's inherent jurisdiction: see Re Stelco Inc. (2005), 75 O.R. (3d) 5 (C.A.), at
para. 35. This conclusion is reinforced by the decision in Shepley where, on the basis of the substantially
identical predecessor of's. 108(1),2 the Divisional Court held that there is "[no] jurisdiction to sever an
issue of fact, or mixed fact and law ... for determination before trial where there is a valid jury notice
subsisting."

26 Moreover, I do not accept the appellants' submission that the word "a" jury in s. 108(1) should be
mnterpreted as "any" jury. Had the legislature intended such a marked departure from the normal and long-
standing practice of trials by "a" judge or "a" jury, it would have said so by using the words "trial by any
jury" or, simply, "trial by jury." It did not do so.

27 To interprets. 108(1) in a fashion that permits the trial of different issues by different juries - absent
consent - would also be inconsistent with the well-entrenched principle that once a trier of fact is seized of
an action, it remains seized of it until judgment is pronounced. The following passage fiom the decision of
Martin J.P.C. in The "Leonor”, [1917] 3 W.W.R. 861, at p. 871 - cited with approval m Re Regina and
Breckner (1983), 6 C.C.C. (3d) 42 (B.C.C.A.), atp. 52 - captures this principle well:



Once a Judge is so seized of a cause or motion he is the sole and only tribunal
which can exercise jurisdiction over it (unless prohibited by a Higher Court) and
from the time he takes his seat upon the bench at the beginning of the hearing till
he leaves it after judgment is pronounced, no other Judge of co-ordinate
jurisdiction can either by physical force or by writing under his hand usurp his
finctions or eject him from his seat, or constitute another forum to which the
parties may lawfully resort, which is simply usurpation and ejection in another
form.

28  Juries are judges of the facts, and the same principle applies once a matter has been submitted to the
jury for determination.

29  Mr. Rachlin asks why in principle, if there is inherent jurisdiction to bifurcate n judge alone cases, or
as between a judge and jury, it should be different for jury cases (acknowledging that there may be
differences in the factors to be considered in determining whether to bifurcate or not in the different types
of cases). He submits that to permit bifurcation of issues into different jury trials - even with different juries
- does not deprive a litigant of the right to have all issues of fact or of mixed fact and law determined by a
jury - the impediment identified in Shepley. Furthermore, it is consistent with modern principles of case
management, as expressed in former rule 77.02, and various judicial pronouncements about the need for
courts to control their own processes and the need to conserve scarce public resources: see, for example,
Ashmore v. Corp. of Lloyd's, [1992] 2 ALE.R. 486 (H.L.); General Refractories at paras. 12-13;
Woodglen & Co. v. Owens, [1995] O.J. No. 1360, at paras. 10-13.

30 There are a number of answers to this hypothetical question. For one, when issues are separated ina
judge alone trial, it is the same judge - absent consent to the contrary - who deals with all the issues. He or
she simply does so at different times. This is because of the principle of seizure discussed above. For
another, s. 108(3) ofthe Courts of Justice Act provides specific statutory authority in a jury case for
issues to be removed from the jury to be tried by judge alone. No such authority exists for the splitting of
issues to be tried by two or more juries.

31 In addition, neither the provisions of former rule 77.02 nor the Ashmore line of jurisprudence assists
the appellants in these circumstances.

32 Rule 77.02 stated:

The purpose of'this Rule is to establish a case management system throughout
Ontario that reduces unnecessary cost and delay in civil litigation, facilitates early
and fair settlements and brings proceedings expeditiously to a just determination
while allowing sufficient time for the conduct of the proceeding,

33  This rule accurately reflects an important philosophy underpinning the introduction of case
management in Ontario: the expeditious, but just and less costly, determination of case managed civil
proceedings. However, bifurcation is broader than case management, and there is nothing in former Rule
77 - the case management rule - that touches on the severance of issues in an action for separate trials.
Indeed, when the Rules Committee enacted the new rule governing separate hearings, it placed it in a part



of the rules far removed from case management. Rule 6.1.01 - effective January 1, 2010 - is the first time a
rule speaking to bifurcation has been promulgated. It signals that, in the opinion of the Rules Committee at
least, the bifurcation of a trial, jury or non-jury, is not generally a good idea unless the parties consent. To
repeat, rule 6.1.01 states:

With the consent of the parties, the court may order a separate hearing on one
or more issues in a proceeding, including separate hearings on the issues of
liability and damages.

34 This new rule may well permit the bifurcation of issues of fact or of mixed fact and law even where a
jury notice has been filed, where the parties consent, thus surmounting the jurisdictional impediments
previously in place. But the new rule does not apply to the case at bar.

35 InAshmore, Lord Roskill made the following oft-cited remark, at p. 488:

The Court of Appeal appear to have taken the view that the plamtiffs were
entitled as of right to have their case tried to conclusion in such manner as they
thought fit and if necessary after all the evidence on both sides had been
adduced. With great respect, like my noble and learned friend, I emphatically
disagree. In the Commercial Court and indeed in any trial court it is the trial
judge who has control of the proceedings. It is part of his duty to identify the
crucial issues and to see they are tried as expeditiously and as inexpensively as
possible. It is the duty ofthe advisers of the parties to assist the trial judge in
carrying out his duty. Litigants are not entitled to the uncontrolled use of a trial
judge's time. Other litigants await their turn. Litigants are only entitled to so
much of'the trial judge's time as is necessary for the proper determination of the
relevant issues.

36 Without in any way detracting fiom the force of Lord Roskill's reflections, however, I make the
following observations. First, 4shmore was a commercial case and did not involve the question of severing
issues in a proceeding (jury or non-jury). Secondly, I agree with the statement of E. Macdonald J. in
Woodglen, at para. 11, concerning the Ashmore comment;

Opposite this objective, I am mindful of the very persuasive argument ... that this
objective should not compromise or prejudice either party to the litigation by the
making of orders such as the one sought today by the plamtiffs. I agree that, as a
general proposition, convenience, the saving of time and the saving of costs for
the litigants, as well as for the State, are secondary to the overriding concern
that no party should be prejudiced as the result of an order such as the one
sought today by the plaintiffs.

37 The key is prejudice to the rights of a party in the litigation. In the absence of statutory or rules-based
authority to do so, there are sound reasons in principle for adopting the view that a court does not have
jurisdiction to bifurcate issues in a jury trial - or, to put it in the words of Justice Morden in Elcano - "that



the power may not be exercised where one of the parties has served a jury notice."

38 First, there is the familiar injunction in s. 138 ofthe Courts of Justice Act that, as far as possile,
multiplicity of proceedings is to be avoided. Since they do not want to transgress the right to have one's
issues tried by a jury, the appellants assert that the issues in a bifurcated jury trial can be tried by two (or
more) juries. Mr. Rachlin was not able to refer us to a single case where that had ever been done,
however, and the implications inherent in such an order are disquieting. Multiple appeals in the same action,
with the delays and substantial costs accompanying them? Multiple juries, with the possibility of
inconsistent findings between them? Questions about two triers of fact being "seized" of the same action?
As a practical matter, the ability of a judge at the motion stage to determine whether there will be no
overlap on the evidence relating to both liability and damages at trial, is something that is almost impossible
to predict accurately. The safer approach - for which the Rules Committee has now opted - is not to
permit bifircation in jury cases unless there is consent. Where there is consent, one party freely gives up its
right to have the issues tried by a single jury.

39 Related to these concerns is the long-ago expressed judicial admonition of Meredith C.J. in Waller
v. Independent Order of Foresters (1905), 5 O.W.R. 421 (Div. Ct.), at p. 422, that bears repeating;

Experience has shewn that seldom, if ever, is any advantage gained by trying
some of the issues before the trial of the others is entered upon...

40 This statement was cited with approval in Elcano, at p. 59, and more recently, it has been reiterated
at the trial level by Shaughnessy J - a former Regional Senior Justice familiar with the challenges of
allocating judicial resources - in Blanchette v. Jody Squires, 76 C.C.L.L. (4th) 304 (Ont. S.C.), at paras.
23-24.

41 A number of the considerations I have touched on may not go directly to jurisdiction. They are more
clearly tied to the appropriateness of granting a bifurcation order in particular circumstances - which this
Court has said in Elcano, at p. 59, is only to be done "in the clearest cases." Nonetheless, they underscore
the rationale behind the interpretation I have given to s. 108(1) above.

42  The practice in Ontario has long been understood to preclude the bifurcation of trials where a jury
notice has been served, in the absence of consent. To reverse that practice, as the appellants seek, would
be a major change in the law. In Ontario, it is primarily the role ofthe Rules Committee to develop new
rules respecting the practice and procedure in civil matters. In doing so, it takes into account the needs of
the system viewed through the experience of judges and practitioners across the province. Much better
that a stark change in practice, such as that proposed by the appellants - reversing a long-standing and
fundamental right to trial by a single jury - be left to the legislature or the Rules Committee - a responsibility
that the Rules Committee has now fulfilled.

43 I would not give effect to this ground of appeal.

The Appropriate Test for Bifurcation

44  Inview of my conclusion that the court did not have jurisdiction to order the bifircated trial of issues



sought by the appellants in this case, it is unnecessary to consider whether Chapnik J. erred in applying a
"clear benefit of time and expense" test, as opposed to a "clearest of cases" test, and I decline to do so.

Disposition
45  For the foregoing reasons, I would dismiss the appeal

46  The respondent is entitled to its costs, fixed in the amount of $8,000.00, inclusive of disbursements
and GST.

R.A. BLAIR J.A.
S.T. GOUDGE J.A.-- I agree.
J.C. MacPHERSON J. A.-- T agree.

cp/e/qlainVqlpxmv/qliyw/qlhes/qlcas/qljyw/qlana

1 Rule 77.02 was amended on January 1, 2010. References to the rule throughout these reasons
refer to the old rule 77.02 which was in effect during all of the proceedings under appeal

2 Judicature Act, R.S.0. 1970, c. 228, s. 62(1); Judicature Act, R.S.0. 1980, ¢. 223, s. 60(1).
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Case Name:
Mazza v. Smith

Between
Antonio Mazza, Rose Mazza, Grazia Gaio and Kristy
Feeny by her Litigation Guardian, Grazia Gaio,
Plaintiffs, and
Jeffery Smith and Allstate Insurance Company of Canada,
Defendants, and
Gregory Laird, Pilot Insurance Company, and Haber Blain
Insurance Brokers Ltd., Third Parties
And between
Eva Grof, Frank Grof Jr., Jeffrey Grof and Jason Grof,
Plaintiffs, and
Jeffery Smith and AXA Canada Inc. and Greg Laird,
Defendants, and
Pilot Insurance Company and Haber Blain Insurance
Brokers Ltd., Third Parties
And between
Jeffery Smith, Plaintiff, and
Gregory Laird, Pilot Insurance Company and Haber Blain
Insurance Brokers Ltd, Defendants

[2009] O.J. No. 283

80 M.V.R. (5th) 200

70 C.C.L.1. (4th) 280
[2009] LL.R. 1-4797
2009 CarswellOnt 303

Court File Nos. 41871/06A, 32617/04A, 37539/05

Ontario Superior Court of Justice

J.B. Shaughnessy J.



Heard: January 6, 20009.
Judgment: January 23, 2009.

(37 paras.)

Civil litigation -- Civil procedure -- Trials -- Severance of issues of parties -- Motion by third party
insurer for bifurcation of three trials to determine issue of defendant's coverage dismissed --
Actions arose from motor vehicle accident involving four drivers -- Defendant denied liability and
third parties insurer and insurance agent -- Insurer claimed coverage cancelled prior to accident for
non-payment of premiums -- Defendant sued agent for negligence in not remitting proper
information to insurer -- Defendant's credibility at issue and negative finding in bifurcated
proceeding could have impact on determination of other substantive issues at trial -- Bifurcation
not likely to result in cost or time savings.

Insurance law -- Actions -- By insured against insurer -- Motion by third party insurer for
bifurcation of three trials to determine issue of defendant's coverage dismissed -- Actions arose
from motor vehicle accident involving four drivers -- Defendant denied liability and third parties
insurer and insurance agent -- Insurer claimed coverage cancelled prior to accident for non-
payment of premiums -- Defendant sued agent for negligence in not remitting proper information to
insurer -- Defendant's credibility at issue and negative finding in bifurcated proceeding could have
impact on determination of other substantive issues at trial -- Bifurcation not likely to result in cost
or time savings.

Motion by Pilot Insurance for bifurcation of the trials of Mazza's and Grof's action in order to determine
whether Smith was insured by Pilot when the motor vehicle accident giving rise to the actions took place.
The accident gave rise to a third action commenced by Laird, for which Pilot also sought bifurcation to
determine the issue of whether Smith was operating an insured vehicle and whether his claim was statute-
barred. The accident took place when Smith's southbound vehicle crossed into the northbound lane of
Highway 35, colliding with the northbound vehicles of Grofand Mazza. Smith alleged he was forced mto
the northbound lane by Laird's northbound vehicle as it entered the southbound lane to pass the Mazza and
Grof vehicles. Laird denied he crossed into the southbound lane. Smith sued Laird for his mjuries and
named Pilot as a party defendant, but his claim against Pilot was dismissed on consent. Smith claimed he
was insured under a Pilot policy at the time of the accident, but Pilot claimed the policy was properly
cancelled for non-payment of premiums prior to the accident. There were allegations of negligence on the
part of Haber Blain, insurance agents for Pilot who acted on Smith's behalf to obtain insurance coverage.
Haber Blain opposed bifurcation, submitting this would result in procedural land substantive problems
which would prejudice Smith and Haber Blain.

HELD: Motion dismissed. Smith's credibility was at issue with respect to the insurance coverage as well as
in relation to liability for the accident and in his third party claim against Haber Blain. With credibility being
a focal issue, the potential existed for inconsistent verdicts. IF the insurance coverage issue was bifurcated,
any adverse credibility finding against Smith could seriously impact his credibility in the subsequent trials



and would also adversely affect Pilot, if it was obliged to defend Smith. Bifurcation was not likely to
significantly reduce costs or time.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules Cited:

Insurance Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. 1.8, s. 267.6, s. 276.6(1)

Counsel:
Alan L. Rachlin, for Pilot Insurance Company, the Moving Party.
Chris Stribopoulos, for Haber Blain Insurance Brokers Ltd., the Responding Party.

Andrew Elrick, for the Plaintiffs.

REASONS ON MOTION

1 J.B. SHAUGHNESSY J.:-- The three above noted actions arise out of a motor vehicle accident that
occurred on June 28, 2003 on Highway 35 in the Township of Manvers, in the City of Kawartha Lakes.
The accident involved vehicles driven by Jeffery Smith, Frank Grof Jr., Antonio Mazza and Gregory Laird.

2 The Third Party Defendant, Pilot Insurance Company seeks an order bifurcating the trial in the Mazza
action (action 41871/06 A) and the Grofaction (action 32617/04A) in order that the issue of whether
Jeffery Smith was insured by Pilot at the time the motor vehicle accident occurred. Pilot Insurance
Company also seeks an order bifurcating the trial of action 37539/05 in order that the issue of whether
Jeffery Smith was operating an uninsured vehicle at the time of the motor vehicle accident and whether Mr.
Smith's claim is statute barred by the provisions of S. 267.6 of the Insurance Act. Finally, Pilot seeks an
order that the aforementioned bifurcated trials of the msurance coverage issues be tried together, or one
after the other, as the trial judge may direct.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3 The police report details that the vehicle driven by Jeffery Smith was proceeding southbound on
Highway 35, when it crossed into the northbound lane striking the northbound Grof motor vehicle and the
Mazza vehicle.

4  Jeffery Smith in his pleadings alleges that he was forced into the northbound lanes as a result of the
northbound Laird vehicle which had crossed into the southbound lane to pass one or both of the
northbound Mazza and Grof vehicles. Mr. Laird denies having entered the southbound lane prior to the
collision. Accordingly, liability as between Jeffery Smith and Gregory Laird is in dispute.

5 Asa consequence of the motor vehicle collision, Frank GrofSr., a passenger in the Grof vehicle was
fatally injured. His family commenced the Grofaction claiming damages under the Family Law Act.



6 The occupants of the Mazza vehicle commenced their action claiming damages for injuries arising from
the collision.

7 Jeffery Smith sustained extensive injuries and he commenced his action against Gregory Laird. He also
named Pilot Insurance Company and Haber Blain insurance Brokers Ltd. as party defendants. However
the action as against Pilot and Haber Blain was subsequently dismissed on consent.

8 Jeffery Smith alleges that at the time of the motor vehicle accident, he was insured under an
automobile policy of insurance issued by Pilot that he obtained on or about June 7, 2002. Mr. Smith states
that he agreed to pay the insurance premium by monthly pre-authorized debits from his bank account. It is
his discovery evidence that because he had limited funds he requested monthly payments of the premium as
he could not pay a lump sum payment.

9 Itis the position of Pilot Insurance Company that the OAP1 Owners Automobile Policy was properly
cancelled for non-payment of premiums on or about March 1, 2003 by way of a registered letter dated
February 11, 2003.

10 Haber Blain Insurance Brokers are the insurance agents who acted on Mr. Smith's behalf to obtain
insurance coverage with Pilot on or about June 7, 2002. In the various proceedings there are allegations of
negligence on the part of Haber Blain. Haber Blain vigorously opposes the bifurcation of the insurance
coverage issue proposed by Pilot.

11  The Defendants Allstate Insurance Company of Canada in the Mazza action and AXA Canada Inc.
in the Grof action are parties on the basis that their insurance policies issued to the respective Plamntiffs
indemmify those Plaintiffs in respect to all claims against all uninsured and inadequately insured motorists
pursuant to the standard automobile policy in force. Accordingly if it is determined that Jeffery Smith
caused the motor vehicle collision and Mr. Smith was uninsured or imadequately insured then Allstate and
AXA policies would respond.

12 Pursuant to the Order of Justice Glass dated April 5, 2007, all three actions were ordered to be tried
together or in such manner as the trial judge may direct.

13 There are Jury Notices filed in all three actions.
THE INSURANCE COVERAGE ISSUE

14  Jeffery Smith commenced third party actions in each of the Grof and Mazza actions against Pilot
Insurance Company and his insurance broker, Haber Blain Insurance Brokers Ltd. claiming indemnity for
any and all amounts for which he may be found liable to the plaintiffs and he also claims his costs for
defending the actions brought by these plamtiffs.

15 Jeffery Smith chose to proceed against Pilot by way of'a Third Party Claim. Pilot could have brought
a declaratory action to address the coverage issue as between it and Jeffery Smith. Pilot however elected
not to do so and accordingly has adhered to the forum and procedural manner in which Jeffery Smith
chose to determine the insurance coverage issue.



16 Credibility is a crucial issue in the Third Party Claims against Pilot and Haber Blain in the Mazza and
Grof actions. Counsel for Haber Blain submits that if Pilot is permitted to bifurcate the msurance coverage
issue and have that issue proceed to trial prior to the Trial of the main action, any adverse credibility

findings agamst Jeffery Smith could seriously impact the credibility of Mr. Smith in the subsequent trials of
the main actions. Further, if Pilot is unsuccessful in the bifurcated trial then Pilot would be in the precarious
position of defending Mr. Smith in the main action after placing his credibility in issue in the bifurcated trial

17  The facts, at the present time, relating to the insurance coverage issue are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(@

Pilot admits that it received from Haber Blain Mr. Smith's signed
Application for Automobile Insurance and a signed authorization form
permitting Pilot to make monthly withdrawals from Mr. Smith's bank
account for payment of the monthly insurance premiums and a copy of
Mr. Smith's void cheque in June 2002. However the documentation was
lost.

In September 2002 as a result of follow up by Haber Blain, Pilot realized
that it had no documentation relating to Mr. Smith's Application for
automobile insurance and accordingly they requested further copies from
Haber Blain.

In this period of time Pilot did not attempt to withdraw the monthly
mnsurance premiums from Mr. Smith's bank account until November 12,
2002 and then Pilot attempted to withdraw all of the prior outstanding
msurance premiums totaling $ 662.14.

It is Jeffery Smith's evidence that he chose to make monthly payments
because he could not afford to pay a significant lump sum.

By November 12, 2002 Jeffery Smith had moved and closed his bank
account, As a consequence Pilot was unable to secure payment. Pilot
nevertheless attempted to secure payment from Mr. Smith's closed bank
account of the sum of $752.06 on December 12, 2002 all the while being
aware that the bank account was closed.

At discovery it is Pilot's evidence that a Schedule of Payments would be
automatically issued by Pilot to its insured setting out the dates upon
which Pilot would be attermpting to withdraw the monthly premium
payments. However there is no evidence that Mr. Smith received any
Schedule of Payments. The evidence at discovery reflected that only one
Schedule of Payments was prepared and sent to Mr. Smith's address
which Pilot was aware had changed.

Pilot ultimately received Jeffery Smith's new banking information and on
January 12, 2003 Pilot attempted to withdraw insurance premiums
totaling $862.54 from Mr. Smith's bank account. Jeffery Smith gave
evidence on his discovery that he had no information as to when Pilot
would be attempting to withdraw funds and he could not afford to pay $
862.45 in one lump sum and that is why he chose to make monthly



payments.

() Pilot admits that it did not inform Mr. Smith that it would attempt to
withdraw a lump sum of § 862.45 from his new bank account.

(1  Pilot sent a registered letter February 11, 2003 effectively cancelling the
policy March 1, 2003. However the allegation is that this letter had the
incorrect street name and the wrong postal code even though Mr. Smith's
void cheque that Mr. Smith forwarded to Pilot contained the correct
address. However as Mr. Rachlin submits Statutory Condition # 11 of
the policy provides that a contract of insurance is terminated effective 15
days after the registered letter notifying the insured of the cancellation is
on receipt at the Post Office to which it is addressed. Again Mr. Smith's
credibility is in issue as he claims he never received the registered letter
notifying him that the policy is cancelled. Jeffery Smith alleges he no
longer lived at the address the registered letter was sent and that he
advised his broker Haber Blain of the change in address.

() Mr. Smith also alleges that the insurance policy with Pilot was issued late;
that he never received the actual paper policy as it was sent to the wrong
address; that he never received a schedule of monthly premium
payments; that by the time the paper policy was issued a substantial
number of monthly pre-authorized debits had accrued and that he was
not advised that all the accrued debits would be deducted from his bank
account at one time.

(k)  Inaddition to the allegations against Pilot, Jeffery Smith claims
alternatively that if the policy was properly cancelled, then Haber Blain
was negligent in that he states that he advised Haber Blain that he had
moved from the address to which the registered cancellation letter was
sent. He also alleges that he sent a void cheque for his new bank account
but that Haber Blain lost the cheque. He further alleges that a
representative of Haber Blain told him the accrued premum debits would
not be payable in a lump sum but rather they would be payable in equally
monthly payments. He further alleges that a representative of Haber Blain
told him that the insurance policy would not be cancelled. Haber Blain
denies all these allegations,

18 There are four issues at the trial of these actions:

(1)  Liability for the motor vehicle collisions;
(2)  Assessment of damages in all 3 actions;
(3) A determination of whether the Pilot insurance policy was properly cancelled;

(4) A determination of whether Haber Blain Insurance Brokers were negligent as
alleged by Jeffery Smith.

19  Mr. Rachlin readily concedes that Jeffery Smith's credibility is a thread interwoven into 3 of the



above noted issues for trial. However, he submits that the narrow technical issue for a bifurcated trial is
whether Statutory Condition # 11 ofthe policy has been complied with. Accordingly he submits that the
msurance coverage issue is a separate and distinct issue requiring a bifurcated trial

20  The Defendant Gregory Laird has defended action # 37539/05 (Smith v Laird) on the basis that
Jeffery Smith was uninsured as of'the date of'the motor vehicle collision and consequentty Smith is not
entitled to recover any loss or damage for bodily mjury arising from the use or operation of an automobile
by virtue of section 267.6(1) of the Insurance Act.

POSITION OF THE PARTIES

21 It is the position of the Pilot Insurance Company that there is no overlap between the evidence to be
adduced at trial with respect to liability and damages and the evidence that will have to be led with respect
to the msurance coverage issue. Therefore it is submitted that bifurcation of the issue would not result in
any significant duplication of evidence or time and would not raise a real risk of inconsistent findings.

22 The position of Haber Blain Insurance Brokers Ltd. is that there is no viable evidence that there
would be any savings of litigation costs or Court time by ordering that the insurance coverage issue be tried
prior to the main action. Counsel for Haber Blain submits that if the motion is granted the result will be that
Jeffery Smith will be involved in the Third Party insurance coverage trial as well as the main actions relating
to liability and damages. Therefore Jeffery Smith will be involved in both trials whether or not he is
successful in the trial of the Third Party issue. Accordingly it is argued that the only benefit of bifurcating the
insurance coverage issue is if there is a finding that Pilot has no liability.

23 The claims against Haber Blain lie in negligence. Haber Blain has claims for contribution and
indemnity as against the Plaintiff Gregory Laird and Pilot as well as a claim for contributory negligence
against Jeffery Smith. It is the position of Haber Blain that the 3 actions involve complicated issues of
liability and damages that require that evidence be given by all the parties. Finally it is the position of Haber
Blain that bifurcating the Third party imsurance coverage issue would result in significant prejudice to Jeffery
Smith and to Haber Blain.

24 Counsel for the Plamtiffs Grof and Gregory Laird and Counsel for AXA Canada Inc. support the
motion brought by Pilot for bifurcation of the msurance coverage issue. Counsel for Allstate Insurance
Company of Canada and Counsel for the Plaintiffs Mazza do not oppose the application. Counsel for
Jeffery Smith supports bifurcation but on a much different basis than that sought by Pilot. Haber Blain
opposes the application.

25 Onbehalf of Gregory Laird is filed the Affidavit of Robert Sutherland sworn August 10, 2008. Mr.
Sutherland's affidavit supports the bifurcation of the msurance coverage issue "and the related issue of
whether or not Haber Blain was negligent ..." Therefore the position of Gregory Laird as detailed in the
Affidavit of his Counsel is of limited value as Pilot modified the relief sought at the commencement of the
hearing of this motion to exclude a determination of the negligence, if any, of Haber Blain.

CASELAW



26 The case law supports the basic right of a litigant to have all issues resolved in a single trial and that a
split trial should be ordered only in the "clearest of cases"(Elcano Acceptance Ltd et al v Richmond,
Richmond, Stambler & Mills (1986) 55 O.R. (2d) 56 (C.A.); Sempecos v State Farm Fire & Casualty
Co. (2002) 29 CPC (5th) 99 (Div. Ct.) affirmed (2003) 38 CPC (5th) 64 (C.A.). There is also
jurisprudence which suggests that the Court will be slow to exercise its jurisdiction and bifurcate issues for
trial when one party objects and severance might cause problems. (Elcano supra and Mitchell v Reed
Estate (1995) 36 CPC (3rd) 195 (Ont. Gen Dw).

27  The onus is on the party seeking bifurcation to demonstrate "an exceptional case" which means that
the moving party has to meet a very high burden that the law requires for a bifurcation order. (Kovach v
Kovach; [2009] O.J. No. 150, Court file number 228/08, released January 15, 2009 (Ont. Div, Ct).

28 A case that has been generally followed relating to bifurcation of an issue is Bourne v Saunby [1993]
0.J. No. 2606 a decision of Justice Peter Tobias. I have considered the applicable criteria in Bourne v
Saunby in deciding whether bifurcation of the third party insurance coverage issue is appropriate. While the
factors listed in the Bourne case are helpful, the court's discretion to order bifircation is not confined to a
consideration of the list of criteria in that case. The circumstances of the case may require a consideration
of other relevant factors,

29 In General Refractories Co. of Canada v Venturedyne Ltd [2001] O.J. No. 746 Justice Himel notes
(para 12) that:

In recent years greater emphasis has been placed on the right and duty of the
Court to consider its processes in order to achieve the most just and expeditious
determmation of disputes.

30  Justice Somers in Shah v Becamon [2007] O.J. No. 1165 (para 2) states that "a third party claim is
a derivative action of the main action and draws its life and sustenance from the main action and is wholly
dependant on its continuing,"

31 There has been case law to the effect that a Court may not sever the issues of liability and damages
where a Jury Notice has been filed. (Carreiro (Litigation Guardian of) v Flynn [2005] O.J. No. 877 (Div
Ct.) and Dufly v Gillespie (1997) 36 O.R. (3rd) 443.) More recently the Ontario Divisional Court has
reviewed the issue ofbifurcation of an issue where a Jury Notice has been delivered. In Kovach v Kovach
(Court File number 228/08 released January 15 2009) the Court stated that it was not prepared to
conclude that under no circumstances may a jury trial be bifircated. The Court also suggested that: the
principles extracted from non-jury cases in support of such a consent proposal should be approached with
great caution. Those principles have been enunciated in the knowledge that the same judge will likely hear
the issue of liability and damages. What is lacking in those cases is any necessity to appreciate the mischief
that might be caused by a matter where one jury hears the liability issue and another hears the damages
issue. At the conclusion of'the liability issue, there is always the possibility of an appeal by one side or the
other. If an appeal is taken, the likelihood of retaining the same jury is remote. With a second jury, there is
a danger of inconsistent findings. It is a rare case where there is a clean break between liability and
damages. Perforce, findings of liability will ordinarily be inextricably bound with the issue of damages. (para
46).



32 Inthe Kovach case the Court stated that "a jury trial can never be bifurcated unless all the parties to
the action consent." (para 49)

33 The Court in the Kovach case agreed with the reasoning in the Carriero case (supra) and referred to
the reasoning of the Court of Appeal in the Elcano decision (supra) that the power to bifurcate is a
"narrowly circumscribed power", to be exercised only in the "clearest cases" and that "a court should be
slow to exercise the power if one of the parties objects to its exercise.” (para. 51). Further the Divisional
Court held that the decision to bifircate a jury trial is more stringent than "a clear benefit of time and
expense." (para 54)

ANALYSIS

34 Haber Blain strenuously objects to the bifircation of the insurance coverage issue on the basis that
the bifurcation of the insurance coverage issue raised by Pilot will result in procedural and substantive
problems which will prejudice Jeffery Smith and Haber Blain. I agree with this submission .In the material
filed, it is proposed by Pilot that the bifurcated issue would be heard May 2009 by a jury. The Plamtiff's
actions are not ready for trial and accordingly the trials of the main actions will not likely be ready for trial
for approximately another nine to fifteen months. Accordingly, the Jury that would hear the insurance
coverage issue would not be the Jury that will hear the main actions. In my opinion if the order was granted
and the trials took place as proposed by Counsel for Pilot then the potential for "mischief", as stated in the
Kovach case that may be caused by separate juries trying the issues becomes a serious obstacle. The
credibility of Jeffery Smith is a very live issue in the insurance coverage issue as well as liability in the mam
action and in the third party claims against Haber Blain. The Jury will be required to make findings of
negligence that will necessarily involve determinations of Jeffery Smith's credibility and the credibility of
cach of the parties involved in the main actions to assess liability for the motor vehicle accident. Therefore,
with credibility being the focal issue, the potential for inconsistent verdicts is obvious.

35 Ifthe third party insurance coverage issue was bifurcated and proceeded to trial prior to the trial of
the main actions, any adverse credibility findings against Pilot's alleged insured, Jeffery Smith, will seriously
impact his credibility in the subsequent trials of the main actions and will also adversely affect Pilot, if it is
then obligated to defend and indemmify Jeffery Smith in the main actions.

36 In the result I am not satisfied that this is an exceptional case nor does it meet the very high burden
that the law requires for a bifurcation order. I am also not satisfied, in all the circumstances that bifurcation
would likely result in any significant savings in litigation costs or court time. I find there is no clear benefit in
terms of time and expense if bifurcation was granted. I find that bifurcation of the third party issue would
likely result in prejudice to Jeffery Smith and Haber Blain Insurance Brokers Ltd. Further, in terms of all
the issues being litigated, including the issue of'the credibility of Jeffery Smith, mandates that the Court not
depart from the general rule that "as far as possible, multiplicity of legal proceedings shall be avoided."(S.
138 of'the Courts of Justice Act).

37 The application for bifurcation of the third party insurance coverage issue is dismissed. If required,
Counsel may contact the Trial Coordinator at Whitby, Ontario to arrange an appointment to speak to the
issue of costs.



J.B. SHAUGHNESSY J.
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The judgment of the court was delivered orally by

1 MORDEN J.A.:-- We are of the view that the only course open to us in the particular circumstances
of this case is to set aside the judgment appealed from and to direct a new trial.

2 The learned trial judge in the course of'the trial of this action, which is based upon the alleged
professional negligence of the defendant solicitors, decided ofhis own motion and against the firm
objection of counsel for the defendants, that he would deal with the issue of liability only or, more



accurately, an aspect of liability albeit a most important one. He said that he would determine whether or
not the standard of care was met by the solicitors.

3 In the circumstances of this case this was not the only issue relating to liability. The defendants alleged
that, having regard to the manner in which the plaintiffs sought to recover and in fact recovered on the
promissory notes in question, which it was said the defendants had defectively drafted, and other defences
raised in the earlier action on the notes unrelated to what the defendants had done, the plaintiffs could not
show a causal connection between any alleged loss and the defendants' lapse, if there were one. We will
not go into details of these issues or express an opinion on them. It is sufficient to observe that they were
issues relating to liability or, at least, liability and damages. The trial judge appeared to recognize this
because he noted in the course of his ruling that he was going to concern himself with "the main issue on
liability" and that "there are a number of issues raised which of course affect liability indirectly”. He intended
to dispose of "the issue of liability in the narrow sense in which I have indicated it".

4 He indicated that further evidence might be called after his ruling, In his subsequent reserved reasons
for judgment the trial judge, in effect, purported to deal fully with the question of hability. However, at one
point in his reasons he said that, apart from "the possible exception of reformation or rectification", the
defences raised were still available. With respect to rectification he said that he "was prepared to hold that
it would likely not have availed the plaintiffs in the first action”. He was confident that "at the end of the
entirety of this trial, if negligence is found, some loss will be held to have occurred".

5 At the conclusion of his reasons he stated, for the reasons which he had given, "that the defendant firm
of solicitors was negligent" and that "[t]here will be judgment in an amount to be assessed". The formal
judgment was signed and entered in the terms just quoted.

6 With respect to the terms of the disposition, the trial judge had earlier in his reasons said: "The
question of damages will be the subject of a reference in due course with appropriate directions or will be
decided by me once the issue of liability has run its course."

7 Itappears from the terms of rule 54.02, which was in force at the time of the judgment (although not
at the time of the trial) that the trial judge, without the consent of the parties, was not empowered to direct
a reference.

8  Accepting that the power exists, in some circumstances, to split a trial and to render a judgment on
one issue in the action only, we are satisfied that it was not exercised properly in this case. As far as the
power itself is concerned, we note that it is nowhere expressly conferred, as 1t is in some other
jurisdictions. Provisions which are contained in the rules to enable some issues or matters to be separately
dealt with do not bear on this question: see Rule 21 (determination of an issue before trial), Rule 22
(special case), rules 30.04(8) and 31.06(5) (determination of an issue as a prelude to discovery), and rules
37.13(2)(b) and 38.11(1)(b) (directing the trial of an issue in a motion and application respectively).

9 In the argument before us reference was made to the view of the editors of Holmested and Gale on
the Judicature Act of Ontario and Rules of Practice (1983), vol 1, at p. 8871f, that the court has power to
direct the separate trial of an issue in an action. To the extent that support for this view is relied upon
reference is made to former Rule 73 which, in its concluding clause, provided that where several causes of



action are joined in one action the court "may direct the issues respecting the separate causes of action to
be tried separately”. It may be thought that this provision merely enabled the court to direct that the causes
of action themselves be separately tried. In any event, this wording in Rule 73 has not been carried forward
nto the new rules: see rule 5.05 which is the closest counterpart to Rule 73.

10  The fact that the power to split a trial is not expressly conferred does not, of course, mean that it may
not be part of the inherent jurisdiction of the court and we accept that it exists on this basis, to be exercised
in the interest ofjustice. Resort to it has, in fact, been usefully made: see, e.g., Simpsons Ltd. v. Pigott
Construction Co. Ltd. (1973), 1 O.R. (2d) 257, 40 D.L.R. (3d) 47, and Lake Ontario Cement Co. v.
Golden Eagle Oil Co. Ltd. (1974), 3 O.R. (2d) 739, 46 D.L.R. (3d) 659. It has been held that the power
may not be exercised where one of the parties has served a jury notice: Shepley v. Libby McNeil & Libby
of Canada Ltd.; Clifford & McKenzie et al., Third Parties (1979), 23 O.R. (2d) 354, 9 C.P.C. 201.

11  However, since it is a basic right of a litigant to have all issues in dispute resolved in one trial it must
be regarded as a narrowly circumscribed power. This approach is supported by the familiar statutory
admonition which is continued in s. 148 of the Courts of Justice Act, 1984 (Ont.), ¢. 11:

148.  As far as possible, multiplicity of legal proceedings shall be avoided.

There is also the judicial admonition of Meredith C.J.C.P. m Waller v. Independent Order of Foresters
(1905), 5 O.W.R. 421 atp. 422: "Experience has shewn that seldom, if ever, is any advantage gained by
trying some of the issues before the trial of the others is entered upon ... ". The power should be exercised,
in the interest of justice, only in the clearest cases. We would think that a court would give substantial
weight to the fact that both parties consent to the splitting of a trial, if this be the case. On the other hand, a
court should be slow to exercise the power if one of the parties, particularly, as in this case, the defendant
(see Emma Silver Mining Co. v. Grant (1878), 11 Ch. D. 918 at p. 928), objects to its exercise.

12 As we have said, accepting that the power exists, we conclude that it was not exercised properly in
this case. Having regard to the course that was followed, in which the trial judge appears to have resolved
all issues of liability against the defendant after earlier indicating he would deal with only one of them, we
do not think that the issue of liability was properly tried.

13 Since both counsel are agreed that the formal judgment of'the trial judge should be regarded as a
proper basis for an appeal to this Court to enable it, at least, to determine the correctness of the course of
action followed by the trial judge, we are prepared to deal with the matter on this basis.

14  Since we are not satisfied that the record on the issue of liability is complete we think that we should
not deal with any aspect of this subject. Accordingly, we express no opinion on the merits, one way or the
other, on the substantive correctness of the trial judge's opinion. In all of the circumstances, we think that
justice requires a new trial, rather than the continuation of the trial.

15 Accordingly, the appeal is allowed, the judgment below is set aside and a new trial is directed. The
appellant shall have the costs ofthe appeal and one-half the costs of the trial.

Appeal allowed; new trial ordered.
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excess of interest limit prescribed by 5. 347 of Criminal Code -- Whether customers have claim for
unjust enrvichment -- Defences that can be mounted by utility to resist claim -- Whether other
ancillary orders necessary.

Summary:

The respondent gas utility, whose rates and payment policies are governed by the Ontario Energy Board
("OEB"), bills its customers on a monthly basis, and each bill includes a due date for the payment of current
charges. Customers who do not pay by the due date incur a late payment penalty ("LPP") calculated at five
percent of the unpaid charges for that month. The LPP is a one-time penalty, and does not compound or
increase over time. The appellant and his wife paid approximately $75 in LPP charges between 1983 and
1995. The appellant [page630] commenced a class action seeking restitution for unjust enrichment of LPP
charges received by the respondent in violation of's. 347 of the Criminal Code. He also sought a
preservation order. In a previous appeal to this Court, it was held that charging the LPPs amounted to
charging a criminal rate of interest under s. 347 and the matter was remitted back to the trial court for
further consideration. As the case raised no factual dispute, the parties brought cross-motions for summary
judgment. The motions judge granted the respondent's motion for summary judgment, finding that the
action was a collateral attack on the OEB's orders. The Court of Appeal disagreed, but dismissed the
appellant's appeal on the grounds that his unjust enrichment claim could not be made out.

Held: The appeal should be allowed. The respondent is ordered to repay LPPs collected from the
appellant in excess of the interest limit stipulated in s. 347 of the Code after the action was commenced in
1994 in an amount to be determined by the trial judge.

The test for unjust enrichment has three elements: (1) an enrichment of the defendant; (2) a corresponding
deprivation of the plaintiff, and (3) an absence of juristic reason for the enrichment. The proper approach
to the juristic reason analysis is in two parts. The plaintiff must show that no juristic reason from an
established category exists to deny recovery. The established categories include a contract, a disposition of
law, a donative intent, and other valid common law, equitable or statutory obligations. If there is no juristic
reason from an established category, then the plaintifthas made out a prima facie case. The prima facie
case is rebuttable, however, where the defendant can show that there is another reason to deny recovery.
Courts should have regard at this point to two factors: the reasonable expectations of the parties and public
policy considerations.

Here, the appellant has a claim for restitution. The respondent received the monies represented by the
LPPs and had that money available for use in the carrying on of its business. The transfer of those funds
constitutes a benefit to the respondent. The parties are agreed that the second prong of the test has been
satisfied. With respect to the third prong, the only possible juristic reason from an established category that
could justify the enrichment [page631] i this case is the existence of the OEB orders creating the LPPs
under the "disposition of law" category. The OEB orders, however, do not constitute a juristic reason for
the enrichment because they are moperative to the extent of their conflict with s. 347 of the Criminal
Code. The appellant has thus made out a prima facie case for unjust enrichment.

The respondent's reliance on the orders is relevant when determining the reasonable expectations of the
parties at the rebuttal stage of the juristic reason analysis even though it would not provide a defence if the



respondent was charged under s. 347 of the Code. However, the overriding public policy consideration in
this case is the fact that the LPPs were collected in contravention of the Criminal Code. As a matter of
public policy, criminals should not be permitted to keep the proceeds of their crime. In weighing these
considerations, the respondent's reliance on the inoperative OEB orders from 1981-1994, prior to the
commencement of this action, provides a juristic reason for the enrichment. After the action was
commenced and the respondent was put on notice that there was a serious possibility its LPPs violated the
Criminal Code, it was no longer reasonable to rely on the OEB rate orders to authorize the LPPs. Given
that conclusion, it is only necessary to consider the respondent's defences for the period afier 1994.

The respondent cannot avail itself of any defence. The change of position defence is not available to a
defendant who is a wrongdoer. Since the respondent i this case was enriched by its own criminal
misconduct, it should not be permitted to avail itself of the defence. Section 18 (now s. 25) of the Ontario
Energy Board Act should be read down so as to exclude protection from civil liability damage arising out
of Criminal Code violations. As a result, the defence does not apply in this case and it is not necessary to
consider the constitutionality of the section.

This action does not constitute an impermissible collateral attack on the OEB's orders. The OEB does not
have exclusive jurisdiction over this dispute, which is a private law matter under the competence of civil
courts, nor does it have jurisdiction to order the remedy sought by the appellant. Moreover, the specific
object of the action is not to invalidate or render noperative the OEB's orders, but rather to recover
money that was illegally [page632] collected by the respondent as a result of OEB orders. In order for the
regulated mdustries defence to be available to the respondent, Parliament needed to have indicated, either
expressly or by necessary implication, that s. 347 of the Code granted leeway to those acting pursuant to a
valid provincial regulatory scheme. Section 347 does not contain any such indication.

The de facto doctrine does not apply in this case because it only attaches to government and its officials in

order to protect and maintain the rule of law and the authority of government. An extension of the doctrine

to a private corporation regulated by a government authority is not supported by the case law and does not
further the doctrine's underlying purpose.

A preservation order is not appropriate m this case. The respondent has ceased to collect the LPPs at a
criminal rate, so there would be no future LPPs to which a preservation order could attach. Even with
respect to the LPPs paid between 1994 and the present, a preservation order should not be granted
because it would serve no practical purpose, because the appellant has not satisfied the criteria in the
Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, and because Amax can be distinguished from this case. A declaration
that the LPPs need not be paid would similarly serve no practical purpose and should not be made.
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The judgment of the Court was delivered by

1 TACOBUCCI J.-- Atissue in this appeal is a claim by customers of'a regulated utility for restitution
for unjust enrichment arising from late payment penalties levied by the utility in excess of the interest limit
prescribed by s. 347 of the Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46. More specifically, the issues raised
include the necessary ingredients to a claim for unjust enrichment, the defences that can be mounted to
resist the claim, and whether other ancillary orders are necessary.

2 For the reasons that follow, I am of the view to uphold the appellant's claim for unjust enrichment and
therefore would allow the appeal.

L Facts

3 The respondent Consumers' Gas Company Limited, now known as Enbridge Gas Distribution
[page635] Inc., is a regulated utility which provides natural gas to commercial and residential customers
throughout Ontario. Its rates and payment policies are governed by the Ontario Energy Board ("OEB" or



"Board") pursuant to the Ontario Energy Board Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. 0.13 ("OEBA"), and the
Municipal Franchises Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. M.55. The respondent cannot sell gas or charge for gas-
related services except in accordance with rate orders issued by the Board.

4 Consumers' Gas bills its customers on a monthly basis, and each bill includes a due date for the
payment of current charges. Customers who do not pay by the due date incur a late payment penalty
("LPP") calculated at five percent of the unpaid charges for that month. The LPP is a one-time penalty, and
does not compound or increase over time.

5 The LPP was implemented in 1975 following a series of rate hearings conducted by the OEB. In
granting Consumers' Gas's application to impose the penalty, the Board noted that the primary purpose of
the LPP is to encourage customers to pay their bills promptly, thereby reducing the cost to Consumers'
Gas of carrying accounts receivable. The Board also held that such costs, along with any special collection
costs arising from late payments, should be borne by the customers who cause them to be incurred, rather
than by the customer base as a whole. In approving a flat penalty of five percent, the OEB rejected the
alternative course of imposing a daily interest charge on overdue accounts. The Board reasoned that an
interest charge would not provide sufficient incentive to pay by a named date, would give little weight to
collection costs, and might seem overly complicated. The Board recognized that if a bill is paid very soon
after the due date, the penalty would, if calculated as an interest charge, be a very high rate of interest.
However, it noted that customers could avoid such a charge by paying their bills on time, and that, in any
event, in the case of the average [page636] bill the dollar amount of the penalty would not be very large.

6 The appellant Gordon Garland is a resident of Ontario and has been a Consumers' Gas customer
since 1983. He and his wife paid approximately $75 in LPP charges between 1983 and 1995. In a class
action on behalf of over 500,000 Consumers' Gas customers, Garland asserted that the LPPs violate s.
347 ofthe Criminal Code. That case also reached the Supreme Court of Canada, which held that
charging the LPPs amounted to charging a criminal rate of interest under s. 347 and remitted the matter
back to the trial court for further consideration (Garland v. Consumers' Gas Co., [1998] 3 S.C.R. 112
("Garland No. 1"). Both parties have now brought cross-motions for summary judgment.

7  The appellant now seeks restitution for unjust enrichment of LPP charges received by the respondent
in violation of s. 347 of the Code. He also seeks a preservation order requiring Consumers' Gas to hold
LPPs paid during the pendency of the litigation subject to possible repayment.

8 The motions judge granted the respondent's motion for summary judgment, finding that the action was
a collateral attack on the OEB order. He dismissed the application for a preservation order. A majority of
the Court of Appeal disagreed with the motions judge's reasons, but dismissed the appeal on the grounds
that the appellant's unjust enrichment claim could not be made out.

II.  Relevant Statutory Provisions

9  Ontario Energy Board Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. O.13

18. An order of the Board is a good and sufficient defence to any
proceeding brought or taken against any [page637] person in so far as the act



or omission that is the subject of the proceeding is in accordance with the
order.

Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.0. 1998, c. 15, Sch. B

25. An order of the Board is a good and sufficient defence to any
proceeding brought or taken against any person in so far as the act or omission
that is the subject of the proceeding is in accordance with the order.

Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. C-46

15. No person shall be convicted of an offence in respect of an act or
omission in obedience to the laws for the time being made and enforced by
persons in de facto possession of the sovereign power in and over the place
where the act or omission occurs.

347. (1) Notwithstanding any Act of Parliament, every one who

(@) enters into an agreement or arrangement to receive interest at a
criminal rate, or

(b) receives a payment or partial payment of interest at a criminal rate,
is guilty of

(c) an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term not
exceeding five years, or

(d) an offence punishable on summary conviction and is liable to a fine
not exceeding twenty-five thousand dollars or to imprisonment for a term
not exceeding six months or to both.

L Judicial History

A. Ontario Superior Court of Justice (2000), 185 D.L.R. (4th) 536

10  As this case raised no factual disputes, all parties agreed that summary judgment was the proper
procedure on the motion. Winkler J. found that the appellant's claim could not succeed in law and that
there was no serious issue to be tried. In so finding, he held that the "regulated industries defence" was not
a complete defence to the claim. On his reading of the relevant case law, the dominant consideration was
whether the express statutory [page638] language afforded a degree of flexibility to provincial regulators.
Section 347 affords no such flexibility, so the defence is not available.

11  Nor, in Winkler J.'s view, did s. 15 ofthe Criminal Code act as a defence. Section 15 was a



provision of very limited application, originally enacted to ensure that persons serving the Monarch de
facto could not be tried for treason for remaining faithful to the unsuccessful claimant to the throne. While it
could have a more contemporary application, it was limited on its face to actions or omissions occurring
pursuant to the authority of a sovereign power. As the OEB was not a sovereign power, it did not apply.

12 Winkler J. found that the proposed action was a collateral attack on the OEB's orders. The OEBA
indicated repeatedly that the OEB has exclusive control over matters within its jurisdiction. In addition,
interested parties were welcome to participate in OEB hearings, and OEB orders were reviewable. The
appellant did not avail himself of any of these opportunities, choosing instead to challenge the validity of the
OEB orders in the courts. Winkler J. found that, unless attacked directly, OEB orders are valid and
binding upon the respondent and its consumers. The OEB was not a party to the instant proceeding and its
orders were not before the court. Winkler J. noted that the setting of rates is a balancing exercise, with
LPPs being one factor under consideration. Applying Sprint Canada Inc. v. Bell Canada (1997), 79
C.P.R. (3d) 31 (Ont. Ct. (Gen. Di.)), Ontario Hydro v. Kelly (1998), 39 O.R. (3d) 107 (Gen. D.),
and Mahar v. Rogers Cablesystems Ltd. (1995), 25 O.R. (3d) 690 (Gen. Div.), Winkler J. found that
the instant action, although framed as a private dispute between two contractual parties, was in reality an
impermissible collateral attack on the validity of OEB orders. It would be mappropriate for the court to
determine matters that fall squarely within the OEB's jurisdiction. Moreover, this Court's decision in
Garland No. 1 with respect [page639] to s. 347 provided the OEB with ample legal guidance to deal with
the matter.

13 Incase he was incorrect in that finding, Winkler J. went on to find that s. 18 of'the OEBA provided a
complete defence to the proposed action. He held that s. 18 was constitutionally valid because it did not
mterfere with Parliament's jurisdiction over interest and the criminal law, or, to the extent that it did, the
interference was incidental. Although the respondent did not strictly comply with the OEB order in that it
waived LPPs for some customers, this did not preclude the respondent from relying on s. 18.

14  In case that finding was also mistaken, Winkler J. went on to consider whether the appellant's claim
for restitution was valid. The parties had conceded that the appellant had suffered a deprivation, and
Winkler J. was satisfied that the respondent had received a benefit. However, he found that the OEB's rate
order constituted a valid juristic reason for the respondent's enrichment.

15 Having reached those conclusions, Wnkler J. declined to make a preservation order, as requested
by the appellant, allowed the respondent's motion for summary judgment and dismissed the appellant's
action. By endorsement, he ordered costs against the appellant.

B. Ontario Court of Appeal (2001), 208 D.L.R. (4th) 494

16 McMurtry C.J.O., for the majority, found that Winkler J. was incorrect in finding that there had been
an impermissible collateral attack on a decision of the OEB because the appellant was not challenging the
merits or legality of the OEB order or attempting to raise a matter already dealt with by the OEB. Rather,
the proposed class action was based on the principles of unjust enrichment and raised issues over which
the OEB had no [page640] jurisdiction. As such, the courts had jurisdiction over the proposed class
action.



17 McMurtry C.J.O. further found that s. 25 ofthe 1998 OEBA (the equivalent provision to s. 18 ofthe
1990 OEBA) did not provide grounds to dismiss the appellant's action. He did not agree that the
respondent's failure to comply strictly with the OEB orders made s. 25 inapplicable. Instead, he found that
while s. 25 provides a defence to any proceedings in so far as the act or omission at issue is in accordance
with the OEB order, legislative provisions restricting citizen's rights of action attract strict construction
(Berardinelli v. Ontario Housing Corp., [1979] 1 S.C.R. 275). The legislature could not reasonably be
believed to have contemplated that an OEB order could mandate criminal conduct, and even wording as
broad as that found in s. 25 could not provide a defence to an action for restitution arising from an OEB
order authorizing criminal conduct. He noted that this decision was based on the principles of statutory
interpretation, not on the federal paramountcy doctrine.

18 Section 15 ofthe Criminal Code did not provide the respondent with a defence, either. It was of
limited application and is largely irrelevant in modern times. As for the "regulated industries defence", it did
not apply because the case law did not indicate that a company operating in a regulatory industry could act
directly contrary to the Criminal Code.

19  Nonetheless, McMurtry C.J.O. held that the appellant's unjust enrichment claim could not be made
out. It had been conceded that the appellant suffered a deprivation, but McMurtry C.J.O. held that the
appellant failed to establish the other two elements of the claim for unjust enrichment. While payment of
money will normally be a benefit, McMurtry C.J.O. found that the payment of the late penalties in this case
did not confer a benefit on the [page641] respondent. Taking the "straightforward economic approach” to
the first two elements of unjust enrichment, as recommended in Peter v. Beblow, [1993] 1 S.C.R. 980,
McMurtry C.J.O. noted that the OEB sets rates with a view to meeting the respondent's overall revenue
requirements. If the revenue available from LPPs had been set lower, the other rates would have been set
higher. Therefore, the receipt of the LPPs was not an enrichment capable of giving rise to a restitutionary
claim.

20  Incase that conclusion was wrong, McMurtry C.J.O. went on to find that there was a juristic reason
for any presumed enrichment. Under this aspect of the test, moral and policy questions were open for
consideration, and it was necessary to consider what was fair to both the plamtiff and the defendant. It was
therefore necessary to consider the statutory regime within which the respondent operated. McMurtry
C.J.0O. noted that the respondent was required by statute to apply the LPPs; it had been ordered to collect
them and they were taken into account when the OEB made its rate orders. He found that it would be
contrary to the equities in this case to require the respondent to repay all the LPP charges collected since
1981. Such an order would affect all of the respondent's customers, including the vast majority who
consistently pay on time.

21  The appellant argued that a preservation order was required even if his arguments on restitution were
not successful because he could still be successful in arguing that the respondent could not enforce payment
of the late penalties. As he had found no basis for ordering restitution, McMurtry C.J.O. saw no reason to
make a preservation order. Moreover, the order requested would serve no practical purpose because it
gave the respondent the right to spend the monies at stake. He dismissed the appeal and the appellant's
action. In so doing, he agreed with the motions judge that the appellant's [page642] claims for declaratory
and injunctive relief should not be granted.



22 Asto costs, McMurtry C.J.O. found that there were several considerations that warranted
overturning the order that the appellant pay the respondent's costs. First, the order required him to pay the
costs of his successful appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada. Second, even though the respondent was
ultimately successfill, it failed on two of the defences it raised at the motions stage and three of the defences
it raised at the Court of Appeal. Third, the proceedings raised novel issues. McMurtry C.J.O. found that
each party should bear its own costs.

23 Borins J.A., writing in dissent, was of the opinion that the appeal should be allowed. He agreed with
most of McMurtry C.J.O.'s reasons, but found that the plaintiff class was entitled to restitution. In his
opinion, the motions judge's finding that the LPPs had enriched the respondent by causing it to have more
money than it had before was supported by the evidence and the authorities. Absent material error, he
held, it was not properly reviewable.

24 However, Borins J.A. found that the motions judge had erred in law in finding that there was a
juristic reason for the enrichment. The motions judge had failed to consider the effect of the Supreme Court
of Canada decision that the charges amount to interests at a criminal rate and that s. 347 ofthe Criminal
Code prohibits the receipt of such interest. As a result of this decision, Borins J.A. felt that the rate orders
ceased to have any legal effect and could not provide a juristic reason for the enrichment. A finding that the
rate orders constituted a juristic reason for contravening s. 347 also allowed orders of a provincial
regulatory authority to override federal criminal law and removed a substantial reason for compliance with
s. 347. Thus, he held that allowing the respondent [page643] to retain the LPPs was contrary to the
federal paramountcy doctrine.

25  According to Borins J.A., finding the OEB orders to constitute a juristic reason would also be
contrary to the authorities which have applied s. 347 in the context of commercial obligations. This line of
cases required consideration of when restitution should have been ordered and for what portion of the
amount paid. Finally, it would allow the respondent to profit from its own wrongdoing.

26  Borins J.A. was not sympathetic to the respondent's claims that its change of position should allow it
to keep the money it had collected in contravention of's. 347, even if it could have recovered the same
amount of money on an altered rate structure. He also noted that, in his opinion, the issue of recoverability
should have been considered in the context of the class action, not on the basis of the representative
plaintiff's claim for $75. Borins J.A. would have allowed the appeal, set aside the judgment dismissing the
appellant's claim, granted partial summary judgment, and dismissed the respondent's motion for summary
judgment. The appellant would have been required to proceed to trial with respect to damages. He would
also have declared that the charging and receipt of LPPs by the respondent violates s. 347(1)(b) of the
Criminal Code and that the LPPs need not be paid by the appellant, and would have ordered that the
respondent repay the LPPs received from the appellant, as determined by the trial judge. He would also
have ordered costs against the respondent.

27 It should be noted that on January 9, 2003, McLachln C.J. stated the following constitutional
question;

Are s. 18 ofthe Ontario Energy Board Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. O.13, and s. 25
ofthe Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.0. 1998, c. 15, Sched. B,



constitutionally inoperative [page644] by reason of the paramountcy of's. 347
ofthe Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46?

As will be clear from the reasons below, I have found it unnecessary to answer the constitutional question.

Issues

28 1. Does the appellant have a claim for restitution?

[page645]

(a)  Was the respondent enriched?
(b)  Is there a juristic reason for the enrichment?

Can the respondent avail itself of any defence?

(@)  Does the change of position defence apply?

(®)  Does s. 18 (now s. 25) ofthe OEBA ("s. 18/25") shield the respondent from
liability?

(¢)  Is the appellant engaging in a collateral attack on the orders of the Board?

(d)  Does the "regulated industries" defence exonerate the respondent?

()  Does the de facto doctrine exonerate the respondent?

Other orders sought by the appellant

(a)  Should this Court make a preservation order?
(b)  Should this Court make a declaration that the LPPs need not be paid?
(¢)  What order should this Court make as to costs?

Analysis

29 My analysis will proceed as follows. First, I will assess the appellant's claim in unjust enrichment.
Second, I will determine whether the respondent can avail itself of any defences to the appellant's claim.
Finally, T will address the other orders sought by the appellant.

A. Unjust Enrichment

30  As a general matter, the test for unjust enrichment is well established m Canada. The cause of action
has three elements: (1) an enrichment of the defendant; (2) a corresponding deprivation of the plaintiff, and
(3) an absence of juristic reason for the enrichment (Pettkus v. Becker, [1980] 2 S.C.R. 834, at p. 848;
Peel (Regional Municipality) v. Canada, [1992] 3 S.C.R. 762, at p. 784). In this case, the parties are



agreed that the second prong of the test has been satisfied. I will thus address the first and third prongs of
the test in turn.

(8  Enrichment of the Defendant

31 InPeel, supra, at p. 790, McLachlin J. (as she then was) noted that the word "enrichment" connotes
a tangible benefit which has been conferred on the defendant. This benefit, she writes, can be either a
posttive benefit, such as the payment of money, or a negative benefit, for example, sparing the defendant an
expense which he or she would otherwise have incurred. In general, moral and policy arguments have not
been considered under this head of the test. Rather, as McLachlin J. wrote in Peter, supra, at p. 990, "
[t]his Court has consistently taken a straightforward economic approach to the first two elements of the
test for unjust enrichment". Other considerations, she held, belong more appropriately under the third
element -- absence of juristic reason.

32 Inthis case, the transactions at issue are payments of money by late payers to the respondent. It
seems to me that, as such, under the "straightforward [page646] economic approach” to the benefit
analysis, this element is satisfied. Winkler J. followed this approach and was satisfied that the respondent
had received a benefit. "Simply stated", he wrote at para. 95, "as a result of each LPP received by
Consumers' Gas, the company has more money than it had previously and accordingly is enriched."

33  The majority of the Court of Appeal for Ontario disagreed. McMurtry C.J.O. found that while
payment of money would normally be a benefit, it was not in this case. He claimed to be applying the
"straightforward economic approach" as recommended i Peter, supra, but accepted the respondent's
argument that because of the rate structure of the OEB, the respondent had not actually been enriched.
Because LPPs were part of a scheme designed to recover the respondent's overall revenue, any increase
in LPPs was off-set by a corresponding decrease in regular rates. Thus McMurtry C.J.O. concluded, "
[t]he enrichment that follows from the receipt of LPPs is passed on to all [Consumers' Gas] customers in
the form of lower gas delivery rates" (para. 65). As a resul, the real beneficiary of the scheme is not the
respondent but is rather all of the respondent's customers.

34 Inhis dissent, Borins J.A. disagreed with this analysis. He would have held that where there is
payment of money, there is little controversy over whether or not a benefit was received and since a
payment of money was received in this case, a benefit was conferred on the respondent.

35 The respondent submits that it is not enough that the plamtiff has made a payment; rather, it must also
be shown that the defendant is "in possession of a benefit". It argues that McMurtry C.J.O. had correctly
held that the benefit had effectively been passed on to the respondent's customers, so the respondent could
not be said to have retained the benefit. The appellant, on the other hand, maintains [page647] that the
"straightforward economic approach" from Peter, supra, should be applied and any other moral or policy
considerations should be considered at the juristic reason stage of the analysis.

36 I agree with the analysis of Borins J.A. on this point. The law on this question is relatively clear.
Where money is transferred from plamtiff to defendant, there is an enrichment. Transfer of money so
clearly confers a benefit that it is the mam example used in the case law and by commentators of a
transaction that meets the threshold for a benefit (see Peel, supra, at p. 790; Sharwood & Co. v.



Municipal Financial Corp. (2001), 53 O.R. (3d) 470 (C.A.), at p. 478; P. D. Maddaugh and J. D.
McCamus, The Law of Restitution (1990), at p. 38; Lord Goffand G. Jones, The Law of Restitution
(6th ed. 2002), at p. 18). There simply is no doubt that Consumers' Gas received the monies represented
by the LPPs and had that money available for use in the carrying on of its business. The availability of those
funds constitutes a benefit to Consumers' Gas, We are not, at this stage, concerned with what happened to
this benefit in the ongoing operation of the regulatory scheme.

37 While the respondent rightly points out that the language of "received and retained" has been used
with respect to the benefit requirement (see, for example, Peel, supra, at p. 788), it does not make sense
that it is a requirement that the benefit be retamed permanently. The case law does, in fact, recognize that it
might be unfair to award restitution in cases where the benefit was not retained, but it does so after the
three steps for a claim in unjust enrichment have been made out by recognizing a "change of position”
defence (see, for example, Rural Municipality of Storthoaks v. Mobil Oil Canada, Ltd., [1976] 2
S.C.R. 147; RBC Dominion Securities Inc. v. Dawson (1994), 111 D.L.R. (4th) 230 (Nfld. C.A.)).
Professor J. S. Ziegel, in his comment on the Ontario Court of Appeal decision in this case, "Criminal
Usury, Class Actions and Unjust Enrichment in Canada" (2002), 18 J. Cont. L. 121, atp. 126, suggests
that McMurtry C.J.O.'s reliance on the regulatory framework of the LPP [page648] in finding that a
benefit was not conferred "was really a change of position defence”. I agree with this assessment. Whether
recovery should be barred because the benefit was passed on to the respondent's other customers ought
to be considered under the change of position defence.

(b)  Absence of Juristic Reason
() General Principles

38 In his original formulation of the test for unjust enrichment in Rathwell v. Rathwell, [1978] 2 S.C.R.
436, atp. 455 (adopted in Pettkus, supra, at p. 844), Dickson J. (as he then was) held in his minority
reasons that for an action in unjust enrichment to succeed:

... the facts must display an enrichment, a corresponding deprivation, and the
absence of any juristic reason -- such as a contract or disposition of law -- for
the enrichment.

39 Later formulations of the test by this Court have broadened the types of factors that can be
considered in the context of the juristic reason analysis. In Peter, supra, at p. 990, McLachlin J. held that:

It is at this stage that the court must consider whether the enrichment and
detriment, morally neutral in themselves, are "unjust",

... The test is flexible, and the factors to be considered may vary with the
situation before the court.

40  The "juristic reason" aspect of the test for unjust enrichment has been the subject of much academic
commentary and criticism. Much of the discussion arises out of the difference between the ways in which
the cause of action of unjust enrichment is conceptualized m Canada and in England. While both Canadian



and English causes of action require an enrichment of the defendant and a [page649] corresponding
deprivation of the plaintiff, the Canadian cause of action requires that there be "an absence of juristic
reason for the enrichment", while English courts require "that the enrichment be unjust” (see discussion in L.
Smith, "The Mystery of 'Juristic Reason™ (2000), 12 S.C.L.R. (2d) 211, at pp. 212-13). It is not of great
use to speculate on why Dickson J. in Rathwell, supra, expressed the third condition as absence of juristic
reason but I believe that he may have wanted to ensure that the test for unjust enrichment was not purely
subjective in order to be responsive to Martland J.'s criticism in his reasons that application of the doctrine
of unjust enrichment contemplated by Dickson J. would require "immeasurable judicial discretion” (p. 473).
The importance of avoiding a purely subjective standard was also stressed by McLachlin J. in her reasons
in Peel, supra, at p. 802, in which she wrote that the application of the test for unjust enrichment should
not be "case by case 'palm tree' justice".

41 Perhaps as a result of these two formulations of this aspect of the test, Canadian courts and
commentators are divided in their approach to juristic reason. As Borins J.A. notes in his dissent (at para.
105), while "some judges have taken the Pettkus formulation literally and have attempted to decide cases
by finding a 'juristic reason’ for a defendant's enrichment, other judges have decided cases by asking
whether the plaintiffhas a positive reason for demanding restitution". In his article, "The Mystery of 'Juristic
Reason'™, supra, which was cited at length by Borins J.A., Professor Smith suggests that it is not clear
whether the requirement of "absence of juristic reason" should be interpreted literally to require that
plaintiffs show the absence of a reason for the defendant to keep the enrichment or, as in the English
model, the plaintiff must show a reason for reversing the transfer of wealth. Other commentators have
argued that in fact there is no difference beyond semantics between the Canadian and English tests (see,
for example, M. Mclnnes, "Unjust [page650] Enrichment -- Restitution -- Absence of Juristic Reason:
Campbell v. Campbell" (2000), 79 Can. Bar Rev. 459).

42  Professor Smith argues that, if there is in fact a distinct Canadian approach to juristic reason, it is
problematic because it requires the plaintiff to prove a negative, namely the absence of a juristic reason.
Because it is nearly impossible to do this, he suggests that Canada would be better off adopting the British
model where the plaintiff must show a positive reason that it would be unjust for the defendant to retain the
enrichment. In my view, however, there is a distinctive Canadian approach to juristic reason which should
be retained but can be construed in a manner that is responsive to Smith's criticism.

43 It should be recalled that the test for unjust enrichment is relatively new to Canadian jurisprudence. It
requires flexibility for courts to expand the categories of juristic reasons as circumstances require and to
deny recovery where to allow it would be nequitable. As McLachlin J. wrote in Peel, supra, atp. 788,
the Court's approach to unjust enrichment, while informed by traditional categories of recovery, "is
capable, however, of going beyond them, allowing the law to develop in a flexible way as required to meet
changing perceptions of justice". But at the same time there must also be guidelines that offer trial judges
and others some indication of what the boundaries of the cause of action are. The goal is to avoid
guidelines that are so general and subjective that uniformity becomes unattainable.

44  The parties and commentators have pointed out that there is no specific authority that settles this
question. But recalling that this is an equitable remedy that will necessarily involve discretion and questions
of fairness, [ believe that some redefinition and reformulation is required. Consequently, in [page651] my



view, the proper approach to the juristic reason analysis is in two parts. First, the plaintiff must show that
no juristic reason from an established category exists to deny recovery. By closing the list of categories that
the plaintiff must canvass in order to show an absence of juristic reason, Smith's objection to the Canadian
formulation of the test that it required proofof a negative is answered. The established categories that can
constitute juristic reasons include a contract (Pettkus, supra), a disposition of law (Pettkus, supra), a
donative intent (Peter, supra), and other valid common law, equitable or statutory obligations (Peter,
supra). If there is no juristic reason from an established category, then the plamtiff has made out a prima
facie case under the juristic reason component of the analysis.

45  The prima facie case is rebuttable, however, where the defendant can show that there is another
reason to deny recovery. As a result, there is a de facto burden of proofplaced on the defendant to show
the reason why the enrichment should be retained. This stage of the analysis thus provides for a category of
residual defence in which courts can look to all of the circurnstances of the transaction in order to
determine whether there is another reason to deny recovery.

46  As part of the defendant's attempt to rebut, courts should have regard to two factors: the reasonable
expectations of'the parties, and public policy considerations. It may be that when these factors are
considered, the court will find that a new category of juristic reason is established. In other cases, a
consideration of these factors will suggest that there was a juristic reason in the particular circumstances of
a case which does not give rise to a new category of juristic reason that should be applied in other factual
circumstances. In a third group of cases, a consideration of these factors will yield a determination that
there was no juristic reason for the enrichment. In the latter cases, recovery should be allowed. The point
here is that this area is an evolving one and [page652] that further cases will add additional refinements and
developments.

47 Inmy view, this approach to the juristic reason analysis is consistent with the general approach to
unjust enrichment endorsed by McLachlin J. in Peel, supra, where she stated that courts must effect a
balance between the traditional "category" approach according to which a claim for restitution will succeed
only if it falls within an established head of recovery, and the modern "principled” approach according to
which reliefis determined with reference to broad principles. It is also, as discussed by Professor Smith,
supra, generally consistent with the approach to unjust enrichment found in the civil law of Quebec (see,
for example, arts. 1493 and 1494 of the Civil Code of Quebec, S.Q. 1991, c. 64).

()  Application

48 Inthis case, the only possible juristic reason from an established category that could be used to
justify the enrichment is the existence of the OEB orders creating the LPPs under the "disposition of law"
category. The OEB orders, however, do not constitute a juristic reason for the enrichment because they
are rendered moperative to the extent of their conflict with s. 347 of the Criminal Code. The plamtiff has
thus made out a prima facie case for unjust enrichment.

49  Disposition of law is well established as a category of juristic reason. In Rathwell, supra, Dickson J.
gave as examples of juristic reasons "a contract or disposition of law" (p. 455). In Reference re Goods
and Services Tax, [1992] 2 S.C.R. 445 ("GST Reference"), Lamer C.J. held that a valid statute is a



juristic reason barring recovery in unjust enrichment. This was affirmed in Peter, supra, at p. 1018. Most
recently, in Mack v. Canada (Attorney General) (2002), 60 O.R. (3d) 737, the Ontario Court of
Appeal held that the legislation which created the Chinese head tax provided a juristic reason which
prevented recovery of the head tax in unjust [page653] enrichment. In the leading Canadian text, The Law
of Restitution, supra, McCamus and Maddaugh discuss the phrase "disposition of law" from Rathwell,
supra, stating, at p. 46:

... it is perhaps self-evident that an unjust enrichment will not be established in
any case where enrichment of the defendant at the plaintiff's expense is required
by law.

[t seems clear, then, that valid legislation can provide a juristic reason which bars recovery in restitution.

50 Consumers' Gas submits that the LPPs were authorized by the Board's rate orders which qualify as a
disposition of law. It seems to me that this submission is predicated on the validity and operability of this
scheme. The scheme has been challenged by the appellant on the basis that it conflicts with s. 347 of'the
Criminal Code and, as a result of the doctrine of paramountcy, is consequently moperative. In the GST
Reference, supra, Lamer C.J. held that legislation provides a juristic reason "unless the statute itself'is
ultra vires" (p. 477). Given that legislation that would have been ultra vires the province cannot provide a
juristic reason, the same principle should apply if the provincial legislation is noperative by virtue of the
paramountcy doctrine. This position is contemplated by Borins J.A. in his dissent when he wrote, at para.
149:

In my view, it would be wrong to say that the rate orders do not provide
[Consumers' Gas] with a defence under s. 18 of the OEBA because they have
been rendered noperative by the doctrine of federal paramountcy, and then to
breathe life into them for the purpose of finding that they constitute a juristic
reason for [Consumers' Gas's] enrichment.

51 As aresult, the question of whether the statutory framework can serve as a juristic reason depends
on whether the provision is held to be moperative. Ifthe [page654] OEB orders are constitutionally valid
and operative, they provide a juristic reason which bars recovery. Conversely, if the scheme is inoperative
by virtue of a conflict with s. 347 ofthe Criminal Code, then a juristic reason is not present. [n my view,
the OEB rate orders are constitutionally inoperative to the extent of their conflict with s. 347 ofthe
Criminal Code.

52 The OEB rate orders require the receipt of LPPs at what is often a criminal rate of interest. Such
receipt is prohibited by s. 347 of'the Criminal Code. Both the OEB rate orders and s. 347 ofthe
Criminal Code are intra vires the level of government that enacted them. The rate orders are intra vires
the province by virtue of's. 92(13) (property and civil rights) of the Constitution Act, 1867. Section 347
ofthe Criminal Code is intra vires the federal government by virtue of's. 91(19) (interest) and s. 91(27)
(criminal law power).

53 It should be noted that the Board orders at issue did not require Consumers' Gas to collect the LPPs
within a period of 38 days. One could then make the argument that this was not an express operational



contlict. But to my mind this is somewhat artificial. I say this because at bottom it is a necessary implication
ofthe OEB orders to require payment within this period. In that respect it should be treated as an express
order for purposes of the paramountcy analysis. Consequently, there is an express operational contlict
between the rate orders and s. 347 of the Criminal Code i that it is impossible for Consumers' Gas to
comply with both provisions. Where there is an actual operational conflict, it is well settled that the
provincial law is inoperative to the extent of the conflict (Multiple Access Ltd. v. McCutcheon, [1982] 2
S.C.R. 161, atp. 191; M & D Farm Ltd. v. Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corp., [1999]2 S.C.R.
961). As a result, the Board orders are constitutionally inoperative. Because the Board orders are
constitutionally inoperative, they do not provide a juristic reason. It therefore falls to Consumers' Gas to
show that there was a juristic reason for the enrichment [page655] outside the established categories in
order to rebut the prima facie case made out by the appellant.

54 The second stage ofjuristic reason analysis requires a consideration of reasonable expectations of
the parties and public policy considerations.

55 When the reasonable expectations of the parties are considered, Consumers' Gas's submissions are
at first blush compelling. Consumers' Gas submits, on the one hand, that late payers cannot have
reasonably expected that there would be no penalty for failing to pay their bills on time and, on the other
hand, that Consumers' Gas could reasonably have expected that the OEB would not authorize an LPP
scheme that violated the Criminal Code. Because Consumers' Gas is operating in a regulated
environment, its reliance on OEB orders should be given some weight. An mability to rely on such orders
would make it very difficult, if not impossible, to operate in this environment. At this point, it should be
pointed out that the reasonable expectation of the parties regarding LPPs is achieved by restricting the
LPPs to the limit prescribed by s. 347 of the Criminal Code and also would be consistent with this
Court's decision in Transport North American Express Inc. v. New Solutions Financial Corp., [2004]
1 S.C.R. 249,2004 SCC 7.

56 Consumers' Gas's reliance on the orders would not provide a defence if it was charged under s. 347
ofthe Criminal Code because the orders are inoperative to the extent of their conflict with s. 347.
However, its reliance on the orders is relevant in the context of determining the reasonable expectations of
the parties in this second stage of the juristic reason analysis.

57 Finally, the overriding public policy consideration in this case is the fact that the LPPs were collected
in contravention of the Criminal Code. As a matter of public policy, a crimmal should not be permitted to
keep the proceeds of his crime (Oldfield v. Transamerica Life Insurance Co. of Canada, [2002] 1
S.C.R. 742, 2002 SCC 22, at para. 11; [page656] New Solutions, supra). Borins J.A. focussed on this
public policy consideration in his dissent. He held that, in light of this Court's decision in Garland No. 1,
allowing Consumers' Gas to retain the LPPs collected in violation of's. 347 would let Consumers' Gas
profit from a crime and benefit from its own wrongdoing.

58 In weighing these considerations, from 1981-1994, Consumers' Gas's reliance on the inoperative
OEB orders provides a juristic reason for the enrichment. As the parties have argued, there are three
possible dates from which to measure the unjust enrichment: 1981, when s. 347 of the Criminal Code
was enacted, 1994, when this action was commenced, and 1998, when this Court held in Garland No. 1
that the LPPs were limited by s. 347 of the Criminal Code. For the period between 1981 and 1994,



when the current action was commenced, there is no suggestion that Consumers' Gas was aware that the
LPPs violated s. 347 ofthe Criminal Code. This mitigates in favour of Consumers' Gas during this period.
The reliance of Consumers' Gas on the OEB orders, in the absence of actual or constructive notice that the
orders were inoperative, is sufficient to provide a juristic reason for Consumers' Gas's enrichment during
this first period.

59 However, in 1994, when this action was commenced, Consumers' Gas was put on notice of the
serious possibility that it was violating the Criminal Code in charging the LPPs. This possibility became a
reality when this Court held that the LPPs were in excess of the s. 347 limit. Consumers' Gas could have
requested that the OEB alter its rate structure until the matter was adjudicated in order to ensure that it was
not in violation of the Criminal Code or asked for contingency arrangements to be made. Its decision not
to do this, as counsel for the appellant pointed out in oral submissions, was a "gamble". After the action
was commenced and Consumers' Gas was put on notice that there was a serious possibility the LPPs
violated the Criminal Code, it was no longer [page657] reasonable for Consumers' Gas to rely on the
OEB rate orders to authorize the LPPs.

60 Moreover, once this Court held that LPPs were offSide, for purposes of unjust enrichment, it is
logical and fair to choose the date on which the action for redress commenced. Awarding restitution from
1981 would be unfair to the respondent since it was entitled to reasonably rely on the OEB orders until the
commencement of this action in 1994, Awarding restitution from 1998 would be unfair to the appellant.
This is because it would permit the respondent to retain LPPs collected in violation of s. 347 after 1994
when it was no longer reasonable for the respondent to have relied on the OEB orders and the respondent
should be presumed to have known the LPPs violated the Criminal Code. Further, awarding restitution
from 1998 would deviate from the general rule that monetary remedies like damages and interest are
awarded as of the date of occurrence ofthe breach or as of the date of action rather than the date of

judgment.

61 Awarding restitution from 1994 appropriately balances the respondent's reliance on the OEB orders
from 1981-1994 with the appellant's expectation of recovery of monies that were charged in violation of
the Criminal Code once the serious possibility that the OEB orders were inoperative had been raised. As
a result, as ofthe date this action was commenced in 1994, it was no longer reasonable for Consumers'
Gas to rely on the OEB orders to insulate them from liability in a civil action of this type for collecting LPPs
in contravention of the Criminal Code. Thus, after the action was commenced in 1994, there was no
longer a juristic reason for the enrichment of the respondent, so the appellant is entitled to restitution of the
portion of monies paid to satisfy LPPs that exceeded an interest rate of 60 percent, as defined ins. 347 of
the Criminal Code.

[page658]

B. Defences

62 Having held that the appellant's claim for unjust enrichment is made out for LPPs paid after 1994,



remains to be determined whether the respondent can avail itself of any defences raised. It is only
necessary to consider the defences for the period after 1994, when the elements of unjust enrichment are
made out, and thus I will not consider whether the defences would have applied if there had been unjust
enrichment before 1994. I will address each defence i turn.

(8  Change of Position Defence

63  Even where the elements of unjust enrichment are made out, the remedy of restitution will be denied
where an innocent defendant demonstrates that it has materially changed its position as a result of an
enrichment such that it would be nequitable to require the benefit to be returned (Storthoaks, supra). In
this case, the respondent says that any "benefit" it received from the unlawful charges was passed on to
other customers in the form of lower gas delivery rates. Having "passed on" the beneft, it says, it should
not be required to disgorge the amount of the benefit (a second time) to overcharged customers such as
the appellant. The issue here, however, is not the ultimate destination within the regulatory system of an
amount of money equivalent to the unlawful overcharges, nor is this case concerned with the net impact of
these overcharges on the respondent's financial position. The issue is whether, as between the overcharging
respondent and the overcharged appellant, the passing of the benefit on to other customers excuses the
respondent of having overcharged the appellant.

64  The appellant submits that the defence of change of position is not available to a defendant who is a
wrongdoer and that, since the respondent in this case was enriched by its own criminal misconduct, it
should not be permitted to avail itself of the defence. I agree. The rationale for the change of position
[page659] defence appears to flow from considerations of equity. G. H. L. Fridman writes that "[o]ne
situation which would appear to render it inequitable for the defendant to be required to disgorge a benefit
received from the plaintiffin the absence of any wrongdoing on the part of the defendant would be if he has
changed his position for the worse as a result of the receipt of the money in question” (Restitution (2nd ed.
1992), at p. 458). In the leading British case on the defence, Lipkin Gorman v. Karpnale Ltd., [1992] 4
AILE.R. 512 (H.L.), Lord Goff'stated (at p. 533):

[1]t is right that we should ask ourselves: why do we feel that it would be unjust
to allow restitution in cases such as these [where the defendant has changed his
or her position]? The answer must be that, where an innocent defendant's
position is so changed that he will suffer an injustice if called upon to repay or to
repay in full, the injustice of requiring him so to repay outweighs the injustice of
denying the plaintiff restitution.

65 Ifthe change of position defence is intended to prevent injustice from occurring, the whole of'the
plaintiff's and defendant's conduct during the course of the transaction should be open to scrutiny in order
to determine which party has a better claim. Where a defendant has obtained the enrichment through some
wrongdoing of his own, he cannot then assert that it would be unjust to return the enrichment to the
plaintiff. In this case, the respondent cannot avail itself of this defence because the LPPs were obtained in
contravention of the Criminal Code and, as a result, it cannot be unjust for the respondent to have to
return them.



66 Thus, the change of position defence does not help the respondent in this case. Even assuming that
the respondent would have met the other requirements set out in Storthoaks, supra, the respondent
cannot avail itself of the defence because it is not an "innocent” defendant given that the benefit was
received as a result of a Criminal Code violation. It is not necessary, as a result, to discuss change of
position in a comprehensive manner and I leave a [page660] fuller development of the other elements of
this defence to future cases.

(b)  Section 18/25 ofthe Ontario Energy Board Act

67 The respondent raises a statutory defence found formerly ns. 18 and presently in's. 25 of the 1998
OEBA. The former and the present sections are identical, and read:

An order ofthe Board is a good and sufficient defence to any proceeding
brought or taken against any person in so far as the act or omission that is the
subject of the proceeding is in accordance with the order.

I agree with McMurtry C.J.O. that this defence should be read down so as to exclude protection from civil
liability damage arising out of Criminal Code violations. As a resul, the defence does not apply in this
case and we do not have to consider the constitutionality of the section.

68 McMurtry C.J.O. was correct in his holding that legislative provisions purporting to restrict a citizen's
rights ofaction should attract strict construction (Berardinelli, supra). In this case, | again agree with
McMurtry C.J.O. that the legislature could not reasonably be believed to have contemplated that an OEB
order could mandate criminal conduct, despite the broad wording of the section. Section 18/25, thus,
cannot provide a defence to an action for restitution arising from an OEB order authorizing criminal
conduct. As a consequence, like McMurtry C.J.O., I find the argument on s. 18/25 to be unpersuasive.

69 Because [ find that it could not have been the intention of the legislature to bar civil claims stemming
from acts that offend the Criminal Code, ona strict construction, s. 18/25 cannot protect Consumers' Gas
from these types of claims. If'the [page661] provincial legislature had wanted to eliminate the possibility of
such actions, it should have done so explicitly in the provision. In the absence of such explicit provision, s.
18/25 must be read so as to exclude from its protection civil actions arising from violations of the Criminal
Code and thus does not provide a defence for the respondent in this case.

(¢)  Exclusive Jurisdiction and Collateral Attack

70  McMurtry C.J.O. was also correct in his holding that the OEB does not have exclusive jurisdiction
over this dispute. While the dispute does mvolve rate orders, at its heart it is a private law matter under the
competence of civil courts and consequently the Board does not have jurisdiction to order the remedy
sought by the appellant.

71  Inaddition, McMurtry C.J.O. is correct in holding that this action does not constitute an
impermissible collateral attack on the OEB's order. The doctrine of collateral attack prevents a party from
undermining previous orders issued by a court or administrative tribunal (see Toronto (City) v. C.U.P.E.,



Local 79,[2003] 3 S.C.R. 77, 2003 SCC 63; D. J. Lange, The Doctrine of Res Judicata in Canada
(2000), at pp. 369-70 ). Generally, it is invoked where the party is attempting to challenge the validity of a
binding order in the wrong forum, in the sense that the validity of the order comes into question in separate
proceedings when that party has not used the direct attack procedures that were open to it (i.., appeal or
judicial review). In Wilson v. The Queen, [1983] 2 S.C.R. 594, at p. 599, this Court described the rule
against collateral attack as follows:

It has long been a findamental rule that a court order, made by a court having
jurisdiction to make it, stands and is binding and conclusive unless it is set aside
on appeal or lawfully quashed. It is also well settled in the authorities that such
an order may not be attacked [page662] collaterally -- and a collateral attack
may be described as an attack made in proceedings other than those whose
specific object is the reversal, variation, or nullification of the order or
judgment,

Based on a plain reading of this rule, the doctrine of collateral attack does not apply in this case because
here the specific object of the appellant's action is not to invalidate or render inoperative the Board's
orders, but rather to recover money that was illegally collected by the respondent as a result of Board
orders. Consequently, the collateral attack doctrine does not apply.

72  Moreover, the appellant's case lacks other halimarks of collateral attack. As McMurtry C.J.O.
points out at para. 30 of his reasons, the collateral attack cases all involve a party, bound by an order,
seeking to avoid the effect of that order by challenging its validity in the wrong forum. In this case, the
appellant is not bound by the Board's orders, therefore the rationale behind the rule is not mvoked. The
fundamental policy behind the rule against collateral attack is to "maintain the rule of law and to preserve
the repute of the administration of justice" (R. v. Litchfield, [1993]4 S.C.R. 333, at p. 349). The idea is
that if a party could avoid the consequences of an order issued against it by going to another forum, this
would undermine the integrity of the justice system. Consequently, the doctrine is intended to prevent a
party from circumventing the effect of a decision rendered against it.

73 Inthis case, the appellant is not the object of the orders and thus there can be no concern that he is
seeking to avoid the orders by bringing this action. As a result, a threat to the integrity of the system does
not exist because the appellant is not legally bound to follow the orders. Thus, this action does not appear,
in fact, to be a collateral attack on the Board's orders.

[page663]

(d) The Regulated Industries Defence

74  The respondent submits that it can avail itself of the "regulated ndustries defence" to bar recovery m
restitution because an act authorized by a valid provincial regulatory scheme cannot be contrary to the
public interest or an offence against the state and, as a result, the collection of LPPs pursuant to orders



issued by the OEB cannot be considered to be contrary to the public interest and thus cannot be contrary
to s. 347 ofthe Criminal Code.

75  Winkler J. held that the underlying purpose of the defence, regulation of monopolistic industries m
order to ensure "just and reasonable" rates for consumers, would be served in the circumstances and as a
result the defence would normally apply. However, because of the statutory language of's. 347, Winkler J.
determined that the defence was not permitted in this case. He wrote, at para. 34, "[t]he defendant can
point to no case which allows the defence unless the federal statute in question uses the word 'unduly' or
the phrase 'in the public interest'". Absent such recognition in the statute of "public interest”, he held, no
leeway for provincial exceptions exist.

76 1 agree with the approach of Winkler J. The principle underlying the application of the defence is
delineated in Attorney General of Canada v. Law Society of British Columbia, [1982] 2 S.C.R. 307,
atp. 356:

When a federal statute can be properly interpreted so as not to interfere with a
provincial statute, such an interpretation is to be applied in preference to another
applicable construction which would bring about a conflict between the two
statutes.

Estey J. reached this conclusion after canvassing the cases in which the regulated ndustries defence had
been applied. Those cases all involved conflict between federal competition law and a provincial regulatory
scheme, but the application of the [page664] defence in those cases had to do with the particular wording
of the statutes in question. While I cannot see a principled reason why the defence should not be
broadened to apply to cases outside the area of competition law, its application should flow from the
above enunciated principle.

77  Winkler J. was correct in concluding that, in order for the regulated industries defence to be available
to the respondent, Parliament needed to have indicated, either expressly or by necessary implication, that
s. 347 ofthe Criminal Code granted leeway to those acting pursuant to a valid provincial regulatory
scheme. If there were any such indication, I would say that it should be interpreted, in keeping with the
above principle, not to interfere with the provincial regulatory scheme. But s. 347 does not contain the
required indication for exempting a provincial scheme.

78  This view is further supported by this Court's decision in R. v. Jorgensen, [1995]4 S.C.R. 55. In
that case, the accused was charged with "knowingly' selling obscene material 'without lawful justification or
excuse'" (para. 44). The accused argued that the Ontario Film Review Board had approved the
videotapes, therefore it had a lawful justification or excuse. This Court considered whether approval by a
provincial body could displace a criminal charge. Sopinka J., for the majority, held that n order to exempt
acts taken pursuant to a provincial regulatory body from the reach of the criminal law, Parliament must
unequivocally express this intention in the legislative provision in issue ( at para. 118):

While Parliament has the authority to mtroduce dispensation or exemption
from criminal law in determining what is and what is not criminal, and may do so
by authorizing a provincial body or official acting under provincial legislation to



issue licences and the like, an intent to do so must be made plan.

[page665]

79  The question of whether the regulated industries defence can apply to the respondent is actually a
question of whether s. 347 of the Criminal Code can support the notion that a valid provincial regulatory
scheme cannot be contrary to the public interest or an offence against the state. In the previous cases
nvolving the regulated industries defence, the language of "the public interest" and "unduly" imiting
competition has always been present. The absence of such language froms. 347 of the Criminal Code
precludes the application of this defence in this case.

(€)  De Facto Docgtrine

80 Consumers' Gas submits that because it was acting pursuant to a disposition of law that was valid at
the time -- the Board orders -- they should be exempt from liability by virtue of the de facto doctrine. This
argument cannot succeed. Consumers' Gas is not a government official acting under colour of authority.
While the respondent points to the Board orders as justification for its actions, this does not bring the
respondent into the purview of the de facto doctrine because the case law does not support extending the
doctrine's application beyond the acts of government officials. The underlying purpose of the doctrine is to
preserve law and order and the authority of the government. These interests are not at stake in the instant
litigation. As a result, Consumers' Gas cannot rely on the de facto doctrine to resist the plaintiff's claim.

81 Furthermore, the de facto doctrine attaches to government and its officials in order to protect and
maintain the rule of law and the authority of government. An extension of the doctrine to a private
corporation that is simply regulated by a government authority is not supported by the case law and in my
view does not further the underlying purpose of the doctrine. In Reference re Manitoba Language
Rights, [1985] 1 S.C.R. 721, this Court held, at p. 756, that:

[page666]

There is only one true condition precedent to the application of the
doctrine: the de facto officer must occupy his or her office under colour of
authortity.

It cannot be said that Consumers' Gas was a de facto officer acting under colour of authority when it
charged LPPs to customers. Consumers' Gas is a private corporation acting in a regulatory context, not an
officer vested with some sort of authority. When charging LPPs, Consumers' Gas is engaging in commerce,
not issuing a permit or passing a by-law.

82 Inrejecting the application of the de facto doctrine here, I am cognizant of the passage in Reference
re Manitoba Language Rights, atp. 757, cited by the intervener Toronto Hydro and which, at first



glance, appears to imply that the de facto doctrine might apply to private corporations:

... the de facto doctrine will save those rights, obligations and other effects
which have arisen out of actions performed pursuant to nvalid Acts of the
Manitoba Legislature by public and private bodies corporate, courts, judges,
persons exercising statutory powers and public officials. [Emphasis added. ]

83  While this passage appears to indicate that "private bodies corporate" are protected by the doctrine,
it must be read in the context of the entire judgment. Earlier, at p. 755, the Court referred to the writings of
Judge A. Constantineau in The De Facto Doctrine (1910), at pp. 3-4. The following excerpt from that
passage is relevant:

The de facto doctrine is a rule or principle of law which ... recognizes the
existence of; and protects from collateral attack, public or private bodies
corporate, which, though irregularly or illegally organized, yet, under color of
law, openly exercise the powers and functions of regularly created bodies ... .
[Emphasis added. ]

In this passage, I think it is clear that the Court's reference to "private bodies corporate" is limited to issues
affecting the creation of the corporation, for example where a corporation was incorporated under an
invalid statute. It does not suggest that the acts [page667] of the corporation are shielded from liability by
virtue of the de facto doctrine.

84  This view finds further support in the following passage from the judgment (at p. 755) :

That the foundation of the principle is the more fundamental principle of the rule
of law is clearly stated by Constantineau in the following passage (at pp. 5-6):

Again, the doctrine is necessary to maintain the supremacy of'the law and
to preserve peace and order in the community at large, since any other
rule would lead to such uncertainty and confusion, as to break up the
order and quiet of all civil administration. Indeed, if any individual or body
of individuals were permitted, at his or their pleasure, to challenge the
authority of and refuse obedience to the government of the state and the
numerous functionaries through whom it exercises its various powers, or
refuse to recognize municipal bodies and their officers, on the ground of
irregular existence or defective titles, insubordination and disorder of the
worst kind would be encouraged, which might at any time culminate in
anarchy.

The underlying purpose ofthe doctrine is to preserve law and order and the authority of the government.
These interests are not at stake in the instant litigation. In sum, I find no merit in Consumers' Gas's
argument that the de facto doctrine shields it from liability and as a result this doctrine should not be a bar
to the appellant's recovery.



C. Other Orders Requested

(@)  Preservation Order

85  The appellant, Garland, requests an "Amax-type" preservation order on the basis that the LPPs
continue to be collected at a criminal rate during the pendency of this action, and these payments would
never have been made but for the delays inherent in litigation (Amax Potash Ltd. v. Government of
Saskatchewan, [1977] 2 S.C.R. 576). In my view, however, a preservation order is not appropriate in
this case. Consumers' Gas has now ceased to collect the LPPs at a criminal rate. As a result, if a
preservation order were made, there would be no future [page668] LPPs to which it could attach. Even
with respect to the LPPs paid between 1994 and the present, to which such an order could attach, a
preservation order should not be granted for three further reasons: (1) such an order would serve no
practical purpose, (2) the appellant has not satisfied the criteria in the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure,
RR.O. 1990, Reg. 194, and (3) Amax can be distinguished from this case.

86  First, the appellant has not alleged that Consumers' Gas is an impecunious defendant or that there is
any other reason to believe that Consumers' Gas would not satisfy a judgment against it. Even if there were
some reason to believe that Consumers' Gas would not satisfy such a judgment, an Amax-type order
allows the defendant to spend the monies being held in the ordinary course of business -- no actual fund
would be created. So the only thing that a preservation order would achieve would be to prevent
Consumers' Gas from spending the money earned from the LPPs in a non-ordinary manner (for example,
such as moving it off-shore) which the appellant has not alleged is likely to occur absent the order.

87 Second, the respondent submits that by seeking a preservation order the appellant is attempting to
avoid Rule 45.02 of the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, the only source of jurisdiction in Ontario to
make a preservation order. The Rules of Civil Procedure apply to class proceedings and do not permit
such an order in these circumstances. Rule 45.02 provides that, "[w]here the right of a party to a specific
fund is in question, the court may order the fund to be paid into court or otherwise secured on such terms
as are just" (emphasis added). The respondent submits that the appellant is not in fact claiming a specific
fund here. In the absence of submissions by the appellant on this issue, I am of the view that the appellant
has not satisfied the criteria set out in the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure and that this Court could
refuse to grant the order requested on this basis.

[page669]

88  Finally, the appellant's use of Amax, supra, as authority for the type of order sought is without merit.
The appellant has cited the judgment very selectively. The portion of the judgment the appellant cites in his
written submissions reads in full (at p. 598) :

Apart from the Rules this Court has the discretion to make an order as
requested by appellants directing the Province of Saskatchewan to hold, as
stakeholder, such sums as are paid by the appellants pursuant to the impugned



legislation but with the right to use such sums in the interim for Provincial
purposes, and with the obligation to repay them with interest in the event the
legislation is ultimately held to be ultra vires. Such an order, however, would
be novel, in giving the stakeholder the right to spend the moneys at stake, and I
cannot see that it would serve any practical purpose. [Emphasis added. ]

The Court in Amax went on to refuse to make the order. So while the appellant is right that the Court in
Amax failed to reject the hypothetical possibility of making such an order in the future, it seems to me that
n this case, as in Amax, such an order would serve no practical purpose. For these reasons, I find there is
no basis for making a preservation order in this case.

(b)  Declaration That the LPPs Need Not Be Paid

89  The appellant also seeks a declaration that the LPPs need not be paid. Given that the respondent
asserts that the LPP is no longer charged at a criminal rate, issuing such a declaration would serve no
practical purpose and as a result such a declaration should not be made.

() Costs

90 The appellant is entitled to his costs throughout. This should be understood to mean that, regardless
of the outcome of any future litigation, the appellant is entitled to his costs in the proceedings leading up to
and ncluding Garland No. I and this appeal. In addition, in oral submissions counsel for the Law
Foundation of Ontario made the point that in order to reduce costs in future class actions, "litigation by
mnstallments", as occurred in this case, should be [page670] avoided. I agree. On this issue, I endorse the
comments of McMurtry C.J.O., at para. 76 ofhis reasons:

In this context, I note that the protracted history of these proceedings cast some
doubt on the wisdom of hearing a case in instalments, as was done here. Before
employing an instalment approach, it should be considered whether there is
potential for such a procedure to result in multiple rounds of proceedings
through various levels of court. Such an eventuality is to be avoided where
possible, as 1t does little service to the parties or to the efficient administration of
justice.

VL Disposition

91 For the foregoing reasons, I would allow the appeal with costs throughout, set aside the judgment of
the Ontario Court of Appeal, and substitute therefor an order that Consumers' Gas repay LPPs collected
from the appellant in excess of the interest limit stipulated in s. 347 after the action was commenced in
1994 in an amount to be determined by the trial judge.

Solicitors:

Solicitors for the appellant: McGowan Elliott & Kim, Toronto.



Solicitors for the respondent: Aird & Berlis, Toronto.
Solicitor for the intervener the Attorney General of Canada: Deputy Attorney General of Canada, Ottawa.

Solicitor for the intervener the Attorney General for Saskatchewan: Deputy Attorney General for
Saskatchewan, Regina.

Solicitors for the intervener Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited: O gilvy Renault, Toronto.

Solicitor for the intervener the Law Foundation of Ontario: Mark M. Orkin, Toronto.
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Solicitors for the intervener Union Gas Limited: Torys, Toronto.

cp/e/qw/qllls



Tab 9



Case Name:

Degregorio v. Brick and Allied Craft Union of Canada, Local 29

Between
Marcello Degregorio, Plaintiff (Appellant), and
Brick and Allied Craft Union of Canada, Local 29,
Defendant (Respondent)

[2012] O.J. No. 5066
2012 ONCA 724

Docket: C55335

Ontario Court of Appeal
Toronto, Ontario

M. Rosenberg, E.E. Gillese and M.H. Tulloch JJ.A.

Heard: October 24, 2012.
Judgment: October 26, 2012.

(4 paras.)

Labour arbitration -- Trade unions -- Representation of employees -- Appeal by plaintiff worker
Jfrom dismissal of action against union dismissed -- Appellate court agreed with motion judge that
essential character of dispute involved union's duties of fair representation and fair referral under
Labour Relations Act - Issue of termination could not be bifurcated from facts underlying essential
nature of dispute.

Labour law -- Unions -- Civil liability of unions -- Duties -- Referrals -- Representation of members
-- Appeal by plaintiff worker from dismissal of action against union dismissed -- Appellate court
agreed with motion judge that essential character of dispute involved union's duties of fair
representation and fair veferral under Labour Relations Act -- Issue of termination could not be
bifurcated from facts underlying essential nature of dispute.

Labour law -- Labour relations boards -- Jurisdiction -- Appeal by plaintiff worker from dismissal
of action against union dismissed -- Appellate court agreed with motion judge that essential



character of dispute involved union's duties of fair representation and fair referral under Labour
Relations Act - Issue of termination could not be bifurcated from facts underlying essential nature
of dispute.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules Cited:

Labour Relations Act, 1995, S.0. 1995, c. 1, Schedule A

Appeal From:

On appeal from the order of Justice Stevenson of the Superior Court of Justice, dated March 9, 2012.
Counsel:

S. Grillone, for the appellant.

C. Sinclair, for the respondent.

APPEAL BOOK ENDORSEMENT
The following judgment was delivered by

1 THE COURT:-- The motion judge found that the essential character of the dispute between the
appellant and the respondent union concerned the respondent's duties of fair representation and fair referral
under the Labour Relations Act, 1995. We agree.

2 While the appellant wishes to hive off the issue of termination and be permitted to pursue that through
the courts, the factual matrix makes it clear that the termination was part and parcel of the ongoing dispute
with the result that the essential nature of the dispute does indeed relate to the duties of fair representation
and fair refusal. A full and generous reading of the Reply does nothing to alter this conclusion.

3 Moreover, this court has previously indicated that the unnecessary bifurcation of proceedings flowing
out of the same factual matrix is to be avoided: see 4.C. Concrete Forming Ltd. v. The Residential Low
Rise Forming Contractors Association of Metropolitan Toronto and Vicinity, 2008 ONCA 864
(CanlLlII), at para. 26.

4  Accordingly, the appeal is dismissed with costs to the respondent fixed in the sum of $5500, all
inclusive.
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The Plan Group v. Bell Canada

Between
Bell Canada, Respondent (Appellant), and
The Plan Group, 1248163 Ontario Limited, 1248164 Ontario
Limited and 1248165 Ontario Limited, Applicants (Respondents)
[2009] O.J. No. 2829
2009 ONCA 548
252 0.A.C. 71
96 O.R. (3d) 81
81 C.LR. (3d)9
62 B.L.R. (4th) 157
2009 CarswellOnt 3807
179 A.C.W.S. (3d) 40
Docket: C48892
Ontario Court of Appeal
Toronto, Ontario

S.T. Goudge, E.E, Gillese and R.A. Blair JJ.A.

Heard: December 18, 2008.
Judgment: July 7, 2009,

(215 paras.)

Alternative dispute resolution -- Binding arbitration -- Voluntary binding arbitration -- Agreement
to arbitrate -- Interpretation -- Appeal by Bell Canada from application judge’s interpretation of an



arbitration clause allowed -- Application judge erred in his failure to give meaning to important
term of arbitration clause specifying that arbitration was to be conducted "under the then-current
rules" of Institute - He further erred in interpretation of phrase "to file" in waiver provision of
arbitration clause as "to deliver” or "to serve" the notice upon Bell, which could not be sustained.

Administrative law - Judicial review and statutory appeal -- Standard of review -- Correctness --
Appeal by Bell Canada from application judge's interpretation of an arbitration clause allowed --
Application judge erred in his failure to give meaning to important term of arbitration clause
specifying that arbitration was to be conducted "under the then-current rules" of Institute -- He
further erred in interpretation of phrase "to file" in waiver provision of arbitration clause as "to
deliver"” or "to serve' the notice upon Bell, which could not be sustained.

Contracts - Interpretation -- General principles -- Ordinary meaning -- Consider the entire
contract -- Appeal by Bell Canada from application judge's interpretation of an arbitration clause
allowed -- Application judge erred in his failure to give meaning to important term of arbitration
clause specifying that arbitration was to be conducted "under the then-current rules” of Institute --
He further erred in interpretation of phrase "to file" in waiver provision of arbitration clause as "to
deliver" or "to serve" the notice upon Bell, which could not be sustained.

Appeal by Bell Canada from an application judge's interpretation of an arbitration agreement. Bell and The
Plan Group entered into an Alliance Agreement in February 1999 concerning joint projects for the delivery
of services to customers on cabling projects. The Agreement contained a two-step dispute resolution
process. The parties were first to engage in good faith discussions using their commercially-reasonable
efforts to settle the dispute. Thereafter, if those discussions failed, the parties were to resort to arbitration.
The arbitration clause stipulated that it was to be conducted under the Arbitration Act "and the then-
current rules" of the Institute. In this regard there were two sets of rules that were considered by the
application judge - those that were in effect at the time the Agreement was negotiated (the 1999 Rules),
and those that were in effect at the time the dispute arose between the parties (the Current Rules). In 2005,
a dispute arose between Bell and The Plan Group in relation to work performed under the Agreement for
the Greater Toronto Airport Authority. The differences could not be resolved, and in August 2005 The
Plan Group delivered to Bell a draft notice demanding arbitration. In December 2005, it delivered a final
notice demanding arbitration. However, no notice to arbitrate the dispute was ever filed with the Institute.
The arbitration clause's waiver provision specified that a failure to file a notice of arbitration in time would
constitute an irrevocable waiver of the claim. The application judge held that the arbitration clause did not
mandate delivery and filing of a Notice of Arbitration. The arbitration clause contemplated that after
commencement of the arbitration and the appointment of the arbitrator, the arbitrator would apply the
1999 ADR Rules during the proceedings. The arbitration clause did not express the intention of the parties
that any dispute or any arbitration under the Agreement was to be arbitrated and resolved in accordance
with the rules of the Institute. On a plain reading, the arbitration clause limited the reach of the 1999 Rules
to the conduct of the arbitration rather than requiring compliance with all such Rules. The arbitration clause
expressly stipulated the procedure for the appointment of the arbitrator, thus contemplating a procedure for
the appointment of an arbitrator outside the Rules of the Institute. The parties agreed that the arbitrator was
to apply the procedural rules of the Institute in effect from time to time in the conduct of the arbitration and



did not agree that either the remaining rules of the Institute were al